aalenos



TURKISH JOURNAL OF OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY

September 2018 Volume: 15 Issue: 3 www.tjoddergisi.org

Clinical Investigations

	Hysteroscopic metroplasty, dysmorphic uterus unexplained infertility
	Açıklanamayan intertilite ve dismortik uterus histeroskopik Bülent Haydardedeoğlu, Gülşen Doğan Durdağ, Seda Şimşek, Pınar Çağlar Aytaç, Tayfun Çok, Esra Bulgan Kılıçdağ; Adana, Turkey
	Rescue in vitro maturation in stimulated in vitro fertilization cycles
	Uyarılmış in vitro fertilizasyon sikluslarında kurtarma in vitro matürasyon Şafak Hatırnaz, Süleyman Akarsu, Ebru Saynur Hatırnaz, Ahmet Zeki Işık, Michael Haim Dahan; Samsun, Ankara, İzmir, Turkey, Quebec, Canada
>	Prednisolone use in usual assisted reproductive technology
	Yardımcı üreme tekniklerinde prednizolon kullanımı Batuhan Özmen, Emre Göksan Pabuçcu, Yavuz Emre Şükür, Hasan Ulubaşoğlu, Can Ateş, Murat Sönmezer, Bülent Berker, Cem Somer Atabekoğlu; Ankara, Samsun, Turkey
•	SCUBE1 level in Polycystic Ovary syndrome
	Polikistik Over sendromunda SCUBE1 düzeyi Onur Erol, Hamit Yaşar Ellidağ, Mustafa Kemal Özel, Aysel Uysal Derbent, Esin Eren, Necat Yılmaz; Antalya, Turkey
•	Postpartum hemorrhage and hysterectomy
	Doğum sonrası kanama ve histerektomi Çetin Kılıççı, Mesut Polat, Mehmet Küçükbaş, Mehmet Baki Şentürk, Resul Karakuş, Çiğdem Yayla Abide, Evrim Bostancı Ergen, İlter Yenidede, Ateş Karateke; İstanbul, Turkey
,	Hemoglobin levels in adverse pregnancy outcomes
	Olumsuz gebelik sonuçlarında hemoglobin seviyeleri Burcu Dinçgez Çakmak, Ülkü Ayşe Türker, Sonay Öztaş, Melis Arık, Emin Üstünyurt; Bursa, Turkey
•	Prelabor rupture of membranes and neonatal infection in Kosova
	Kosova'da erken membran rüptürü ve neonatal enfeksiyon Vlora Ademi Ibishi, Rozalinda Isjanovska, Anne E Malin, Prishtina, Kosovo, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia; Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan
,	YKL-40 and ovarian cancer
	YKL-40 ve over kanseri İlker Kahramanoğlu, Nedim Tokgözoğlu, Hasan Turan, Veysel Şal, Gönül Şimşek, Remise Gelişgen, Tugan Beşe, Fuat Demirkıran, Macit Arvas, Hafize Uzun; İstanbul, Turkey
•	Women self-reported G-spot existence
	Kadınlara göre G-spot var mı? Aşkı Ellibeş Kaya, Eray Çalışkan; Düzce, İstanbul, Turkey
	Reviews
	Management of third stage of labor
	Doğumun üçüncü evresinin yönetimi Kemal Güngördük, Yusuf Olgaç, Varol Gülseren, Mustafa Kocaer; Muğla, İstanbul, Kırşehir, İzmir, Turkey
	Gelatin-thrombin hemostatic matrix in obstetric-gynecologic surgery
	Obstetrik-jinekolojik cerrahide jelatin-trombin hemostatik matriks kullanımı Selim Mısırlıoğlu, Engin Türkgeldi, Hande Yağmur, Bülent Urman, Barış Ata; İstanbul, Turkey



TURKISH SOCIETY OF OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY



- Owner on the behalf of Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology Ateş Karateke
- Editorial Manager Eray Çalışkan
- Past/Honorary Editor in Chief Hulusi Bülent Zeyneloğlu

Editor in Chief

Eray Çalışkan

Bahçeşehir University Faculty of Medicine, Department Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6799-5909

Editors

Barış Ata

Koç University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1106-3747

Evrim Erdemoğlu

Süleyman Demirel Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gynecologic Oncology, Isparta, Turkey ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5993-6968

Münire Erman Akar

Akdeniz University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Antalya, Turkey ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3656-3787

Bülent Haydardedeoğlu

Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9873-7454

Fatma Ferda Verit

İstanbul Süleymaniye Maternity Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7104-4532

Recep Yıldızhan

Yüzüncü Yıl University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Perinatology, Van, Turkey ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-2841-0453

Section Editors

Gürkan Bozdağ

Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Cem Çelik Bahçeci Umut IVF Center, İstanbul, Turkey

Emek Doğer

Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kocaeli, Turkey

Melih Atahan Güven Acıbadem Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Hatice Banu Kumbak Aygün

Acıbadem University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Özlem Özdeğirmenci Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Kemal Özerkan

Uludağ University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Turkey

English Language Editor

David Chapman, Winchester, England

Statistics Editors

Murat Api

Medipol University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Ayşen Telce Boza

Vehbi Koç Foundation American Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Managing Editors

Rahime Nida Bavık

Ümraniye Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Yiğit Çakıroğlu

Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kocaeli, Turkey

Kemal Güngördük

Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, Muğla, Turkey



Editorial Board

Remzi Abalı

Namık Kemal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Tekirdağ, Turkey

Aris Antsaklis University of Athens, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Athens, Greece

Aydın Arıcı Yale University, Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, Connecticut, USA

Tayfun Bağış Acıbadem University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Başak Baksu Şişli Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Eralp Başer Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, Ankara, Turkey

Ercan Baştu İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Orhan Bükülmez University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility, Dallas, USA

Sabri Cavkaytar Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, Ankara, Turkey

Aylin Pelin Çil Gazi Public Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Cem Dane Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey

Berna Dilbaz Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Infertility and Family Planning, Ankara, Turkey

Polat Dursun

Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Mehmet Sıddık Evsen

Dicle University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Diyarbakır, Turkey

Kazım Gezginç Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Konya, Turkey

Çağrı Gülümser Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Haldun Güner

Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Issam Lebbi

Obstetrics and Gynecology and Fertility Private Clinic; Dream Center, Belvedere, Tunisia

Giampaolo Mandruzzato Istituto per l'Infanzia, Burlo Garofolo, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Trieste, Italy

Charles E. Miller Edward-Elmhurst Health Hospital, Gynecology; Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility, The Advanced IVF and Gynecologic Surgery Institute, Naperville, USA

Ceana H. Nezhat

Northside Hospital Director of Training and Education, Nezhat Medical Center, Endometriosis, Minimally Invasive Surgery, Atlanta, USA

Batuhan Ozmen Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Cebeci Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Abdullah Karaer İnönü University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Malatya, Turkey

Emre Karaşahin Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Taner Kasapoğlu

Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Perinatology, Ankara, Turkey

Esra Buldan Kılıçdağ

Başkent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Ali Kolusarı

Yüzüncü Yıl University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Perinatology, Van, Turkey

Zehra Kurdoğlu

Yüzüncü Yıl University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Perinatology, Van, Turkey

Mehmet Anıl Onan

Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Halil Gürsoy Pala

University of Health Sciences, Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Perinatology, İzmir, Turkey

Federico Prefumo

Local Health District of Garda, Obstetrics, Brescia, Italy

Walid Saghir

Clemenceau Medical Center and Trad Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Lebanon, UAE



Emre Seli

Yale University, Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, Connecticut, USA

Silber Sherman Infertility Center of St. Louis at St. Luke's Hospital; Public Health Service, Alaska, USA

Akın Sivaslıoğlu

Ankara Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Fatih Şendağ

Acıbadem University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Alper Tanrıverdi

Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Aydın, Turkey

Ömer Lütfi Tapısız

Etlik Zübeyde Hanım Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Ebru Tarım

Başkent University Adana Application and Research Center, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey

Abdülkadir Turgut

İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

llgın Türkçüoğlu

İnönü University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Malatya, Turkey

Mete Gürol Uğur

Gaziantep University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Gaziantep, Turkey

Serdar Ural

Penn State Hershey Womens Health Obstetrics and Gynecology, Maternal-Fetal Medicine, Pennsylvania, USA

Yaprak Üstün

Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Yusuf Üstün

Medicana International Ankara Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

Gazi Yıldırım

Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Contact

Çetin Emeç Bulvarı Hürriyet Caddesi Harbiye Mahallesi 1/13 Öveçler, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 312 481 06 06 Fax: +90 312 481 28 28 E-mail: editor@tjod.org

All rights are reserved. Rights to the use and reproduction, including in the electronic media, of all communications, papers, photographs and illustrations appearing in this journal belong to the Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Reproduction without prior written permission of part or all of any material is forbidden. The journal complies with the Professional Principles of the Press.

The paper used to print this journal conforms to ISO 9706: 1994 standard (Requirements for Permanence). The National Library of Medicine suggests that biomedical publications be printed on acid-free paper (alkaline paper). Reviewing the articles' conformity to the publishing standards of the Journal, typesetting, reviewing and editing the manuscripts and abstracts in English and publishing process are realized by Galenos.

Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Erkan Mor Publication Director Nesrin Çolak

Web Coordinators Soner Yıldırım Turgay Akpınar Web Assistant

Başak Büşra Yılmaz Graphics Department Avda Alaca

Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Project Coordinators Eda Kolukısa Hatice Balta Lütfiye Ayhan İrtem Zeynep Altındağ

Project Assistants Esra Semerci Günay Selimoğlu Sedanur Sert

Finance Coordinator Sevinç Çakmak

Research&Development Denis Sleptsov Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Printing at: Özgün Ofset Ticaret Ltd. Şti. Yeşilce Mah. Aytekin Sk. No: 21 34418 4. Levent, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 280 00 09 Printing Date: September 2018 ISSN: 2149-9322 E-ISSN: 2149-9330 International scientific journal published quarterly.

Publisher Contact



AIMS AND SCOPE

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology (formerly called Türk Jinekoloji ve Obstetrik Derneği Dergisi) is the official peer-reviewed publication of the Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology and is published quarterly on March, June, September and December.

It is an independent peer-reviewed international journal printed in English language since 2014 September. Manuscripts are reviewed in accordance with "double-blind peer review" process for both referees and authors.

The target audience of Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology includes gynecologists, obstetricians, urogynecologists, reproductive medicine specialists, gynecological oncologists and primary care physicians interested in gynecology practice. It publishes original work on all aspects of obstetrics and gynecology. The aim of Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is to publish high quality original research articles. In addition to research articles, reviews, editorials, letters to the editor and case presentations are also published.

The General Guidelines for manuscript preparation specified below are based on "Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, & Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE Recommendations)" by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (2016, archived at http://www.icmje.org/).

- Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is indexed in PubMed Central (PMC), Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), EBSCO, DOAJ, Index Copernicus, Scopus, CINAHL, Google Scholar, Tübitak/Ulakbim Turkish Medical Database, Turk Medline and Turkiye Citation Index.

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supporting a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on rules of Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www.budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to [peer-reviewed research literature], we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution and the only role for copyright in this domain, is given to authors to retain control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

This journal is licensed under a Creative Commons 3.0 International License.

Permission

Permission required for use any published under CC-BY-NC license with commercial purposes (selling, etc.) to protect copyright owner and author rights. Republication and reproduction of images

or tables in any published material should be done with proper citation of source providing author names; title of the article; journal's name, year (volume) and page numbers of publication; copyright year of the article.

Financial expenses of the journal are covered by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

Subscription Information

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is distributed free of charge to all physicians, specialists in obstetrics and gynecology field. The access to tables of contents, abstracts and full texts of all articles published since 2004 are free to all readers via the journal's webpage "http://www.tjoddergisi.org". Visit the journal's home pages for details of the aims and scope and instruction to authors. Manuscripts can only be submitted electronically through the Journal Agent website (http://journalagent.com/tjo/) after creating an account. This system allows online submission and review.

Instructions for Authors

Instructions for authors page of the journal is available in the journal content and at www.tjoddergisi.org

Disclaimer

The statements and opinions expressed contained in the articles of the Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology are solely those of the individual authors and contributors not of the Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology or Galenos Yayınevi.

Advertising

Enquiries concerning advertisements should be addressed to Editorial Office or Publisher:

Editorial Office

Editor-in-Chief: Eray Çalışkan, M.D.

Address : Çetin Emeç Bulvarı Hürriyet Caddesi Harbiye Mahallesi 1/13 Öveçler, Ankara - Turkey

Phone	: +90 (312) 481 06 06
Fax	: +90 (312) 481 28 28

E-mail : info@tjod.org

Publisher

Galenos Yayınevi Tic. Ltd. Şti.

Address : Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 Fındıkzade, İstanbul - Turkey Phone :+90 212 621 99 25

Fax : +90 212 621 99 27

E-mail : info@galenos.com.tr

The journal is printed on acid-free paper.



INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

The "Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology" is the official publication of the Turkish Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. The journal is published quarterly (March, June, September and December) in English and publishes original peer-reviewed articles, reviews, case reports and commentaries in the fields of gynecology, gynecologic oncology, endocrinology and reproductive medicine and obstetrics. The journal gives publication priority to original research articles over case reports. Reviews are considered for publication only if they are prepared by authors who have at least three published manuscripts in international peer-reviewed journals on the topic of the review and these studies should be cited in the review. Otherwise only invited reviews will be considered for peer-review from qualified experts in the area.

The "Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology" is a peer-reviewed journal and adheres to the highest ethical and editorial standards. The editors also adhere to the Committee on Publications Ethics (COPE) recommendations (http://publicationethics.org).

The journal should be abbreviated as Turk J Obstet Gynecol when referenced.

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology does not charge any article submission or processing charges.

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is indexed in PubMed Central (PMC), Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), EBSCO, DOAJ, Index Copernicus, Scopus, CINAHL, Google Scholar, Tübitak/Ulakbim Turkish Medical Database, Turk Medline and Turkiye Citation Index.

Submission of Manuscripts

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology has specific instructions and guidelines for submitting articles. Those instructions and guidelines are readily available on the submission service site. Submit all manuscripts through the journal's web page at www.tjoddergisi.org. New users should first create an account. Once a user is logged onto the site, submissions should be made via the Author Centre. Download the Instructions to Authors for detailed notes on how to prepare your manuscript.

The ORCID (Open Researcher and Contributor ID) number of the correspondence author should be provided while sending the manuscript. A free registration can be done at http://orcid.org.

Manuscripts submitted via any other medium will not be evaluated. During the submission please make sure to provide all requested information to prevent any possible delays in the evaluation process. Only those submitted articles are not currently being considered by another journal, or have not been previously published, will be considered for publication in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. The submitted articles are firstly evaluated over by the non-baised editors. The articles that meet the originality and other requirements of the journal are peer-reviewed by the national or international referees. Acceptance for publication is based on significance, novelty, and quality of the article.

Authors who have any queries regarding the submission process can contact the journal's editorial office:

Çetin Emeç Bulvarı Harbiye Mahallesi Hürriyet Caddesi 1/3 Öveçler/ Ankara.

Phone number: +90 (312) 481 06 06 **E-mail:** editor@tjod.org

Editorial Policies

All manuscripts will be evaluated for their scientific contribution, originality and content by the editorial board. Only those submitted articles are not currently being considered by another journal, or have not been previously published, will be considered for publication in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of the data presented in their manuscript. The journal retains the right to make appropriate changes on the grammar and language of the manuscript when needed. When suitable the manuscript will be send to the corresponding author for revision. The manuscript, if accepted for publication, will become the property of the journal and copyright will be taken out in the name of the journal.

All manuscripts submitted to the journal for publication are checked by Crossref Smilarity Check powered by iThenticate software for plagiarism. If plagiarism is detected, relevant institutions may be notified. In this case, the authors might be asked to disclose their raw data to relevant institutions.

Peer-review

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is an independent international journal based on double-blind peer-review principles. The manuscript is assigned to the Editor-in-Chief, who reviews the manuscript and makes an initial decision based on manuscript quality and editorial priorities. These manuscripts then sent for external peer-review, the Editor in Chief assigns Associate Editor. The Associate Editor sends the manuscript to the 3 internal and external reviewers. The reviewers must review the manuscript in 21 days. Associate Editor recommends decision based on the reviewers' recommendations and sends the manuscript to the Editor-in-Chief. The Editor-in-Chief makes a final decision based on editorial priorities, manuscript quality and reviewer recommendations. If there are any conflicting recommendation of reviewers, Editorin-Chief can assign a new reviewer. The scientific board guiding the selection of the papers to be published in the journal consists of elected experts of the journal and if necessary, selected from national and international experts in the relevant field of research. All manuscripts are reviewed by the editor, section associate editors and at least three internal and external expert referees. All research articles undergo review by statistics editor as well.

Full text of all articles can be downloaded at the web site of the journal: www.tjoddergisi.org

Authorship

The role of authorship in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology is reserved for those individuals who meet the criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE; http://www.icmje.org). Describe each authors' contribution by using ICMJE's criteria: substantial contributions to the conception or design; the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data; drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; final approval of the version to be published; agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the study in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are



INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

appropriately investigated and resolved. The statement about the authors' contributions should be placed in the cover letter. All persons who contributed to the work, but not sufficiently to be authors, must be acknowledged.

Cover Letter

Cover letter to the editors addressing the following points:

 \cdot The authors' intent to submit solely to Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

 \cdot Verification that the manuscript is not under consideration elsewhere, and indication from the authors that it will not be submitted elsewhere until a final decision is made by the editors of Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

- · The declaration of transparency from the corresponding author.
- · Clinical trial registration, if applicable.
- · Institutional review board (IRB) approval or exemption.
- · Informed consent.
- · Any explanations related to reporting guidelines.
- · The statement about the authors' contributions.

Preparation of Manuscripts

The "Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology" follows the Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals" (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors - http://www.icmje.org/). Upon submission of the manuscript, authors are to indicate the type of trial/research and provide the checklist of the following guidelines when appropriate:

CONSORT statement for randomized controlled trials (Moher D, Schultz KF, Altman D, for the CONSORT Group. The CONSORT statement revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel group randomized trials. JAMA 2001; 285: 1987-91) (http://www.consort-statement.org/),

PRISMA for preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses (Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6(7): e1000097.) (http://www. prisma-statement.org/),

STARD checklist for the reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy (Bossuyt PM, Reitsma JB, Bruns DE, Gatsonis CA, Glasziou PP, Irwig LM, et al, for the STARD Group. Towards complete and accurate reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy: the STARD initiative. Ann Intern Med 2003;138:40-4.) (http://www.stard-statement.org/),

STROBE statement-checklist of items that should be included in reports of observational studies (http://www.strobe-statement.org/),

MOOSE guidelines for meta-analysis and systemic reviews of observational studies (Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting Meta-analysis of observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283: 2008-12).

CARE guidelines are designed to increase the accuracy, transparency, and usefulness of case reports. (Gagnier JJ, Kienle G, Altman DG, Moher

D, Sox H, Riley D; the CARE Group. The CARE Guidelines: Consensusbased Clinical Case Reporting Guideline Development.) (http://www. care-statement.org/)

Human and Animal Studies

Manuscripts submitted for publication must contain a statement to the effect that all human studies have been reviewed by the appropriate ethics committee and have therefore been performed in accordance with the ethical standards described in an appropriate version of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki, as revised in 2013 (http:// www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/). It should also be stated clearly in the text that all persons gave their informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study. Details that might disclose the identity of the subjects under study should be omitted. In case of usage of any image media that potentially can expose patients' identity requires obtaining permission for publication from the patients or their parents/guardians. Experimental animal studies should be presented with the disclosure of the appropriateness to the institutional/national/international ethical guides on care and use of laboratory animals.

Reports of animal experiments must state that the "Principles of laboratory animal care" (NIH publication No. 86-23, revised 1985) were followed, as well as specific national laws where applicable.

The editors reserve the right to reject manuscripts that do not comply with the above mentioned requirements. The author will be held responsible for false statements or for failure to fulfill the above mentioned requirements.

Authors must provide statement on the absence of conflict of interests between authors and provide authorship contributions and declare if any financial/material support.

Copyright

The author(s) transfer(s) the copyright to his/their article to the Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology effective if and when the article is accepted for publication. The copyright covers the exclusive and unlimited rights to reproduce and distribute the article in any form of reproduction (printing, electronic media or any other form); it also covers translation rights for all languages and countries. For U.S. authors the copyright is transferred to the extent transferable.

After receiving and accept decision for publication, submissions must be accompanied by the "Copyright Transfer Statement". The form is available for download on the journal's manuscript submission and evaluation site. The copyright transfer form should be signed by all contributing authors and a scanned version of the wet signed document should be submitted.

Manuscript Structure

All manuscripts must be submitted as Microsoft Word (.doc or .docx) files. All manuscript pages (including references, tables, and figure legends) must be double-spaced. Use a standard, 12-point typeface such as Times New Roman. Top, bottom, and side margins should be set at 1 inch. Authors must include the following in the manuscript file:



INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

Title Page

A separate title page should list;

-The manuscript title, which should contain no more than a total of 100 characters (counting letters and spaces) and should not be declarative; do not use abbreviations or commercial names in the title.

- A short title of no more than 50 characters, including spaces, for use as a running foot.

- All author name(s), institutional, corporate, or commercial affiliations, and up to two major degree(s).

- Corresponding author's name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number), fax numbers and e-mail address (the corresponding author will be responsible for all correspondence and other matters relating to the manuscript).

Precis

The precis is a one-sentence synopsis of no more than 30 words that describes the basic findings of the article. Precis sample can be seen below:

'Using a 45 point questionnaire, we have evaluated the trend of Robotic surgery training in the gynecologic surgery fellowship programs across the nation'.

Abstract

All manuscripts should be accompanied by an abstract. All information in the abstract should be consistent with the information in the text, tables, or figures. Avoid use of commercial names in the abstract. Original research reports should have a structured abstract of no more than 250 words, using the following headings:

· Objective: Main question, objective, or hypothesis (single phrase starting with, for example, "To evaluate..." or "To estimate." [never start with "To determine."]).

 \cdot Materials and Methods: Study design, participants, outcome measures, and in the case of a negative study, statistical power.

• Results: Measurements expressed in absolute numbers and percentages, and when appropriate indicate relative risks or odds ratios with confidence intervals and level of statistical significance; any results contained in the abstract should also be presented in the body of the manuscript, tables, or figures.

 \cdot Conclusion: Directly supported by data, along with clinical implications.

Authors from Turkey or Turkish speaking countries are expected to submit a Turkish abstract including subheadings such as "Amaç, Gereç ve Yöntemler, Bulgular, Sonuç". The abstract of Authors whose native language is not Turkish will be provided free of charge translation services into Turkish language.

A structured abstract is not required with review articles and case reports.

Keywords

Below the abstract provide 3 to 5 keywords. Abbreviations should not be used as keywords. Keywords should be picked from the Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) list (www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html). Turkish abstracts should have keywords "Anahtar Kelimeler" picked from www.atifdizini.com under "Türkiye Bilim Terimleri" link.

Several types of articles can be submitted for publication in Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology: Original research, case reports, systematic reviews, current commentaries, procedures and instruments, and letters. Stated word counts and page limits were shown in Table 1. Copyright transfer forms, the cover letter, and figures do not contribute to the page limits.

Table 1. Manuscript length at a glance

Article type	Abstract Length	Manuscript Word Count*	Maximum Number of Authors	Maximum Number of References ^Φ
Original Research	250 words	5,500 words (~22 pages) $^{\Psi}$	NA	30
Case report	150 words	2,000 words (~8 pages)	4	8
Systematic review	300 words	6,250 words (~25 pages)	4	60
Current commentary	250 words	3,000 words (~12 pages)	4	12
Procedure and Instruments	200 words	2,000 words (~8 pages)	4	10
Letters	NA	350 words	4	5

*Manuscript length includes all pages in a manuscript (ie, title page, abstract, text, references, tables, boxes, figure legends, and appendixes). *Suggested limit. *The Introduction should not exceed 250 words. ~approximately; NA, not applicable.

Original researches should have the following sections;

Introduction

State concisely the purpose and rationale for the study and cite only the most pertinent references as background. Avoid a detailed literature review in this section.

Materials and Methods

Describe the research methodology (the patients, experimental animals, material and controls, the methods and procedures utilized, and the statistical method(s) employed) in sufficient detail so that others could duplicate the work. Identify methods of statistical analysis and when appropriate, state the basis (including alpha and beta error estimates) for their selection. Cite any statistical software programs used in the text. Express p values to no more than two decimal places. Indicate your study's power to detect statistical difference.

Address "IRB" issues and participants informed consent as stated above, the complete name of the IRB should be provided in the manuscript. State the generic names of the drugs with the name and country of the manufactures.

Results

Present the detailed findings supported with statistical methods. Figures and tables should supplement, not duplicate the text; presentation of data in either one or the other will suffice. Authors should report



INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

outcome data as both absolute and relative effects since information presented this way is much more useful for clinicians. Actual numbers and percentages should be given in addition to odds ratios or relative risk. When appropriate, number needed to treat for benefits (NNTb) or harm (NNTh) should be supplied. Emphasize only your important observations; do not compare your observations with those of others. Such comparisons and comments are reserved for the discussion section.

Discussion

Begin with a description of what your study found in relation to the purpose or objectives as stated in the Introduction. State the importance and significance of your findings to clinicians and actual patient care but do not repeat the details given in the Results section. Limit your opinions to those strictly indicated by the facts in your report. Compare your finding with previous studies with explanations in cases where they differ, although a complete review of the literature is not necessary.

Study Limitations

Provide information on the limitations of the study. No new data are to be presented in this section. A final summary is not necessary, as this information should be provided in the abstract and the first paragraph of the Discussion. Although topics that require future research can be mentioned, it is unnecessary to state, "Further research is needed."

Conclusion

The conclusion of the study should be highlighted. The study's new and important findings should be highlighted and interpreted.

Conflict of Interest

Authors must indicate whether or not they have a financial relationship with the organization that sponsored the research.

The main text of case reports should be structured with the following subheadings:

Introduction, Case Report, Discussion and References.

References

References are numbered (Arabic numerals) consecutively in the order in which they appear in the text (note that references should not appear in the abstract) and listed double-spaced at the end of the manuscript. The preferred method for identifying citations in the text is using within parentheses. Use the form of the "Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts" (http://www.icmje.org/about-icmje/faqs/icmje-recommendations/). If number of authors exceeds seven, list first 6 authors followed by et al.

Use references found published in peer-reviewed publications that are generally accessible. Unpublished data, personal communications, statistical programs, papers presented at meetings and symposia, abstracts, letters, and manuscripts submitted for publication cannot be listed in the references. Papers accepted by peer-reviewed publications but not yet published ("in press") are not acceptable as references. Journal titles should conform to the abbreviations used in "Cumulated Index Medicus".

Examples

Journals; Zeyneloglu HB, Onalan G. Remedies for recurrent implantation failure. Semin Reprod Med 2014;32:297-305.

Book chapter; Ayhan A, Yenen MC, Dede M, Dursun P, Gultekin M. How to Manage Pre-Invasive Cervical Diseases? An Overview. In: Ayhan A, Gultekin M, Dursun P, editors. Textbook of Gyneaecological Oncology. Ankara, Turkey: Gunes Publishing; 2010. p. 28-32.

Book; Arici A, Seli E. Non-invasive Management of Gynecologic Disorders. In: Arici A, Seli E (eds). London: Informa Healthcare; 2008.

Tables and Figures

Tables should be included in the main document after the reference list. Color figures or gray-scale images must be at minimum 300 DPI resolutions. Figures should be submitted in "*.tiff", "*.jpg" or "*.pdf" format and should not be embedded in the main document. Tables and figures consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. Each table must have a title indicating the purpose or content of the table. Do not use internal horizontal and vertical rules. Place explanatory matter in footnotes, not in the heading. Explain all abbreviations used in each table in footnotes. Each figure must have an accompanying descriptive legend defining abbreviations or symbols found in the figure. If photographs of people are used, the subjects must be unidentifiable and the subjects must have provided written permission to use the photograph. There is no charge for color illustrations.

Units of Measurement and Abbreviations

Units of measurement should be in Système International (SI) units. Abbreviations should be avoided in the title. Use only standard abbreviations. If abbreviations are used in the text, they should be defined in the text when first used.

Revisions

Revisions will be sent to the corresponding author. Revisions must be returned as quickly as possible in order not to delay publication. Deadline for the return of revisions is 30 days. The editorial board retains the right to decline manuscripts from review if authors' response delays beyond 30 days. All reviewers' comments should be addressed a revision note containing the author's responses to the reviewers' comments should be submitted with the revised manuscript. An annotated copy of the main document should be submitted with revisions. The Editors have the right to withdraw or retract the paper from the scientific literature in case of proven allegations of misconduct.

Accepted Articles

Accepted articles are provided with a DOI number and published as ahead of print articles before they are included in their scheduled issue.

Journal and Society Web sites:

www.tjod.org (Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology) www.tjoddergisi.org (Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology)

A-VIII



CONTENTS

Clinical Investigations

- 135 Reproductive outcomes of office hysteroscopic metroplasty in women with unexplained infertility with dysmorphic uterus Açıklanamayan infertilite ve dismorfik uterus olan hastalarda ofis histeroskopik metroplastinin üreme sonuçları Bülent Haydardedeoğlu, Gülşen Doğan Durdağ, Seda Şimşek, Pınar Çağlar Aytaç, Tayfun Çok, Esra Bulgan Kılıçdağ; Adana, Turkey
- 141 The use of in vitro maturation in stimulated antagonist in vitro fertilization cycles of normo-hyperresponder women due to arrested follicular development: A rescue procedure Folikül gelişim arresti yaşayan uyarılmış antogonist in vitro fertilizasyon siklusundaki normo-hiperresponder kadınlarda in vitro matürasyonun kullanılması: Bir kurtarma prosedürü

Şafak Hatırnaz, Süleyman Akarsu, Ebru Saynur Hatırnaz, Ahmet Zeki Işık, Michael Haim Dahan; Samsun, Ankara, İzmir, Turkey, Quebec, Canada

- 147 A retrospective comparative study of prednisolone use in antagonist co-treated assisted reproductive technology cycles for patients with good prognosis Yardımcı üreme teknikleri ile tedavi edilecek iyi prognozlu hastaların antagonist sikluslarında prednizolon kullanımı retrospektif karşılaştırma Batuhan Özmen, Emre Göksan Pabuçcu, Yavuz Emre Şükür, Hasan Ulubaşoğlu, Can Ateş, Murat Sönmezer, Bülent Berker, Cem Somer Atabekoğlu; Ankara, Samsun, Turkey
- 152 Circulating SCUBE1 levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome Polikistik over sendromlu kadınlarda SCUBE1 düzeyi Onur Erol, Hamit Yaşar Ellidağ, Mustafa Kemal Özel, Aysel Uysal Derbent, Esin Eren, Necat Yılmaz; Antalya, Turkey
- 159 Modified abdominal packing method in "near miss" patients with postpartum hemorrhages Postpartum kanamalı "near miss" hastalarda modifiye abdominal packing yöntemi Çetin Kılıççı, Mesut Polat, Mehmet Küçükbaş, Mehmet Baki Şentürk, Resul Karakuş, Çiğdem Yayla Abide, Evrim Bostancı Ergen, İlter Yenidede, Ateş Karateke; İstanbul, Turkey
- 165 The effect of first trimester hemoglobin levels on pregnancy outcomes İlk trimester hemoglobin seviyelerinin gebelik sonuçlarına etkisi Burcu Dinçgez Çakmak, Ülkü Ayşe Türker, Sonay Öztaş, Melis Arık, Emin Üstünyurt; Bursa, Turkey
- 171 Early-onset neonatal infection in pregnancies with prelabor rupture of membranes in Mosova: A major challenge Kosova'da erken membran rüptürü olan gebelerde erken başlangıçlı neonatal enfeksiyon: Önemli bir sorun Vlora Ademi Ibishi, Rozalinda Isjanovska, Anne E. Malin; Prishina Kosovo, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia, Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan
- 177 YKL-40 in the diagnosis, prediction of prognosis, and platinum sensitivity in serous epithelial ovarian cancer Seröz epitelyal over kanserinde tanıda, prognoz ve platin duyarlılığı öngörüsünde YKL-40 kullanımı İlker Kahramanoğlu, Nedim Tokgözoğlu, Hasan Turan, Veysel Şal, Gönül Şimşek, Remise Gelişgen, Tugan Beşe, Fuat Demirkıran, Macit Arvas, Hafize Uzun; İstanbul, Turkey



CONTENTS

182 Women self-reported G-spot existence and relation with sexual function and genital perception *Kadınlara göre G-spot var mı? G-spotun seksüel fonksiyonlar ve genital algı ile ilişkisi* Aşkı Ellibeş Kaya, Eray Çalışkan; Düzce, İstanbul, Turkey

Reviews

- 188 Active management of the third stage of labor: A brief overview of key issues Doğumun üçüncü evresinin aktif yönetimi: Kilit konulara kısa bir bakış Kemal Güngördük, Yusuf Olgaç, Varol Gülseren, Mustafa Kocaer; İstanbul, Kırşehir, İzmir, Turkey
- 193 Use of a gelatin-thrombin hemostatic matrix in obstetrics and gynecologicl surgery Obstetrik ve jinekolojik cerrahide jelatin-trombin hemostatik matriks kullanımı Selim Mısırlıoğlu, Engin Türkgeldi, Hande Yağmur, Bülent Urman, Barış Ata; İstanbul, Turkey

Case Reports

200 Are complicated monochorionic twins more susceptible to indomethacin-induced fetal ductal constriction? Two cases of laser surgery for Twin-Twin Transfusion syndrome

Komplike monokoryonik gebelikler indometazinin neden olduğu fetal duktus arteriozus konstriksiyonuna daha mı duyarlıdır? İkizden İkize Transfüzyon sendromu nedeniyle lazer cerrahisi yapılan iki olgu Hakan Erenel, Mehmet Fatih Karslı, Sevim Özge Korkmaz, Cihat Şen; İstanbul, Turkey

204 Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of genital tract in hysterectomized patient: A case report Histerektomize bir kadında genital primitif nöroektodermal tümör: Olgu sunumu ve literatür derlemesi Betül Yakıştıran, Salih Taşkın, Cevriye Cansız Ersöz, Fırat Ortaç; Ankara, Turkey





LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT

Dear Colleagues,

Our journal continues to be the most influential, significant, trusted and high-quality clinical journal of obstetrics and gynecology in our country. In order for our journal to be preferred worldwide as well as in this region, I believe that your contributions play a very important role to reach our mission. I expect full support of our colleagues by selecting and following our journal.

I especially thank the editorial board for what we have achieved so far together.

Even though being an obstetrician and gynecologist means encountering many obstacles nowadays, I believe that a well trained and educated obstetrics and gynecology physician will always have a remarkable place in our country, as well as all over the world.

I ask all our colleagues for your precious support, efforts and contributions. We encourage all our colleagues for making new researches and publications, creating papers; since it would be an honor for us to help them develop in expanding their academic obstetrics and gynecology research skills.

Consequently, since we can develop further together, I kindly request that all colleagues would always be sharing within and supporting each other.

Sincerely,

Ateş Karateke, Prof. MD President of TJOD



EDITORIAL

Dear Colleagues,

Our journal has two reviews, nine original articles and two case reports. I believe that they are detailed and original contributions fort he obstetrics and gynecology literature. I would like to thank to the contributors for sharing their knowledge and findings with us.

Also we begin to publish and wellcome research on sexual medicine and cosmetic gynecological surgery both of which are taboo in our country. Although some clearly oppose genial aesthetic procedures increasing demand also necessitate clear evidence. Long term results and complications of the proposed procedures on the female genitalia.

Our society and journal is also suporting the research on improving resident and postgraduate education in the field of obstetrics and gynecology. Many new procedures, new biomechanical tools aid used in our dailly practice but adoption of these by the residents and specialists in the field should be fast and standardized. This mandates research on medical education, to publish learning curves of emerging procedures for both decreasing possible patient harm and to improve licensing for different procedures. Any research in this area are wellcomed by the editorial board.

There is increasing number of scientific journals in our country. A total of 426 journals are included in Turkish Citation Index. Despite this vast number of journals only 50 of them are indexed by SCI-expanded⁽¹⁾. Even the journals included in SCI-expanded the highest impact factor by 2017 was 1.6⁽²⁾. In order to improve our journals reputation we look forward for any high impact original research.

Thanks in advance.

Sincerely

Eray Çalışkan Editor in Chief

References

- 1. Asan A. International Journal Indexes, Importance and Status of Turkey Journals: Part 2: Situation of Turkey. Acta Medica Alanya 2017;1:43-54.
- 2. Asan A. Türk dergilerinin Web of Science'teki yeri, impakt faktör (etki faktörü) ve H indeks. 2013:53-74.



Reproductive outcomes of office hysteroscopic metroplasty in women with unexplained infertility with dysmorphic uterus

Açıklanamayan infertilite ve dismorfik uterus olan hastalarda ofis histeroskopik metroplastinin üreme sonuçları

Bülent Haydardedeoğlu, Gülşen Doğan Durdağ, Seda Şimşek, Pınar Çağlar Aytaç, Tayfun Çok, Esra Bulgan Kılıçdağ

Başkent University, Adana Dr. Turgut Noyan Practice and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: The correlation between dysmorphic uterus and infertility still remains enigmatic. We evaluated the reproductive outcomes of metroplasty via office hysteroscopy in unexplained infertile women with dysmorphic uteri.

Materials and Methods: In this retrospective cohort study, metroplasty via office hysteroscopy using a bipolar system was performed to 272 women with unexplained infertility with dysmorphic uteri from January 2013 to January 2016. Of all the patients, 162 had primary infertility, and 110 had secondary infertility.

Results: In the primary infertility group, the clinical pregnancy rate was 45.68% (74/162) and the live birth rate was 38.9% (63/162), and in the secondary infertility group, the clinical pregnancy rate was 55.45% (61/110) and the live birth rate was 49% (54/110) after metroplasty. In the secondary infertility group, the miscarriage rate and especially the ectopic pregnancy rate declined dramatically [from 84.5% (93/110) to 9.8% (6/61) and from 15.5% (17/110) to 1.6% (1/61), respectively] (p<0.01).

Conclusion: Reproductive outcome can be impaired by Müllerian anomalies, hence, infertile women with dysmorphic uteri should undergo hysteroscopy to improve reproductive outcomes. Our study demonstrated that office hysteroscopic metroplasty of a dysmorphic uterus might improve fertility, particularly in patients with unexplained infertility with dysmorphic uteri, which was an ignored factor previously. Office hysteroscopy is an alternative option in terms of non-invasive procedure.

Keywords: Dysmorphic uterus, T-shaped uterus, office hysteroscopy, obstetric outcome, unexplained infertility

Öz

Giriş: Dismorfik uterus ve infertilite arasındaki ilişki hala bilinmemektedir. Dismorfik uterusu ve açıklanamayan infertilite tanısı olan hastalarda ofis histeroskopik metroplastinin üreme üzerine olan sonuçlarını değerlendirdik.

Gereç ve Yöntemler: Bu retrospektif kohort çalışmada, kliniğimizde Ocak 2013-Aralık 2016 tarihleri arasında bipolar ofis histeroskopik metroplasti uygulanan 272 dismorfik uterus ve açıklanamayan infertil hastalar değerlendirilmiştir. Bu hastaların 162 tanesi primer infertil 110 tanesi sekonder infertildir. **Bulgular:** Primer infertil olan hastalarda hsiteroskopik metroplasti sonrası klinik gebelik oranı %45,68 (74/162), sekonder infertil grupta %55,65 (61/10) olarak bulunmuştur. Her iki grupta metroplasti sonrası canlı doğum oranı %38,9 (63/162) ve %49 (54/110)'dur. Düşük oranı ve özellikle dış gebelik oranı sekonder infertil grupta dramatik olarak azalmıştır [düşük oranı; %84,5'den (93/110) %9,8'e (6/61) düşmüş ve ektopik gebelik %15,5'den (17/110) %1,6'ya (1/61) düşmüştür) (p=0,01)].

Sonuç: Dismorfik uteruslu infertil kadın fertilitesini artırmak için ofis histeroskopi yoluyla opere edilmelidir. Müllerian anomaliler üreme sonuçlarına olumsuz etkileri olmaktadır. Dismorfik uterusun histeroskopik metroplasti ile düzeltilmesi bizim çalışma grubumuzda özellikle atlanmış uterin faktör olarak infertilite problemini de düzeltebilecektir. Ofis histeroskopi bu işlemin non-invaziv alternatifidir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Dismorfik uterus, açıklanamayan infertilite, T-şeklinde rahim, ofis histeroskopi, gebelik sonucu

PRECIS: The correlation between dysmorphic uterus and infertility still remains enigmatic. We evaluated the reproductive outcomes of office hysteroscopic metroplasty in unexplained infertile women with dysmorphic uterus. Our study demonstrated that office hysteroscopic metroplasty of a dysmorphic uterus might improve fertility, particularly in unexplained infertility patients with dysmorphic uterus.

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Bülent Haydardedeoğlu, MD,

Başkent University, Adana Dr. Turgut Noyan Practice and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey Phone: +90 533 207 98 77 E-mail: bulenthaydar@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9873-754 Received/Gelis Tarihi: 21.05.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 27.05.2018

[®]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

Introduction

A dysmorphic uterus, which was formerly known as "T-shaped uterus" in the American Fertility Society classification of anomalies of the Müllerian duct, is denoted as a secondclass (Class U1) uterine anomaly in the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) and the European Society for Gynaecological Endoscopy (ESGE) (ESHRE/ESGE) consensus on the classification of congenital genital tract anomalies, and it leads to poor reproductive and obstetric outcomes^(1,2). Although the prevalence of dysmorphic uterus is not yet known, the reproductive performance of a dysmorphic uterus after hysteroscopic metroplasty is poorly documented; only five trials have been reported to date⁽³⁻⁷⁾. In the past, operative hysteroscopy for metroplasty was used to expand the uterine cavity; currently, office hysteroscopy with a bipolar system is used, which appears to have minimally invasive effects, thus making it feasible for metroplasty⁽⁷⁾. The encouraging results of the case series of 114 women remain in small numbers in the literature⁽³⁻⁷⁾. The correlation between dysmorphic uterus and infertility still remains enigmatic. No study has definitely defined such a uterus as being the primary reason for infertility. Although the poor obstetric outcomes of Müllerian anomalies are wellknown issues, their reproductive performance in terms of infertility has been relatively ignored. Nevertheless, the lesser expansion of a unicornuate uterus is seen as the cause for infertility. The relationship between a dysmorphic uterus and infertility is not clarified exactly in the literature due to the absence of evidence on this topic. The aim of our study was to evaluate the effectiveness of hysteroscopic metroplasty on reproductive outcome in women with unexplained infertility with dysmorphic uteri.

Materials and Methods

This retrospective study was conducted at Başkent University, Adana Dr. Turgut Noyan Practice and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Reproductive Medicine and In Vitro Fertilization (IVF) Unit. Records of women who underwent hysteroscopic metroplasty for dysmorphic uterus with unexplained infertility from January 2013 to January 2016 were investigated. Mild and/or severe male infertility factor, diminished ovarian reserve, history of endometriosis and/or endometrioma, and tubal pathologies, including bilateral tubal obstruction or hydrosalpinx were excluded and eligible women with unexplained infertility were analyzed. All of the included women were assessed in two groups as primary and secondary infertility. Institutional review board approval This study was approved by Başkent University Institutional Review Board and Ethics Committee approval (KA: 17/151-A) and supported by Başkent University Research Fond was obtained for this retrospective cohort study.

Pre-operative diagnosis

Infertile couples were admitted to Başkent University Division of Reproductive Medicine and IVF Unit. Medical history and ovarian reserve measured using the antral follicle count were evaluated, and hysterosalpingography (HSG) for the uterine cavity and tubal patency and sperm analysis were conducted. Unexplained infertility was defined as follows: unprotected intercourse for at least 1 year without conceiving with a normal ovarian reserve (i.e., antral follicle count over 4 in at least one functioning ovary with a regular menstrual cycle) and bilateral tubal patency observed on HSG and normal sperm analysis based on the World Health Organization 2010 criteria⁽⁸⁾. Dysmorphic uterus, formerly known as "T-shaped uterus," was defined as a condensed lateral side uterine cavity observed using a properly performed HSG, in which the traction to the uterus was sufficient to expose the normal plain of the uterine cavity (Picture 1). The schematic view of the uterus revealed a T-shape, and the angle of the narrowed side wall was almost 90° (Picture 1). We were unable to perform 3D ultrasonography owing to the lack of this technology in our institution. There was no history of diethylstilbestrol (DES) exposure owing to the absence of DES use in Turkey. We think that the relationship between DES exposure and dysmorphic uterus remains speculative. Another issue associated with dysmorphic uterus class U1b, which is the infantile type, was that it could not be evaluated using HSG. This was a limitation of HSG. However, we did not experience any lateral wall perforation.

Operation

Sedation with proper a dosage of propofol and midazolam was applied to the women. After vaginal scrubbing with a povidone-iodine solution, the office hysteroscope was inserted in to the uterine cavity using a non-touch technique. Office hysteroscopy was performed at the early follicular phase (days 6-14) using a 5 mm diameter continuous-flow hysteroscope with an oval profile and a 30° fore-oblique telescope and a 5-Fr operating channel (Office Continuous Flow Operative Hysteroscopy 'size 5'; Karl Storz, Tuttlingen,



Picture 1. Preoperative and postoperative hysterosalpingography image

HSG: Hysterosalpingography

Germany). Cavity distension was induced using an electronic irrigation and aspiration system (Endomat; Karl Storz, Tuttlingen, Germany) with NaCl 0.9%. A stable intrauterine pressure of ~40 mm Hg was obtained by setting the flow rate to 220-350mm Hg; the negative pressure suction was set at 0.2 bar, and the pressure of irrigation was set at 100 mm Hg. After the evaluation of the uterine cavity, the lateral side walls were cut using a Bipolar Versapoint System (Gynecare Versapoint Bipolar Electrosurgery System, Ethicon, US) until the tubal orifice was visible from the isthmus. The video can be viewed at https://youtu.be/wVh9m0dxB2I. The operations were performed by four experienced surgeons. At the end of the operation, no anti-adhesive gel and/or intrauterine balloon was used. We did not record our operation duration; nevertheless, the mean duration of the operations was ~5 minutes.

Post-operative approach

After the operation, the patients were discharged on the same day. The patients were prescribed 2 mg estradiol valerate oral estrogen support for 3 weeks (Cyclo-progynova tb, Bayer, Turkey). After 2 menstrual cycles, HSG was repeated for the evaluation of the newly formed uterine cavity (Picture 1). All patients were counseled to prevent them from conceiving until the second HSG. After evaluation of the new cavity using the second HSG, all patients were advised to try to conceive without assisted reproductive technology (ART) support for at least 1 year.

Follow-up for the evaluation of reproductive outcomes

The reproductive outcomes were recorded using the delivery registry from our hospital database and via telephone interviews. Clinical pregnancy (CP) was defined as pregnancy diagnosed through ultrasonographic visualization of one or more gestational sacs or a positive blood human chorionic gonadotropin test result. The live birth rate (LBR) was noted as the delivery of at least one live born baby after 24 complete weeks of gestational age. The spontaneous abortion rate was defined as the spontaneous loss of a CP before 20 weeks of completed gestation. The delivery rate ending with live births at full term (37 weeks' gestation) was also recorded.

Statistical Analysis

The data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. The baseline differences between the groups were analyzed using Student's t-test. Pearson's chi-square test and Fisher's exact test were used to compare the ratios between the groups. Time to pregnancy after metroplasty was measured using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. The data were analyzed using the SPSS for Windows (version 23.0; SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL).

Results

During the 3-year study period, 685 office hysteroscopies for dysmorphic uterus were performed to 272 women with unexplained infertility by our IVF department. The baseline characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 1. Of all the patients, 162 had primary infertility, and 110 had secondary infertility. The mean age and mean duration of infertility of the patients were similar. Forty-five women in the primary infertility group and 27 women in the secondary infertility group underwent an IVF/intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) cycle before metroplasty [27.8% (45/162) and 24.5% (27/110), respectively] (Table 1). In primary infertility group, 45 patients had IVF failures; 23 patients had a history of one cycle failure, 16 had two IVF/CSI failure cycles, and six patients had 3 IVF/ICSI failure cycles before metroplasty. In the secondary infertility group, 27 patients had a history of ART failures; 15 women had one IVF/ICSI failure, eight patients had two failure cycles, and four had three failure cycles. Seven of nine spontaneous pregnancies after metroplasty in the primary infertile women group had just one IVF failure and two patients had two failed IVF/ICSI cycles. In secondary infertile group, the number of spontaneous pregnancy after metroplasty in previous IVF failure cycles was six, four of which had one previous failure and two had 2 IVF/ICSI failures. The CPR and LBR after metroplasty are shown in Table 2. In the secondary infertility group, the miscarriage rate and ectopic pregnancy rate declined dramatically (p=0.01) (Table 2). Nine out of 45 patients (20%) in the primary infertility group and six out of 27 patients (22.2%) in the secondary infertility group with a

Table 1.	Basal charact	eristics of the	study groups
----------	---------------	-----------------	--------------

	Primary infertility (n=162)	Secondary infertility (n=110)	р
Age	30.53±4.5	30.41±4.66	0.36
Duration of infertility	5.28±3.54	5.71±3.93	0.84
Previous IVF failure number	27.8% (45/162)	24.5% (27/110)	0.57
Spontaneous LBR after metroplasty	18.5% (30/162)	33.6% (37/110)	0.004
IVF/ICSI LBR after metroplasty	20.4% (33/162)	21.8% (24/110)	0.19
Spontaneous LBR after metroplasty with previous IVF failure	20% (9/45)	22.2% (6/27)	0.52

IVF: In vitro fertilization, ICSI: Intracytoplasmic sperm injection, LBR: Live birth rate

	Preoperative	Primary infertility (n=162)	Secondary infertility (n=110)	р
Pregnancy rate		45.7% (74/162)	55.4% (61/110)	-
Miscarriage	84.5% (93/110)	13.5% (10/74)	9.8% (6/61)	< 0.001
Ectopic pregnancy	15.5% (17/110)	1.4% (1/74)	1.6% (1/61)	<0.001
Preterm delivery	0	2.7% (2/74)	0	NS
Term delivery	0	82.4% (61/74)	88.5% (54/61)	<0.001
Time to pregnancy (months)	-	6.2±3.2	6.3±4.0	0.94

Table 2. The reproductive outcomes of the secondary infertility group

NS: Not significant

history of IVF/ICSI failures successfully delivered subsequent to metroplasty through spontaneous pregnancies (Table 1). After metroplasty, the pregnancies of 44 patients in the primary infertility group and 24 patients in the secondary infertility group were successful with the first fresh IVF/ICSI cycle without waiting for spontaneous pregnancy. After the second HSG, the time to pregnancy was 5.8 ± 4.7 months in the spontaneous pregnancy group and 6.7 ± 5.7 months in the pregnancies with ART group (Figure1, 2). The time to pregnancy in the primary and secondary infertile groups was also similar (Table 2).

Discussion

Our study demonstrated that office hysteroscopic metroplasty of dysmorphic uterus might improve fertility, particularly in patients with unexplained infertility and with dysmorphic uterus, which was an ignored factor previously. Müllerian anomalies can impair obstetric outcomes because it can cause recurrent pregnancy loss (5-10%), as well as late miscarriage and preterm delivery (25%)^(9,10). These adverse obstetric outcomes may be subsequent to restricted expansion of an abnormally small endometrial cavity⁽¹¹⁾. Increased contractility and decreased vascular perfusion of the fibrous uterine septum may also contribute⁽¹²⁾. We hypothesize that the enlargement of the uterine cavity using hysteroscopic metroplasty might restore obstetric outcomes by increasing the possibility for embryo implantation by proper endometrial vascular perfusion together with decreased uterine contractility inducing fragility in a dysmorphic uterus. This hypothesis might be supported by the majority of metroplasty outcomes of uterine septum surgery even in an arcuate uterus in ART cycles^(13,14). The higher prevalence of previous ectopic pregnancy in women with dysmorphic uterus was first reported by Fernandez et al.⁽⁶⁾. Our study also demonstrated that women with secondary infertility with dysmorphic uteri have higher ectopic pregnancy rates (15.5%). After correction of the uterine cavity, the ectopic pregnancy rate dropped to the expected population. This increased rate of ectopic pregnancy might be explained by the increased uterine contractility and decreased endometrial



Figure 1. Time to spontaneous pregnancy



Figure 2. Time to assisted reproductive technology pregnancy

implantation in a dysmorphic uterus. Due to a lack of adequate and credible data, we did not apply any adhesion prevention strategies, such as intrauterine gel or balloon. We evaluated the newly-formed cavity configuration using a second HSG and hence did not observe any adhesions. We did not encounter any complications from hypotonic solution use such as electrolyte changes and hyponatremia because we applied saline during metroplasty procedures. Throughout the 3 years of the study, we did not encounter any complications of hysteroscopy such as uterine perforation or excessive bleeding after the operation. As expected, there would be no further risk of cervical incompetency owing to the thinner hysteroscope, thus ruling out the need for cervical dilatation. The major limitation of this retrospective study is the absence of the confirmation of a narrowed cavity using 3D transvaginal ultrasonography. Although our diagnostic criterion was based only on HSG, despite HSG being superior for the confirmation of dysmorphic uterus, 3D ultrasonography was feasible and appeared to be accurate as. If we had the opportunity to evaluate dysmorphic uterus using 3D ultrasonography, we would have calculated the volume of the endometrial cavity and provided a cut-off volume to compare with that of fertile women's cavities. Although the importance of lateral wall thickness in dysmorphic uterus was included in the ESHRE/ESGE classification, the definitive ratio or thickness in the current literature was not mentioned. Furthermore, there is high intra/inter-observer variability in 3D ultrasonographic measurements of uterine wall thickness for uterine anomalies with conflicting data for their measurements owing to the inadequacy of the technique⁽¹⁵⁾. Although the ESHRE/ESGE consensus definitive diagnostic criteria were demonstrated using the schematic view for dysmorphic uterus, we speculate that as a diagnostic tool, the combination of HSG and 3D ultrasonography will achieve significantly better outcomes, which might be highlighted by future trials. Our department is an endoscopic surgery and ART clinic to which women who have a potentially higher prevalence of uterine anomalies are referred⁽¹⁶⁾. This is why the population ratio in this study seemed to be relatively higher. Furthermore, DES exposure was not documented in these women due to the absence of DES marketing in Turkey. In terms of obstetric outcomes, the risk associated with hysteroscopic metroplasty of dysmorphic uterus is the potential for placental adhesion owing to the possibility of electrosurgical injuries to the endometrium and myometrium. We had three different cases of placenta accreta that could be related to the intrauterine operation during the cesarean process. It is possible to see this type of potential adhesion even in the history of cesarean procedures conducted to date, hysteroscopic myomectomy, or any type of endomyometrial injury. The resultant outcomes at our department have been encouraging for fertility expectation in women with dysmorphic uterus. The ignored uterine-factor infertility must be considered in terms of dysmorphic uterus. The relationship between intrauterine adhesion and infertility

seems to be similar to dysmorphic uterus related to lesser cavity volumes⁽¹⁷⁾. Further, the subsiding rate of ectopic pregnancy and miscarriage is also optimizing evidence for enlargement of dysmorphic cavities. Future randomized controlled trials are needed to support the effectiveness of the operation.

Conclusion

Infertile women with dysmorphic uterus should be operated by hysteroscope to improve reproductive outcomes. Office hysteroscope is an alternative option in terms of non-invasive procedure.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by Başkent University Institutional Review Board and Ethics Committee (KA: 17/151A) and supported by Başkent University Research Fond.

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all patients.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.H., E.B.K., T.Ç., P.Ç.A., Concept: B.H., E.B.K., Design: B.H., G.D.D., Data Collection or Processing: G.D.D., S.Ş., Analysis or Interpretation: B.H., Literature Search: B.H., Writing: B.H., G.D.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Grimbizis GF, Gordts S, Di Spiezio Sardo A, Brucker S, De Angelis C, Gergolet M, et al. The ESHRE/ESGE consensus on the classification of female genital tract congenital anomalies. Hum Reprod 2013;28:2032-44.
- No authors listed. The American Fertility Society classifications of adnexal adhesions, distal tubal occlusion, tubal occlusion secondary to tubal ligation, tubal pregnancies, müllerian anomalies and intrauterine adhesions. Fertil Steril 1988;49:944-55.
- Nagel TC, Malo JW. Hysteroscopic metroplasty in the diethylstilbestrol-exposed uterus and similar nonfusion anomalies: effects on subsequent reproductive performance; a preliminary report. Fertil Steril 1993;59:502-6.
- Katz Z, Ben-Arie A, Lurie S, Manor M, Insler V. Beneficial effect of hysteroscopic metroplasty on the reproductive outcome in a 'T-shaped' uterus. Gynecol Obstet Invest 1996;41:41-3.
- Garbin O, Ohl J, Bettahar-Lebugle K, Dellenbach P. Hysteroscopic metroplasty in diethylstilboestrol-exposed and hypoplastic uterus: a report on 24 cases. Hum Reprod 1998;13:2751-5.
- 6. Fernandez H, Garbin O, Castaigne V, Gervaise A, Levaillant JM. Surgical approach to and reproductive outcome after surgical correction of a T-shapeduterus. Hum Reprod 2011;26:1730-4.
- Di Spiezio Sardo A, Florio P, Nazzaro G, Spinelli M, Paladini D, Di Carlo C, et al. Hysteroscopic outpatient metroplasty to expand dysmorphic uteri (HOME-DU technique): a pilot study. Reprod Biomed Online 2015;30:166-74.

- 8. World Health Organization WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen. World Health Organization, Geneva, 2010.
- 9. Acien P. Incidence of müllerian defects in fertile and infertile women. Hum Reprod 1997;12:1372-6.
- Salim R, Regan L, Woelfer B, Backos M, Jurkovic D. A comparative study of the morphology of congenital uterine anomalies in women with and without a history of recurrent first trimester miscarriage. Hum Reprod 2003;18:162-6
- 11. Rackow BW, Arici A. Reproductive performance of women with müllerian anomalies. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2007;19: 229-37.
- Zreik TG, Troiano RN, Ghoussoub RA, Olive DL, Arici A, McCarthy SM. Myometrial tissue in uterine septa. J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc 1998;5:155-60.
- Venetis CA, Papadopoulos SP, Campo R, Gordts S, Tarlatzis BC, Grimbizis GF. Clinical implications of congenital uterine anomalies: a meta-analysis of comparative studies. Reprod Biomed Online 2014;29:665-83.

- Tomaževič T, Ban-Frangež H, Virant-Klun I, Verdenik I, Požlep B, Vrtažnik-Bokal E. Septate, subseptate and arcuate uterus decrease pregnancy and live birth rates in IVF/ICSI. Reprod Biomed Online 2010;21:700-5.
- 15. Graupera B, Pascual MA, Hereter L, Browne JL, Úbeda B, Rodríguez I, et al. Accuracy of three-dimensional ultrasound compared with magnetic resonance imaging in diagnosis of Müllerian duct anomalies using ESHRE-ESGE consensus on the classification of congenital anomalies of the female genital tract. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2015;46:616-22.
- 16. Jayaprakasan K, Chan YY, Sur S, Deb S, Clewes JS, Raine-Fenning NJ. Prevalence of uterine anomalies and their impact on early pregnancy in women conceiving after assisted reproduction treatment. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2011;37:727-32.
- 17. Cholkeri-Singh A, Sasaki KJ. Hysteroscopy for infertile women: a review. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2015;22:353-62.

140



The use of in vitro maturation in stimulated antagonist in vitro fertilization cycles of normo-hyperresponder women due to arrested follicular development: A rescue procedure

Folikül gelişim arresti yaşayan uyarılmış antogonist in vitro fertilizasyon siklusundaki normo-hiperresponder kadınlarda in vitro matürasyonun kullanılması: Bir kurtarma prosedürü

Safak Hatırnaz¹, Süleyman Akarsu², Ebru Saynur Hatırnaz¹, Ahmet Zeki Işık³,
 Michael Haim Dahan⁴

¹Medicana International Hospital, In Vitro Fertilization Center, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Samsun, Turkey

²Yüksek İhtisas University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

³Medicalpark Hospital, In Vitro Fertilization Center, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İzmir, Turkey

⁴McGill University Faculty of Medicine, Fertility Center, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Abstract

Objective: To evaluate the impact of rescue in vitro maturation (IVM) on the clinical outcomes of women with arrested follicular development in stimulated in vitro fertilization (IVF) cycles

Materials and Methods: This is a retrospective review of 13 patients who were evaluated as normo-hyperresponders for ovarian stimulation. The main outcome measure was the clinical pregnancy and livebirth rates. The purpose of gonadotropin stimulation in patients undergoing IVF is to retrieve multiple oocytes by avoiding multifetal gestation and Ovarian Hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS). The ovarian response to stimulation ranges from poor response to OHSS, which is related to the follicular number and the dose of the gonadotropins used. However, in some cycles of normo-hyperresponder women, follicular development decelerates or ceases. Close follow-up in a daily manner and increasing the dose of gonadotropins did not change the follicular arrest. This clinical situation has two edges; one is cycle cancellation, which has undesired psychological outcomes for women and the IVF team, and second one is the prolongation of the IVF cycle. For such circumstances, IVM may be a valuable option. Stimulated IVF cycles were converted to IVM as a rescue IVM procedure following detailed informed consent of the women who were close to cycle cancellation.

Results: Thirteen 13 IVM cycles and their clinical outcomes are presented. Six women achieved pregnancies, but only 4 delivered 5 healthy live born. The other two women had biochemical loss during follow-up.

Conclusion: Based on the data obtained, it can be concluded that gonadotropin-stimulated cycles with follicular arrest at the edge of cancellation can be shifted to rescue IVM procedures with reasonable clinical outcomes.

Keywords: Rescue, in vitro maturation, cycle cancellation, in vitro fertilization, pregnancy rate

Öz

Giriş: Uyanlmış in vitro fertilizasyon (IVF) sikluslarında folikül gelişim arresti yaşayan kadınlarda rescue in vitro matürasyonun (IVM) klinik sonuçları üzerine etkisini değerlendirmek

Gereç ve Yöntemler: Bu çalışma over uyarılması için normo-hiperresponder kabul edilen 13 olgunun retrospektif değerlendirlmesidir. Çalışmanın temel çıkarımı klinik gebelik ve canlı doğum oranlarıdır. IVF tedavisindeki hastalarda gonadotropin uyarısının amacı çoğul gebelik ve Yumurtalık Hiperstimülasyon sendromunu (OHSS) önlerken çok sayıda yumurta elde etmektir. Uyarıya yumurtalık yanıtı çok zayıf yanıttan çok aşırı uyarılmaya kadar değişebilmektedir ki bu durum folikül sayısına ve verilen ilacın dozuna bağlıdır. Bununla birlikte normo-hiperresponder bazı kadınlarda folikül gelişimi yavaşlamakta veya durmaktadır. Günlük olarak yakın folikül takibi veya gonadotropin doz artırılması foliküllerdeki arresti değiştirmemektedir. Bu klinik durumun iki ucu vardır; ilki siklus iptalidir ve hem hasta hem de IVF ekibi için istenmeyen psikolojik sonuçları olmaktadır, ikincisi ise IVF siklusunu uzatmaktır. Bu tür durumlar için IVM değerli bir seçenek olabilir. Uyarılmış IVF siklusları, siklus iptalı kıyısında olan hastalardan detalı yazılı onam alındıktan sonra kurtarma

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Şafak Hatırnaz, MD,

Medicana International Hospital, In Vitro Fertilization Center, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Samsun, Turkey Phone: +90 533 237 29 22 E-mail: safakhatirnaz@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8859-0639 Received/Gelis Tarihi: 02.03.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 24.05.2018

[©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House. IVM prosedürüne dönüştürülmüştür.

Bulgular: Burada 13 IVM siklusu ve klinik sonuçları sunulmuştur. On üç kadından 6'sında gebelik elde edilmiş, 2 kadın biyokimyasal kayıp yaşarken, 4 kadın 5 sağlıklı bebek doğurmuştur.

Sonuç: Elde edilen veriler temelinde, iptalin eşiğinde olan foliküler arrest gelişmiş uyarılmış siklusları kurtarma IVM prosedürüne dönüştürlebilir ve kabul edilebilir gebelik sonuçları vardır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Kurtarma, in vitro matürasyon, siklus iptali, in vitro fertilizasyon, gebelik oranı

PRECIS: Rescue in vitro maturation for arrested follicular development in stimulated cycles.

Introduction

The story of in vitro fertilization (IVF) began with immature oocytes from unstimulated cycles and finally succeeded with the birth of Louise Brown in 1978⁽¹⁾; however, the roots of studies about immature oocytes and in vitro oocyte maturation (IVM) go back to the 1930s⁽²⁾. Clomiphene citrate (CC) was discovered in the 1960s and following the livebirths after IVF, the first stimulations were made with CC and multifollicular development in IVF cycles were achieved. Later the addition of human menopausal gonadotropins eased the course of IVF and increased the success rates, but also increased drug-related life-threatening complications such as Ovarian Hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS). Tremendous use of gonadotropins resulted in the advent of recombinant drugs used in IVF practice. In late the 1990s and early 2000s, the discussion was around reverting to natural or seminatural cycle managements⁽³⁻⁵⁾. In the 1990s, IVM babies were born and IVM gained attention in assisted reproductive technologies (ART)^(6,7). To date, the total number of babies born from IVM is around 5000, which cannot be compared to the huge number of babies born from conventional IVF (>7 million). This means that IVM carries some controversies and is not a first-choice treatment in ART⁽⁸⁾. The most susceptible women for IVM treatment are patients with Polycystic Ovarian syndrome (PCOS); the best clinical outcomes in IVM cycles were obtained in patients with PCOS⁽⁸⁾. The second most common reason for using IVM is to avoid OHSS because patients with PCOS are vulnerable to OHSS⁽⁹⁾. IVM has been studied extensively in women PCOS, but indications other than PCOS such as normoresponder women, poor responder women, fertility preservation, rescue IVM for preventing OHSS in stimulated cycles⁽¹⁰⁾, oocyte maturation problems, and patients with cancer who need urgent fertility preservation were introduced into IVM practice⁽¹¹⁻¹⁵⁾. This study is the first to present IVM shifted from the conventional stimulated IVF cycles due to arrested follicular growth in order to rescue cycles from cancellation. Thirteen normo-hyperresponder patients whose gonadotropin antagonist stimulation cycles were shifted to IVM with human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) priming were evaluated. All follicles arrested 12 mm and less in size and antagonist drugs were not used in any of the patients. Among the 13 patients, 6 pregnancies were achieved, 2 pregnancies were lost as biochemical pregnancies and the remaining 4 patients delivered five babies with good

health. The clinical outcomes of this rescue IVM is acceptable and promising.

Materials and Methods

This is a retrospective case series of 13 women who underwent rescue IVM therapy at Clinart IVF Center, a private center in the Trabzon province of Turkey, between May 2011 and September 2014. Detailed informed consents of the patients were signed and registered. Institutional Review Board Clinart International Hospital approval by a grant number of 000280/18.05.2015 is present for this trial. For the normo and hyper-responder patients included in the study, a gonadotropin-antagonist protocol was the preferred treatment for ovarian stimulation. The drugs used were: Gonal-F flacon 150-300 IU subcutaneous (sc) once daily (recombinant follitropin alfa, Merck Serono, Switzerland) as recombinant follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and Cetrotide 0.25 mg sc once daily (cetrorelix acetate 0.25 mg for sc injection, Merck Serono, Switzerland) as gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) antagonist. Women whose husbands had severe oligoasthenoteratospermia, azoospermia, or cryptozoospermia were excluded. Each patient underwent ovarian stimulation therapy for 5 to 6 days, in regards to mentioned protocol. However, GnRH antagonists could not be administered because of arrested follicular response. Patients with inadequate follicular growth or follicular arrest were given detailed information about the rescue IVM treatment as a valuable option, instead of cycle cancellation. In patients who approved rescue IVM therapy, oocyte retrieval was performed 36 hours after hCG priming with 10.000-20.000 IU/IM. The length of the cycles was similar to FSH priming IVM but shorter than stimulated cycles. Oocyte retrievals of the patients were performed via a 16-gauge double-lumen aspiration needle (Swemed by Vitrolife, Sweden) with lowpressure continuous flushing and collected in a heparinized collection medium. There are no established criteria to identify the ideal timing or method for oocyte retrieval, with most studies using a lead-follicular diameter of up to 12 mm. Lead-follicle diameters greater than 13 mm have been associated with reduced numbers of collected and matured oocytes, possibly related to subsequent atresia of the nondominant follicles from withdrawal of endogenous FSH support. The aspiration technique for immature oocytes

also differs compared with conventional IVF. Transvaginal ultrasound-guided oocyte collection was performed with an aspiration pressure of 100 mmHg. Although the pressure is usually set between 50 and 80 mmHg, in this protocol the pressure was increased to a maximum 100 mmHg instead of prolonging the time of pick-up with low pressure. Extremely high aspiration pressure has been shown to have a negative impact on oocyte development. It takes approximately 10 minutes for oocyte pick-up, and 10 minutes for the evaluation of oocytes per patient. No complications were reported in the oocyte pick-up procedure and all patients were discharged on the same day. The spermatozoa for intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) were prepared using a three-layer PureSperm gradient (Codes PSB-100 and PS-100-100, Mölndal, Gothenburg, Sweden). The whole medium used for ICSI was prepared and incubated for one day prior to the procedure. Ten milliliters of flushing medium without heparin, and 10 mL of paraffin in Falcon flasks were incubated at 37 °C in atmosphere with high humidity without gas, and a Falcon Center-well dish containing a total of 4 mL of universal IVF medium (Medi-Cult, Code 10311010A) including 1 mL in the center and 3 mL in the perimeter covered with liquid paraffin was incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 6% CO, and 5% O, with high humidity. In addition, a Falcon Petri dish with 40-50 µL droplets of interstellar medium (ISM) 1 medium (Medi-Cult, Code 10500010A) covered with 7 mL liquid paraffin was incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 6% CO, and 5% O, with high humidity. For denudation of the oocytes, 0.7 mL flushing medium without heparin was placed in each well of the four-well dish and covered with liquid paraffin. Eleven microliters of HYASE 100 medium (Vitrolife, Code 10017, 5x0.1 mL, Kungsbacka, Sweden) was added in 1 well of the dish. Removal of the cumulus and corona cells was performed in hyaluronidase-containing medium using Pasteur pipettes after a 26-to-28 hour incubation period. There is no consensus as to which formulation is best suited for the purpose of *in vitro* oocyte culture. The oocytes were then transferred to universal-IVF medium for culture. All ICSI procedures were performed in a Falcon Petri dish with droplets of polyvinylpyrrolidone-containing medium for sperm (Vitrolife, Code 10111, 5x0.1 mL) and droplets of flushing medium without heparin for oocytes. After the ICSI procedure, the oocytes were placed into a ISM 1 medium for culture. In most cases, the fertilized embryos were transferred into the uterine cavity on days 2 or 3. The luteal phase was supported with vaginal progesterone (Progestan 200 mg tablet, Koçak Pharmacy, İstanbul, Turkey) administration once daily and 100 µg transdermal estradiol (Estraderm TTS, Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Sweden) administration once daily until the fetal heart beat was detected.

Statistical Analysis

Since this is a case series study without comparisons, we used only excel for analyzing the datas.

Results

The demographic characteristics, clinical and laboratory parameters are listed in Table 1. The mean age of the women included in the study was 28.3 years with a maximum of 33 and minimum of 24 years. The mean infertility time was 5.4 years. The mean antral follicle count on the third day of the menstrual cycle was 10 in the whole group. Anti-müllerian hormone (AMH) levels were measured in 5 mL venous blood drawn specifically for the present study using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. The mean AMH level was 4.79 ng/ dL with a maximum of 6.4 and minimum of 2.6 ng/dL. The mean endometrial thickness was 9.9 mm. The mean retrieved oocyte count was 11.15, and the mean retrieval time was 14.4 minutes. The mean number of obtained metaphase II (MII) oocyte was 7.6. Although only one embryo was transferred to 10 of the 13 patients, two embryos were transferred to the remaining 3 patients. Pregnancy was achieved in six patients, two of these six pregnancies were biochemical pregnancies. The remaining four pregnancies resulted in birth of five healthy babies.

Discussion

The present study shows that IVM converted from stimulated antagonist IVF cycles may be a good alternative approach with favorable outcomes in normo-hyperresponder women whose follicles are resistant to stimulation by gonadotropins. Cycle cancellation due to frustrated follicular growth in normo-hyperresponder patients is an undesirable condition for couples and physicians, and it is not a commonly observed clinical situation. Before cancelling the cycle, day-to-day monitoring or dose oscillations can be used to overcome the follicular arrest. However, in some cases, follicles still resist from growing. Rescue IVM can be offered in such cases to save the cycles from cancellation after giving thorough information about the procedure to couples. It is obvious that, all of the oocytes retrieved in an IVF cycle are not mature, regardless of the chosen IVF protocol. In almost all retrievals, germinal vesicle or MI oocytes were observed, which are discarded from ICSI procedures. IVM has lost its value over time because the clinical outcomes, number of matured oocytes, and developmental competence of embryos are not as good as those obtained from stimulated cycles. Recent advances in ovarian stimulation procedures, safer protocols aimed at decreasing the risk of OHSS, have decreased the attention on IVM^(16,17). However, accumulating data from articles supporting IVM because it is safe, cost-effective, simple, repeatable, flexible, and patient friendly in nature, without the risk of OHSS, it serves as a good treatment option. As such, IVF specialists need to be encouraged to add IVM to their clinical practice instead of neglecting it⁽¹⁸⁻²¹⁾. There are few publications regarding rescue IVM in the literature. Jaroudi et al.⁽²²⁾ were the first to report 3 cases in which IVM was used to secure cycles in poor responders, which resulted

	umberOocyteNumberOfGrade ofTotal dose andOutcomef oocytesretrievalof MIItransferredtransferredduration ofstrieveddurationoocytesembryosGonadotropin(min.)(1U/day)	14 5 1 G2 1500/6 BHCG (-)	2 14 10 1 G2 1500/6 BHCG (-)	0 15 7 1 G2 1500/6 BHCG (-)	15 7 1 G2 1350/6 BHCG (-)	1 15 7 2 G2-G3 1350/6 Live birth 1	15 7 1 G2 1500/6 Live birth 1	1 15 4 2 G2-G2 1350/6 Live birth twin	1 13 7 1 G2 1500/6 BHCG (-)	3 14 9 1 G2 1350/6 BHCG (-)	14 7 1 G2 1500/6 BHCG (-)	12 8 1 G2 1500/6 Biochemical pregnancy	0 17 12 1 G2 1500/6 Biochemical pregnancy	6 15 10 2 G2-G2 1500/6 Live birth 1	radotropin, BHCG: Beta human chorionic gonadotropin, MII: Metaphase II, Min.: Minimum
	Number of transferred embryos	1	1	1	1	2	1	2	Ç		1	1	1	2	opin, MII: Metaphase
	Number of MII oocytes	ĩ	10	7	7	7	r	4	7	6	7	ø	12	10	chorionic gonadotre
	Oocyte retrieval duration (min.)	14	14	15	15	15	15	15	13	14	14	12	17	15	HCG: Beta human
	Number of oocytes retrieved	7	12	10	8	11	6	11	11	13	6	8	20	16	ic gonadotropin, B
	Endometrial thickness on the day of HCG (mm)	11	10	7.8	9.7	9.2	6	8.4	13	10.4	13.5	9.7	7.6	10	G: Human chorioni
atients	D3 AMH	4.7	6.05	4.1	3.6	4.7	4.1	2.6	6.4	6.2	4.2	4.4	6.3	2	mone, HO
of 13 pt	D3 AFC	12	10	ø	7	8	7	6	12	12	12	6	13	12	llerian hor
naracteristics	Duration of infertility (year)	ũ	3	Э	2.5	ĩ	2	8	1	2	12	6	13	5	ıt, AMH: Anti-mü
linical ch	Age	25	33	24	29	28	31	33	24	30	28	30	24	29	ollicle cour.
Table 1. G	Case number	1	2	3	4	2	6	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	AFC: Antral fc

Turk J Obstet Gynecol 2018;15:141-6

in deliveries of healthy babies. In a case report from Turkey, Yalcınkaya et al.⁽²³⁾ studied IVM in a poor responder patient who achieved pregnancy and concluded that IVM could be used in poor responders as a good alternative. Braga et al.⁽²⁴⁾ from Brazil used IVM to mature immature oocytes derived from stimulated cycles but they found that rescue spontaneous maturation of the oocytes did not contribute to clinical pregnancy rates in poor responder women. IVM was studied in patients with repeated oocyte maturation problems from Empty Follicle syndrome (EFS) to oocyte maturation arrest. Patients with Genuine-EFS syndrome (G-EFS) benefited from IVM cycles and achieved ongoing pregnancies⁽²⁵⁾. In a case report of a woman with a history of repeated G-EFS and azoospermia in her husband, oocytes were retrieved and injected with Mic-TESE derived sperms (DC1); a healthy embryo was transferred but pregnancy was not achieved⁽²⁶⁾. Another interesting case report revealed that in Resistant Ovary syndrome, IVM worked and oocyte retrieval, embryonic development, and a successful delivery was achieved⁽²⁷⁾. For managing OHSS, IVM converted from antagonist stimulation cycles were preferred and early hCG priming when the leading follicles were less than 14 mm was planned and favorable laboratory and clinical outcomes were achieved⁽¹¹⁾. That study resembles our study, but their problem was hyper-response, whereas in our study, the main problem was poor ovarian response in normo-hyperresponsive women. IVM was compared with IVF-ICSI procedures concerning miscarriage rates and Buckett et al.⁽²⁸⁾ reported that pregnancy loss and clinical miscarriage rates after IVM was higher compared with IVF-ICSI, but this situation was related to PCOS rather than IVM. The oocyte is the central part of folliculogenesis and follicular growth cannot be separated from oocyte development. The oocyte's journey to maturation is an extraordinary processes and until recently, granulosa cells were thought to be the main contributor of oocyte growth, but the oocyte itself seems to be the key factor in maturation. Two oocyte-derived factors, growth differentiation factor-9 and bone morphogenetic protein-15, moderate regulatory functions and play an important role in oocyte-granulosa cells interaction⁽²⁹⁻³¹⁾. This means that any problem in the follicular environment may interfere with oocyte maturation and also follicular maturation. Apoptotic factors found in the follicular fluids of women with G-EFS explain the early oocyte loss in the follicles, thus IVM remains the treatment of choice in patients with G-EFS. FSH and hCG priming alone in IVM cycles are less successful than FSH and hCG priming together in these cycles. Although the results for FSH and hCG priming together are conflicting in IVM, this approach increases the maturation and fertilization rates and developmental competence when compared with other IVM modalities⁽³²⁾. However, Child et al.⁽³³⁾ studied IVM in unstimulated cycles, cycles primed with FSH, and cycles

primed with both FSH and hCG in PCOS, and reported similar maturation, fertilization, and cleavage potential in all IVM modalities. IVM treatment shifted from stimulated antagonist IVF cycles seems like FSH and hCG priming IVM. The only difference is the selected dose at the beginning of the cycle. Similarly, favorable pregnancy results with insemination of IVM oocytes from unstimulated cycles were obtained in a study conducted by Söderström-Anttila et al.⁽³⁴⁾. In hCGpriming-alone IVM cycles, in vitro-matured oocytes have more multinucleation and worse clinical outcomes when compared with FSH-priming-alone cycles⁽³⁵⁾. However, other studies revealed that priming with FSH alone or FSH with hCG priming together had good embryologic and clinical outcomes compared with unstimulated IVM cycles⁽³⁶⁾. In another article, Fadini et al.⁽³⁷⁾ showed that FSH priming together with hCG priming in IVM cycles had better clinical outcomes compared with FSH priming or hCG priming alone.

Conclusion

hCG-priming IVM can be a good option for women experiencing follicular resistance to gonadotropins in antagonist cycles. By this modality, cycles can be rescued from cancellation with favorable clinical outcomes. Nevertheless, information on the safety of IVM with regard to malformation and developmental outcomes cannot be assessed accurately because only a small number of children have been conceived with IVM.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study is approved by the local ethical committee of Clinart International Hospital (approval number: 000298/18.05.2015).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent were taken from each participating patients.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: E.S.H., Ş.H., Concept: Ş.H., E.H., M.H.D., Design: Ş.H., E.S.H., S.A., A.Z.I., Data Collection or Processing: Ş.H., S.A., M.H.D., Analysis or Interpretation: M.H.D., Ş.H., E.S.H., A.Z.I., Literature Search: Ş.H., E.S.H., S.A., Writing: Ş.H., S.A., M.H.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Steptoe PC, Edwards RG. Birth after the reimplantation of a human embryo. Lancet 1978;2:366.
- 2. Pincus G, Enzmann EV. The comparative behaviour of mammalian eggs in vivo and in vitro: I. The activation of ovarion eggs. J Exp Med 1935;62:665-75.

- 3. Edwards RG. IVF, IVM, Natural cycle IVF, Minimal stimulation IVFtime to rethink. Reprod Biomed Online 2007;15:106-19.
- 4. Nargund G, Frydman R. Towards a more physiological approach to IVF. Reprod Biomed Online 2007;14:550-2.
- 5. Edwards RG. Are minimal stimulation IVF and IVM set to replace routine IVF? Reprod Biomed Online 2007;14:267-70.
- Cha KY, Koo JJ, Ko JJ, Choi DH, Han SY, Yoon TK. Pregnancy after in vitro fertilization of human follicular oocytes collected from nonstimulated cycles, their culture in vitro and their transfer in a donor oocyte program. Fertil Steril 1991;55:109-13.
- Trounson A, Wood C, Kausche A. In vitro maturation and the fertilization and developmental competence of oocytes recovered from untreated polycystic ovarian patients. Fertil Steril 1994;62:353-62.
- Bağış HT, Hacıvelioğlu S, Haydardedeoğlu B, Şimşek E, Çok T, Parlakgümüş A, et al. Prevalance Of Insulin Resistance, Impaired Glucose Tolerans Test And Diabetes Mellitus In Women With Polcystic Ovary Syndrome; Analysis Of 235 Patients. Turk J Obstet Gynecol 2008;5:99-104.
- Reinblatt SL, Son WY, Shalom-Paz E, Holzer H. Contoversies in IVM. J Assist Reprod Genet 2011;28:525-30.
- Kollmann M, Martins WP, Lima ML, Craciunas L, Nastri CO, Richardson A, et al. Strategies for improving outcome of assisted reproduction in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Ultrasound obstet Gynecol 2016;48:709-18.
- Rose BI. A new treatment to avoid severe ovarian hyperstimulation utilizing insights from in vitro maturation therapy. J Assist Reprod Genet 2014;31:195-8.
- Lindenberg S. New approach in patients with polycystic ovaries, lessons for everyone. Fertil Steril 2013;99:1170-2.
- Gremeau AS, Andreadis N, Fatum M, Craig J, Turner K, McVeigh E, et al. In vitro maturation or in vitro fertilization for women with polycystic ovaries? A case-control study of 194 treatment cycles. Fertil Steril 2012;98:355-60.
- 14. Yang ZY, Chian RC. Development of in vitro maturation techniques for clinical applications. Fertil Steril 2017;108:577-84.
- 15. Siristatidis C, Sergentanis TN, Vogiatzi P, Kanavidis P, Chrelias C, Papantoniou N, et al. In vitro maturation in women with vs. without polycystic ovarian syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2015;10:e0134696.
- 16. de Ziegler D, Streuli I, Gayet V, Frydman N, Bajouh O, Chapron C. Retrieving oocytes from small non-stimulated follicles in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): in vitro maturation (IVM) is not indicated in the new GnRH antagonist era. Fertil Steril 2012;98:290-3.
- 17. Practice Committees of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine and the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology. In vitro maturation: a committee opinion Fertil Steril 2013;99:663-6.
- Gulekli B, Kovali M, Aydiner F, Dogan S, Dogan SS. IVM is an alternative for patients with PCO after failed conventional IVF attempt. J Assist Reprod Genet 2011;28:495-9.
- Child TJ, Abdul-Jalil AK, Gulekli B, Tan SL. In vitro maturation and fertilization of oocytes from unstimulated normal ovaries, polycystic ovaries, and women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 2001;76:936-42.

- Lin YH, Hwang JL, Huang LW, Mu SC, Seow KM, Chung J. Combination of FSH priming and hCG priming for in-vitro maturation of human oocytes. Hum Reprod 2003;18):1632-6.
- Fadini R, Mignini Renzini M, Dal Canto M, Epis A, Crippa M, Caliari I, et al. Oocyte in vitro maturation in normo-ovulatory women. Fertil Steril 2013;99:1162-9.
- Jaroudi KA, Hollanders JM, Sieck UV, Roca GL, El-Nour AM, Coskun S. Pregnancy after transfer of embryos which were generated from in-vitro matured oocytes. Hum Reprod 1997;12:857-9.
- Yalcınkaya E, Çalışkan E, Budak O. In vitro maturation may prevent the cancellation of in vitro fertilization cycles in poor responders. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc 2013;14:235-7.
- 24. Braga DP, Figueira Rde C, Ferreira RC, Pasqualotto FF, Iaconelli A Jr, Borges E Jr. Contribution of in-vitro maturation in ovarian stimulation cycles of poor-responder patients. Reprod Biomed Online 2010;20:335-40.
- 25. Hourvitz A, Maman E, Brengauz M, Machtinger R, Dor J. In vitro maturation for patients with repeated in vitro fertilization failure due to "oocyte maturation abnormalities". Fertil Steril 2010;94:496-501.
- 26. Hatırnaz Ş, Hatırnaz E, journal of rare disordes, 2014;2:20-2.
- 27. Li Y, Pan P, Yuan P, Qiu Q, Yang D. Successful live birth in a woman with resistant ovary syndrome following in vitro maturation of oocytes. J Ovarian Res 2016;9:54.
- Buckett WM, Chian RC, Dean NL, Sylvestre C, Holzer HE, Tan SL. Pregnancy loss in pregnancies conceived after in vitro oocyte maturation, conventional in vitro fertilization, and intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Fertil Steril 2008;90:546-50.
- 29. Hutt KJ, Albertini DF. An oocentric view of folliculogenesis and embryogenesis. Reprod Biomed Online 2007;14:758-64.
- Telfer EE, McLaughlin M. Natural history of the mammalian oocyte. Reprod Biomed Online 2007;15:288-95.
- Sirard MA. Follicle environment and quality of in vitro matured oocytes. J Assist Reprod Genet 2011;28:483-8.
- Son WY, Tan SL. Laboratory and embryological aspects of Hcgprimed in vitro maturation cycles for patients with polycystic ovaries. Hum Reprod Update 2010;16:675-89.
- Child TJ, Abdul-Jalil AK, Gulekli B, Tan SL. In vitro maturation and fertilization of oocytes from unstimulated normal ovaries, polycystic ovaries, and women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 2001;76:936-42.
- Söderström-Anttila V, Mäkinen S, Tuuri T, Suikkari AM. Favourable pregnancy results with insemination of in vitro matured oocytes from unstimulated patients. Hum Reprod 2005;20:1534-40.
- 35. Vlaisavljevic V, Cizek-Sajko M. Multinucleation and cleavage embryos derived from in vitro-matured oocytes. Fertil Steril 2006;86:487-9.
- 36. Wynn P, Picton HM, Krapez JA, Rutherford AJ, Balen AH, Gosden RG. Pretreatment with follicle stimulating hormone promotes the numbers of human oocytes reaching metaphase II by in-vitro maturation. Human Reprod 1998;13:3132.
- 37. Fadini R, Dal Canto MB, Renzini M, Brambillasca F, Comi R, Fumagalli D, et al. Effect of different gonadotropin priming on IVM of oocytes from women with normal ovaries: a prospective randomized study. Reprod Biomed Online 2009;19:343-51.





A retrospective comparative study of prednisolone use in antagonist co-treated assisted reproductive technology cycles for patients with good prognosis

Yardımcı üreme teknikleri ile tedavi edilecek iyi prognozlu hastaların antagonist sikluslarında prednizolon kullanımı retrospektif karşılaştırma

 Batuhan Özmen¹,
 Emre Göksan Pabuçcu²,
 Yavuz Emre Şükür¹,
 Hasan Ulubaşoğlu³,
 Can Ateş⁴,
 Murat Sönmezer¹, Bülent Berker¹, Cem Somer Atabekoğlu¹

¹Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

²Ufuk University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

³Ondokuz Mayıs University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Samsun, Turkey

⁴Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Ankara, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: To investigate the impact of peri-implantation prednisolone use and its duration in antagonist co-treated assisted reproductive technology (ART) cycles of patients with good prognosis.

Materials and Methods: Infertile patients treated with gonadotropin-releasing hormone antagonist protocol between January 2010 and June 2013 were included. The patients in group A (n=196) received no prednisolone. The patients in groups B (n=397) and C (n=371) received 5 mg oral prednisolone daily, for 4 and 12 days following embryo transfer, respectively. The main outcome parameter was live birth rate. **Results:** The ages of the groups were 30.1 ± 4.6 , 31.5 ± 4.5 , and 30.9 ± 4.7 years, respectively (p=0.163). There was no statistically significant difference

between the groups regarding cycle characteristics. Implantation rates were 20.7%, 24.6%, and 23.8%, respectively (p=0.163). Miscarriage rates were 1.5%, 3.5%, and 3.2%, respectively (p=0.859). Live birth rates were 28.7%, 29.3%, and 32.8%, respectively (p=0.482). **Conclusion:** Empiric prednisolone administration during the peri-implantation period does not seem to have beneficial effects in ART cycles of patients

with good prognosis.

Keywords: Assisted reproductive technology, glucocorticoid, gonadotropin-releasing hormone antagonist, peri-implantation period

Öz

Amac: Yardımcı üreme teknikleri (YÜT) ile tedavi edilecek iyi prognozlu hastaların antagonist sikluslarında peri-implantasyon döneminde prednizolon kullanımının etkisinin araştırılması

Gereç ve Yöntemler: Ocak 2010 ile Haziran 2013 arasında gonadotropin releasing hormon antagonist protoklü ile tedavi edilen infertil hastalar dahil edilmiştir. A grubundaki hastalar (n=196) prednizolon kullanmamıştır. B grubundaki (n=397) ve C grubundaki (n=371) hastalar embriyo transferini takiben sırasıyla 4 gün ve 12 gün 5 mg oral prednizolon kullanmıştır. Ana sonuç parametresi canlı doğum oranıdır.

Bulgular: Grupların yaş ortalamaları sırasıyla 30,1±4,6, 31,5±4,5 ve 30,9±4,7 yıldı (p=0,163). Siklus özellikleri açısından gruplar arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı fark yoktu. Düşük oranları sırasıyla %1,5, %3,5, ve %3,2 olarak bulundu (p=0,859). Canlı doğum oranları sırasıyla %28,7, %29,3 ve %32,8 olarak bulundu (p=0,482).

Sonuç: İyi prognozlu hastaların YÜT sikluslarında peri-implantasyon döneminde ampirik prednizolon kullanımının olumlu etkisi yoktur. Anahtar Kelimeler: Yardımcı üreme teknikleri, glukokortikoid, gonadotropin releasing hormon antagonisti, peri-implantasyon dönemi

PRECIS: In the present study, we evaluated peri-implantation prednisolone use and its duration in a large cohort of patients undergoing assisted reproductive technology with good prognosis.

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Yavuz Emre Şükür, MD,

Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 533 240 93 81 E-mail: yesukur@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0815-3522 Received/Gelis Tarihi: 07.04.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 26.04.2018

©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

response or fertilization failure. For eligible participants, we

Introduction

The implantation process of the embryo is a consequence of complex molecular interactions involving many cytokines, growth factors, and immune cells^(1,2). In this regard, several molecules have been suggested to improve implantation and contribute to successful pregnancy when administered during the peri-implantation period. Glucocorticoids, well-known agents with anti-inflammatory and immune suppressive properties, have been investigated for the last few decades and conflicting data have been published⁽³⁻⁸⁾. Some authors advocate the beneficial effect in zona-dissected embryos and in the presence of assisted-hatching, whereas others reported significantly higher pregnancies in women with auto-antibodies after the use of glucocorticoids^(6,9-11). On the contrary, several researchers reported no significant beneficial effect of peri-implantation glucocorticoid administration on implantation and clinical pregnancy rates in intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) cycles^(12,13). Published evidence is too limited and heterogeneous to support any firm conclusion on the value of preimplantation prednisolone use in assisted reproductive technology (ART) for patients considered to have good prognosis. In the present study, we aimed to investigate the impact of peri-implantation prednisolone use and its duration in antagonist co-treated ART cycles of patients with good prognosis.

Materials and Methods

Infertile patients treated with gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) antagonist co-treated ART in the Infertility Centre of Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Turkey, between January 2010 and June 2013 were included in this retrospective cohort study. The clinic where the present study was conducted belongs to a tertiary referral hospital that mainly serves the central and east side of the country with approximately 1000 ART cycles per year. The Institutional Review Board of Ankara University Faculty of Medicine approved the study (approval number: 08-341-16). The first stimulation cycle for each subject was included in the study to prevent possible crossover bias between the groups. The inclusion criteria were being female, age 18-40 years, baseline follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) level <15 IU/L, diagnosed as tubal factor or unexplained infertility, ICSI treatment, and with complete birth data. The exclusion criteria were body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m², presence of any untreated thyroid dysfunction/hyperprolactinemia, diminished ovarian reserve according to the Bologna criteria⁽¹⁴⁾ or premature ovarian failure, uterine abnormality, positive tests for antinuclear, anti-double-stranded DNA, anticardiolipin antibodies or lupus anticoagulant, male factor infertility, endometriosis, frozen-thaw cycles, cycles managed with assisted hatching, and cycles with day 5 embryo transfer (ET). Cycle cancellations were performed due to a lack of ovarian

extracted all data regarding controlled ovarian stimulation (COS) and clinical outcomes from the database, and divided the patients into three groups according to their prednisolone administration protocol. Group A received no prednisolone. Groups B and C received 5 mg oral prednisolone daily for 4 and 12 days following ET, respectively. The different prednisolone protocols were due to the primary physician's choice. Ovarian stimulation was performed with recombinant FSH (Gonal-F, Merck-Serono, İstanbul, Turkey) beginning from the second day of the menstrual cycle with a fixed starting dosage of 150 IU/day. Dose adjustment was performed individually according to ovarian response. The GnRH antagonist (Cetrotide, Merck-Serono, İstanbul, Turkey) was introduced (0.25 mg/day) on the sixth day (fixed antagonist protocol) and continued throughout ovarian stimulation. When at least three follicles were ≥18 mm, recombinant human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) 250 µg (Ovitrelle, Merck-Serono, İstanbul, Turkey) was used for final oocyte maturation. Transvaginal ultrasonography-guided oocyte pick-up (OPU) was performed 35-36 hours after the hCG trigger. ET was performed on the 3rd day of OPU. A maximum of two embryos were transferred under ultrasound guidance due to national ET regulations⁽¹⁵⁾. Embryos on the 2nd and 3rd days were classified as cleavage stage embryos and were graded based on cell numbers and the degree of fragmentation. All women were administered luteal phase support through 90 mg/day vaginal micronized progesterone (Crinone 8% gel; Merck-Serono, İstanbul, Turkey) commenced on OPU day. In the event of pregnancy, luteal phase support was continued until 10 weeks of gestation. Pregnancy and clinical pregnancy were defined, respectively, by measuring serum β -hCG levels 2 weeks after ET and as the presence of heartbeat at 6-7 weeks of gestation. The implantation rate was calculated separately for each woman as the number of gestational sacs divided by the number of transferred embryos multiplied by 100. The primary outcome measure was live birth rate (LBR).

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) 15.0 for Windows software was used for all statistical analyses. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test normal distribution of continuous parameters. When distribution of a continuous variable was normal, parametric tests were preferred. Continuous variables were compared using the One-Way ANOVA test. Categorical variables were compared using the chi-square test. Continuous data where descriptive tests used are presented as mean \pm standard deviation and categorical data are presented as frequency (percentage). A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. While planning the present study, we were not able to detect any previous studies investigating the effect of peri-implantation period use of prednisolone and its dosage in ART cycles of patients with good prognosis. Hypothetically, when a power analysis was performed with 80% power and an α value of 0.05 for an approximately 5% difference in LBR per cycle, the patient number for each study arm should be 1328 for the confirmation of statistical significance. Thus, in the present study, type 2 statistical error could not be excluded for this parameter. Considering the difficulty of recruiting so many participants to a single-centre trial, the aim was to finish the current trial using the data of the available cohort such that it could be included in future meta-analyses on the issue.

Results

During the study period, a total of 2970 ART cycles were performed in our unit. Among those, 1226 were first ART cycles of tubal factor or unexplained infertility patients, among whom 78 (6.3%) patients with BMI >30 kg/m² and 184 (15%) patients with frozen-thawed or day 5 ET were excluded. As a result, the data of 964 first ART cycles of patients with good prognosis were found eligible for assessment.

The demographic characteristics of the study and control groups are presented in Table 1 and the cycle characteristics of the groups are presented in Table 2. The outcome measures of

the study are presented in Table 3. There were no statistically significant differences between the groups regarding clinical pregnancy, ongoing pregnancy, and LBRs.

Discussion

The aim of the present study was to investigate the impact of peri-implantation prednisolone use and its duration in antagonist co-treated ART cycles of patients with good prognosis. We found no significant impact of prednisolone administration during the peri-implantation period and its duration on implantation and clinical pregnancy rates and LBR in antagonist co-treated ART cycles of patients with good prognosis. To the best of our knowledge, this analysis is the largest evaluation of the effect of peri-implantation prednisolone use in antagonist co-treated cycles, and is the only comparison of two different doses of prednisolone. Immune suppressive properties of glucocorticoids have been questioned in terms of enhancing outcomes when administered during peri-implantation period because several factors are effective on implantation process. Although several studies and meta-analyses reported beneficial effects on pregnancy rates, those studies included patients with recurrent miscarriages⁽¹⁶⁻¹⁸⁾. However, in our

 Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the study groups

	Gr	oup A (n=196)	Group B (n=397)	Group C (n=371)	р
Age (years) ^a	30.	.1±4.6	31.5±4.5	30.9±4.7	0.065
Duration of infertility (years) ^a	6.2	±1.6	6.8±3.9	7.0±3.8	0.253
Basal Estradiol (pg/mL) ^a	46.	.7±35.9	51.9±33.7	48.5±26.3	0.020 ^b
Basal FSH (mIU/mL) ^a	7.5	5±2.6	7.8±3.5	7.9±4.7	0.605

Group A received no prednisolone, group B received prednisolone for 4 days, group C received prednisolone for 12 days.⁴: All values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation, statistical analysis was performed using the One-Way ANOVA test, ^b: The significance stems from the difference between groups A and B (p<0.05), FSH: Follicle-stimulating hormone

Table 2. C	Cycle charact	eristics of	the st	udy g	roups
------------	---------------	-------------	--------	-------	-------

	Group A (n=196)	Group B (n=397)	Group C (n=371)	р
Duration of stimulation (days) ^a	10.4±3.6	10.4±2.3	10.8±2.1	0.051
Total dose of gonadotropins (IU) ^a	2338±868	2471±827	2350±787	0.067
Max E_2 (pg/mL) ^a	2306±1179	2001±1204	1829±1137	$< 0.001^{b}$
Retrieved oocytes (n) ^a	9.0±5.7	8.8±6.1	8.4±5.2	0.492
MII oocytes (n) ^a	6.8±4.5	6.8±5.2	6.8±4.6	0.996
Fertilization rate (%) ^a	67.4±29.3	62.6±28.7	63.7±32.6	0.051
Endometrial thickness on day of OPU (mm) ^a	10.5±1.7	10.2±1.5	10.1±2.4	0.058
No of transferred embryos (n) ^a	1.5±0.7	1.5±0.8	1.5±0.8	0.522
Implantation rate (%) ^a	20.7±35	24.6±35.6	23.8±33	0.163

Group A received no prednisolone, group B received prednisolone for 4 days, group C received prednisolone for 12 days. *All values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed using the One-Way ANOVA test, ^b: The significance stems from the differences between groups A and B (p<0.01), Groups A and C (p<0.01) and groups B and C (p<0.01), E; Estradiol, OPU: Oocyte pick-up, MII: Metaphase

	Group A (n=196)	Group B (n=397)	Group C (n=371)	р
Clinical pregnancy, n (%)ª	59 (33.1%)	135 (34.0%)	144 (39.2%)	0.263
Ongoing pregnancy, n (%) ^a	56 (31.5%)	121 (30.6%)	132 (35.7%)	0.292
Live birth, n (%) ^a	51 (28.7%)	116 (29.3%)	120 (32.8%)	0.482
Miscarriage, n (%) ^a	3 (1.5%)	14 (3.5%)	12 (3.2%)	0.859
Cycle cancellation, n (%) ^a	16 (8.2%)	25 (6.4%)	20 (5.6%)	0.487

Table 3. Comparison of outcome measures

study, we investigated the effect of prednisolone on patients with good prognosis. In the meta-analysis by Boomsma et al.⁽⁷⁾ including 14 RCTs and 1879 couples, the empiric use of prednisolone during the peri-implantation period was assessed and a borderline statistically significant increase in pregnancy rates was reported in in vitro fertilization but not in ICSI cycles, suggesting its limited use in ICSI cycles. Despite these results, the authors made their conclusions with caution because the included trials in which ICSI was used were very few and clinically heterogeneous. However, in our study, we included only first ICSI cycles of patients with good prognosis to obtain a relatively homogenous cohort. In the present study, we investigated prednisolone 5 mg because lower doses have already been reported to reveal similar immune-suppression and pregnancy outcomes when compared with higher doses^(12,19,20). According to the results of our study, short and long-term use of prednisolone has a similar effect on implantation and pregnancy rates. Additionally, only antagonist co-treated cycles were included because this protocol has widely replaced GnRH agonist cycles globally with its applicability and non-inferior outcomes. The implantation and pregnancy rates were consistent with rates in the available literature, especially with those of Ubaldi et al.⁽¹²⁾ who also included patients with good prognosis and used low-dose glucocorticoid. The large number of subjects included in the analyses and the strict inclusion criteria of those with good prognosis were the main strengths of our study. The available LBR data might be of some interest. Moreover, we assessed the impact of prednisolone duration, comparing short and prolonged use. According to the results, neither short nor long-course peri-implantation-period prednisolone administration has any benefit in antagonist cotreated ART cycles of patients with good prognosis. Hence, prednisolone should not be prescribed for routine ART cycles. The results of our study may be used in future metaanalyses investigating prednisolone administration in ART cycles of patients with good prognosis. Large randomized clinical trials may be more suggestive on prednisolone use in patients undergoing ICSI with good prognosis.

The retrospective nature and lack of randomization are the main limitations of the present study. Another limitation is the different manipulations during the COS protocols, mainly dose adjustment and duration of prednisolone treatment, due to primary physician preferences, which could affect the outcome. Moreover, the low power of the statistical analysis can be noted as a limitation. However, given the select nature of our population, attaining such a large cohort was unrealistic in a single-centre study.

Conclusion

In the present study we could not find an unequivocal beneficial effect of empiric prednisolone administration during the peri-implantation period in women undergoing their first ART cycle with an antagonist protocol. According to the results of our study, within the context of its limitations, a complete shift in clinical practice cannot be suggested.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ankara University Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 08-341-16).

Informed Consent: Not applicable.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.Ö., M.S., B.B., C.S.A., Concept: B.Ö., E.G.P., Design: B.Ö., Y.E.Ş., Data Collection or Processing: H.U., E.G.P., Analysis or Interpretation: C.S.A., B.Ö., Y.E.Ş., Literature Search: Y.E.Ş., H.U., E.G.P., Writing: Y.E.Ş., H.U., E.G.P., B.Ö.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Dey SK, Lim H, Das SK, Reese J, Paria BC, Daikoku T, et al. Molecular cues to implantation. Endocr Rev 2004;25:341-73.
- 2. Ledee-Bataille N, Bonnet-Chea K, Hosny G, Dubanchet S, Frydman R, Chaouat G. Role of the endometrial tripod interleukin-18, -15, and -12 in inadequate uterine receptivity in patients with a history of repeated in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer failure. Fertil Steril 2005;83:598-605.
- Polak de Fried E, Blanco L, Lancuba S, Asch RH. Improvement of clinical pregnancy rate and implantation rate of in-vitro fertilizationembryo transfer patients by using methylprednisone. Hum Reprod 1993;8:393-5.

- Moffitt D, Queenan JT Jr, Veeck LL, Schoolcraft W, Miller CE, Muasher SJ. Low-dose glucocorticoids after in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer have no significant effect on pregnancy rate. Fertil Steril 1995;63:571-7.
- Bider D, Menashe Y, Goldenberg M, Dulitzky M, Lifshitz A, Dor J. Dexamethasone as an adjuvant therapy for anovulatory, normoandrogenic patients during ovulation induction with exogenous gonadotropins. J Assist Reprod Genet 1996;13:613-6.
- 6. Primi MP, Senn A, Montag M, Van der Ven H, Mandelbaum J, Veiga A, et al. A European multicentre prospective randomized study to assess the use of assisted hatching with a diode laser and the benefit of an immunosuppressive/antibiotic treatment in different patient populations. Hum Reprod 2004;19:2325-33.
- Boomsma CM, Keay SD, Macklon NS. Peri-implantation glucocorticoid administration for assisted reproductive technology cycles. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;6:CD005996.
- 8. Nyborg KM, Kolte AM, Larsen EC, Christiansen OB. Immunomodulatory treatment with intravenous immunoglobulin and prednisone in patients with recurrent miscarriage and implantation failure after in vitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Fertil Steril 2014;102:1650-5.
- 9. Cohen J, Elser C, Kort H, Malter H, Massey J, Mayer MP, et al. Impairment of the hatching process following IVF in the human and improvement of implantation by assisted hatching using micromanipulation. Hum Reprod 1990;5:7-13.
- Cohen J, Malter H, Elsner C, Kort H, Massey J, Mayer MP. Immunosuppression supports implantation of zona pellucida dissected human embryos. Fertil Steril 1990;53:662-5.
- Ando T, Suganuma N, Furuhashi M, Asada Y, Kondo I, Tomoda Y. Successful glucocorticoid treatment for patients with abnormal autoimmunity on in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer. J Assist Reprod Genet 1996;13:776-81.
- 12. Ubaldi F, Rienzi L, Ferrero S, Anniballo R, Iacobelli M, Cobellis L, et al. Low dose prednisolone administration in routine ICSI patients does not improve pregnancy and implantation rates. Hum Reprod 2002;17:1544-7.

- 13. Duvan CI, Ozmen B, Satiroglu H, Atabekoglu CS, Berker B. Does addition of low-dose aspirin and/or steroid as a standard treatment in nonselected intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles improve in vitro fertilization success? A randomized, prospective, placebocontrolled study. J Assist Reprod Genet 2006;23:15-21.
- 14. Ferraretti P, La Marca A, Fauser BC, Tarlatzis B, Nargund G, Gianaroli L, et al. ESHRE consensus on the definition of 'poor response' to ovarian stimulation for in vitro fertilization: the Bologna criteria. Hum Reprod 2011;26:1616-24.
- Resmi Gazete. Üremeye yardımcı tedavi uygulamaları ve üremeye yardımcı tedavi merkezleri hakkında yönetmelik. Resmi Gazete 2010; 06 Mart, No: 27513. http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/ eskiler/2010/03/20100306-10.htm
- 16. Tang AW, Alfirevic Z, Turner MA, Drury JA, Small R, Quenby S. A feasibility trial of screening women with idiopathic recurrent miscarriage for high uterine natural killer cell density and randomizing to prednisolone or placebo when pregnant. Hum Reprod 2013;28:1743-52.
- Gomaa MF, Elkholy AG, El-Said MM, Abdel-Salam NE. Combined oral prednisolone and heparin versus heparin: the effect on peripheral NK cells and clinical outcome in patients with unexplained recurrent miscarriage. A double-blind placebo randomized controlled trial. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2014;290:757-62.
- 18. Dan S, Wei W, Yichao S, Hongbo C, Shenmin Y, Jiaxiong W, et al. Effect of prednisolone administration on patients with unexplained recurrent miscarriage and in routine intracytoplasmic sperm injection: a meta-analysis. Am J Reprod Immunol 2015;74:89-97.
- Claman HN. Glucocorticosteroids I: anti-inflammatory mechanisms. Hospital Pract (Off Ed) 1983;18:123-6.
- Lee KA, Koo JJ, Yoon TK, Do BR, Ko JJ, Cha KY. Immunosuppression by glucocorticoid has no effect on the pregnancy rate in routine in-vitro fertilization/embryo transfer patients. Hum Reprod 1994;9:1832-5.



Circulating SCUBE1 levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome

Polikistik over sendromlu kadınlarda SCUBE1 düzeyi

© Onur Erol¹, © Hamit Yaşar Ellidağ², © Mustafa Kemal Özel¹, © Aysel Uysal Derbent¹, © Esin Eren² © Necat Yılmaz²

¹University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Antalya, Turkey

²University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Biochemistry, Antalya, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is thought to represent an early manifestation of metabolic syndrome, which is associated with cardiovascular disease. Signal peptide-CUB (complement C1r/C1s, Uegf, and Bmp1)-epidermal growth factor domain-containing protein 1 (SCUBE1) is a platelet activation marker that plays important roles in vascular biology and has been closely linked to cardiovascular events. In the present study, we investigated SCUBE1 levels in lean glucose-tolerant women with PCOS and assessed the possible association between SCUBE1 levels and hormonal and metabolic features of women with PCOS.

Materials and Methods: The study population consisted of 90 lean [body mass index (BMI) <25 kg/m²] women who were diagnosed as having PCOS using the Rotterdam criteria and 100 age- and BMI-matched healthy controls with no clinical or biochemical feature of hyperandrogenism. Glucose tolerance was evaluated in all subjects before recruitment using the 2 h 75 g oral glucose tolerance test, and only those exhibiting normal glucose tolerance were enrolled. Hormonal and metabolic parameters, and serum SCUBE1 levels were evaluated.

Results: Circulating SCUBE1 levels were significantly higher in women with PCOS than in controls (5.9±3.9 vs. 4.2±1.4 ng/mL, p=0.022). No association between SCUBE1 level and clinical or biochemical parameters was found in the control or PCOS group.

Conclusion: SCUBE1 levels are elevated in women with PCOS compared with those in healthy controls; thus, this protein may be an early biomarker of cardiovascular disease later in life.

Keywords: Platelet activation, Polycystic ovary syndrome, SCUBEI

Öz

Amaç: Polikistik over sendromu (PKOS), kardiyovasküler hastalıkla ilişkili olan metabolik sendromun erken bulgusu olarak düşünülmektedir. Signal peptide-CUB (complement C1r/C1s, Uegf, and Bmp1)-epidermal büyüme faktörü domain-containing protein 1 (SCUBE1) vasküler biyolojide önemli rol oynayan ve kardiyovasküler olaylarla yakından ilişkili olan bir trombosit aktivasyon belirtecidir. Bu çalışmada, normal kilo ve glukoz toleransı olan PKOS'li kadınlarda SCUBE1 düzeyleri ve bu düzeylerin hormonal ve metabolik özellikler arasındaki olası ilişkinin değerlendirmesi amaçlanmıştır.

Gereç ve Yöntemler: Çalışmaya normal kiloya sahip [vücut kitle indeksi (VKl) <25 kg/m²], Rotterdam kriterlerine göre PKOS tanısı konulan 90 hasta ile yaş ve VKl eşleştirilmiş klinik ve biyokimyasal hiperandrojenizm bulgusu olmayan 100 kontrol hastası dahil edildi. Tüm olgulara 2 saatlik 75 gr oral glukoz toleransı testi uygulandı ve sadece normal glukoz toleransı olan olgular çalışmaya dahil edildi. Hormonal ve metabolik parametreler, serum SCUBE1 düzeyleri değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: SCUBE1 seviyeleri, PKOS'li kadınlarda kontrol grubuna göre anlamlı olarak daha yüksek saptandı (5,9±3,9'a karşı 4,2±1,4 ng/mL, p=0,022). Kontrol veya PKOS grubunda SCUBE1 seviyesi ile klinik veya biyokimyasal parametreler arasında ilişki bulunmadı.

Sonuc: PKOS'li kadınlarda SCUBE1 seviyeleri, sağlıklı kontrol grubundakilere göre daha yüksektir; bu nedenle, bu protein yaşamın ileri döneminde gelişebilecek kardiyovaskuler hastalıkların erken biyobelirteci olabilir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Trombosit aktivasyonu, Polikistik over sendromu, SCUBE1

PRECIS: Circulating SCUBE1 levels are elevated in women with Polycystic ovary syndrome compared with those in healthy controls; thus, this protein may be an early biomarker of cardiovascular disease later in life.

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Onur Erol, MD,

©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Antalya, Turkey Phone: +90 532 252 48 25 E-mail: dronurerol@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7411-1200 Received/Gelis Tarihi: 11.04.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 27.06.2018

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is one of the most common endocrine disorders in women of reproductive age, and is a heterogeneous clinical condition characterized by hyperandrogenism and signs of chronic oligo-/anovulation. The prevalence of PCOS ranges from 6% to 10%, depending on the criteria used, ethnicity, and geographic location⁽¹⁾. Although originally considered to be a gynaecologic disorder, PCOS is associated with reproductive and metabolic disturbances, ovulatory dysfunction, hyperandrogenism, including dyslipidaemia, increased insulin resistance, and impaired glucose intolerance. Furthermore, PCOS is thought to represent an early manifestation of metabolic syndrome, which is associated with cardiovascular disease⁽²⁾. Several cardiovascular risk factors, such as dyslipidaemia, impaired fibrinolysis, chronic low-grade inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, and subclinical and clinical atherosclerosis, are more prevalent in women with PCOS⁽³⁾. In addition, these risks factors are strongly linked to insulin resistance and are compounded by the common occurrence of obesity. Data regarding the long-term cardiovascular consequences of PCOS are conflicting⁽⁴⁾.

Signal peptide-CUB (complement C1r/C1s, Uegf, bone morphogenetic protein-1)-epidermal growth factor-like protein (SCUBE) is an evolutionarily conserved gene family composed of three different isoforms (SCUBE1-3)⁽⁵⁾. SCUBE family members are secretory membrane proteins that play important roles during mouse embryogenesis by regulating extracellular signal transport, molecular adhesion, and migration^(6,7). Although SCUBE1 was originally isolated from vascular endothelial cells, it is stored predominantly in alpha granules of inactive platelets in humans^(8,9). Following platelet activation, SCUBE1 expression is up-regulated and SCUBE1 is translocated to the cell surface, cleaved, and released into circulation in small soluble particles. These circulating fragments enhance platelet-platelet adhesion and agglutination under thrombotic conditions. SCUBE1 accumulates in platelet-rich thrombus and atherosclerotic vascular lesions⁽⁹⁾. An experimental study showed that genetic loss or functional neutralisation of soluble SCUBE1 prevents thrombosis⁽¹⁰⁾. In addition, a single nucleotide polymorphism of the SCUBE1 gene is associated with enhanced risk of venous thromboembolism⁽¹¹⁾. Taken together, these data suggest that SCUBE1 is involved in modulating vascular biology. In this study, we aimed to investigate SCUBE1 levels in lean glucose-tolerant women with PCOS, and to assess the possible associations between SCUBE1 levels and the hormonal and metabolic features of this syndrome.

Materials and Methods

This prospective case-control study was conducted at the Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Antalya, Turkey, between June 2015 and March 2016. The Ethics Committee

of the institution approved this study, and all subjects provided written informed consent. A total of 190 lean [body mass index [BMI] <25 kg/m²] patients, aged 20-35 years, with normal glucose tolerance (NGT), were recruited from the outpatient gynaecology clinic of our institution. The study group consisted of 90 women diagnosed with PCOS using the revised 2003 Rotterdam consensus criteria as the presence of two of the following three features: 1) oligomenorrhea (inter-menstrual interval >35 days) or amenorrhea (absence of menstruation for 3 consecutive months), 2) clinical and/or biochemical signs of hyperandrogenism, and 3) polycystic ovaries as revealed by typical imaging features on ultrasonographic examination (12 or more follicles 2-9 mm in diameter in each ovary and/or ovarian volume >10 cm³)⁽¹²⁾. One hundred healthy women with no clinical or biochemical features of hyperandrogenism were recruited as the control group. All of the control subjects were ovulatory as evidenced by regular menstruation (lasting 21 to 35 days) and luteal-phase serum progesterone levels >5 ng/mL. The PCOS and control groups were matched in terms of both age and BMI. Glucose tolerance was evaluated before study recruitment using the criteria of the American Diabetes Association⁽¹³⁾. Thus, the 2 h 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) was administered to all subjects, and only those with NGT were enrolled. NGT was defined as a fasting glucose level <100 mg/dL or a 2 h glucose level <140 mg/dL. Exclusion criteria were impaired glucose regulation, diabetes mellitus (DM), hyperprolactinemia, thyroid dysfunction, Cushing's syndrome, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, acromegaly, hypothalamic disorder, hypertension, systemic inflammatory disease, any vascular disorder, coagulation abnormalities, history of alcohol consumption or smoking, and family history of DM and/or PCOS. No participant had taken any medication known to affect hormone, lipid, or carbohydrate metabolism (e.g. insulin-sensitising drugs, oral contraceptives, anti-androgens, corticosteroids, statins, or aspirin) within the previous 3 months. Late-onset congenital adrenal hyperplasia was excluded by measuring a normal 17-hydroxyprogesterone level (<1.2 ng/mL during the early follicular phase) in a baseline morning blood sample.

Anthropomorphic and clinical measurements

As part of the physical examination, weight and height of each patient were recorded, and BMI was calculated using the formula: weight (kg)/height (m²). Waist and hip circumferences were measured in a standing position with the feet fairly close together. Waist circumference was measured midway between the lower rib margin and the iliac crest, and hip circumference was measured over the maximum circumference of the buttocks, to calculate the waist/hip ratio (WHR). Systolic and diastolic blood pressure of each patient was measured after a 10 min rest and recorded. The modified Ferriman-Gallwey figure was self-scored after all participants were given an explanation and demonstration in full detail⁽¹⁴⁾. Hyperandrogenism was defined as clinical hirsutism (modified Ferriman-Gallwey score ≥8), acne, alopecia, and/ or an elevated androgen level (total testosterone >0.75 ng/ mL (manufacturer's reference range: 0.1-0.75 ng/mL) and/ or dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate (DHEAS) >430 µg/dL (manufacturer's reference range: 35-430 µg/dL). Ovarian morphology was evaluated by transvaginal ultrasonography or transabdominal ultrasonography (DC-7, Mindray Medical International Ltd., Shenzhen, China) with a distended bladder in virginal women on the same day that blood samples were obtained.

Biochemical Analysis

Laboratory tests were performed during the early follicular phase (days 3-7 of the menstrual cycle) after a spontaneous bleeding episode, or independent of the cycle phase if amenorrhea was evident. Baseline blood samples were obtained from large forearm antecubital veins after a 12 h overnight fast, and all subjects underwent the standard 2 h 75 g OGTT. The blood samples were placed in plain tubes, stored at room temperature for at least 30 min to allow clotting, and centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C to separate the serum. Concentrations of serum glucose, insulin, and other hormone and lipid parameters were assayed immediately. Additional serum was isolated from fasting blood samples and stored at -80 °C for later analysis of SCUBE1 level. Serum follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH), total testosterone, and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) levels were determined using a two-site immunoenzymatic method, and DHEAS levels were measured using a competitive binding immunoenzymatic method employing a commercially available kit (Beckman Coulter Diagnostics, Fullerton, CA, USA) and an autoanalyer (Access DxI800; Beckman Coulter). Serum 17-hydroxyprogesterone levels were determined using a commercially available kit (DiaMetra, Segrate, Italy) and an autoanalyzer (Etimax 3000; DiaSorin, Stillwater, MN, USA). Glucose levels were measured using the hexokinase technique and a commercially available kit (Beckham AU5800; Beckham Coulter). Insulin levels were determined using a chemiluminescent assay (AccessDxI800; Beckman Coulter). Serum triglyceride, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein, and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels were determined using an autoanalyzer (Beckman AU5800; Beckman Coulter). The intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation (CVs) for all assays were 5% and 10%, respectively.

The free androgen index (FAI) was calculated as total serum testosterone level (nmol/L) ×100/SHBG (nmol/L). We estimated insulin resistance using the homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) index, defined as fasting plasma insulin value (μ U/mL) × fasting plasma glucose value (mg/dL)/405⁽¹⁵⁾. Insulin sensitivity was calculated using the quantitative insulin-sensitivity check index (QUICKI), according to the following formula: 1/[log (fasting insulin

level (μ U/mL) + log (fasting glucose level (mg/dL)]⁽¹⁶⁾.

Serum SCUBE1 levels were measured using a commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (cat no. E-EL-H5405; Elabscience Biotechnology, Wuhan, China), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Assay sensitivity was 0.38 ng/mL, and the inter- and intra-assay CVs were <10% and 8%, respectively.

Statistical Analysis

The normality of data distribution was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables are presented as mean ± standard deviation if normally distributed or as median (range) if not normally distributed. Between-group differences were detected using Student's t-test for parametric data and the Mann-Whitney U test for nonparametric data. Correlations between SCUBE1 levels and other parameters were calculated using Pearson's correlation analysis (normally distributed data) or Spearman's rank test (data not normally distributed). Two-sided p values <0.05 were considered to be significant. The statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS ver. 18.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

The clinical characteristics and biochemical data of the control subjects and patients with PCOS are presented in Table 1. These parameters were similar between the two groups because the participants were matched in terms of age and BMI (p>0.05). As expected, the hirsutism score was significantly higher in patients with PCOS than in the control group (p<0.001). Obstetric history and WHR did not differ between the groups (p>0.05). Serum levels of LH and total testosterone, as well as the FAI were significantly higher, but serum SHBG level was significantly lower in women with PCOS than in the control group (p<0.05 for all). On the other hand, no differences in FSH, 17-hydroxyprogesterone, DHEAS, insulin, fasting or 2 h post-load glucose concentration, HOMA-IR or QUICKI values or lipid parameters were detected between the two groups. Serum SCUBE1 levels were significantly higher in patients with PCOS than in the controls (5.9±3.9 vs. 4.2±1.4 ng/mL, p=0.022). Serum SCUBE1 levels in patients with PCOS stratified according to hyperandrogenism were not statistically different from one another (5.8±2.8 ng/mL in normoandrogenic PCOS vs. 5.9±3.1 ng/mL in hyperandrogenic PCOS, p=0.91). No significant correlation was found between SCUBE1 concentrations and any clinical or biochemical parameters in either group (Table 2).

Discussion

Our results show that serum levels of SCUBE1, a platelet activation marker, were significantly higher in young, lean glucose-tolerant women with PCOS than in age- and BMI-matched healthy controls. Moreover, no significant correlations were detected between any hormonal or metabolic

Table 1. Clinical and laboratory features of the control and Polycystic ovary syndrome groups

	Control (n=100)	PCOS (n=90)	p value
Age (years)	26.6±5.1	25.1±4.5	0.118
Anthropometric measurements			
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.1±1.9	22.3±1.7	0.467
WHR	0.74±0.04	0.75±0.03	0.737
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	117.3±5.8	120.4±9.5	0.45
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	70.8±5.3	74.6±3.5	0.52
Hirsutism score	5.1±1.9	14.2±7.1	<0.001*
Hormonal components			
FSH (mIU/mL)	5.5±1.7	5.6±1.5	0.774
LH (mIU/mL)	4.5±3.1	10.1±5.4	<0.001*
17-OHP (ng/mL)	0.8±0.3	0.7±0.3	0.127
Androgens			
Total testosterone (ng/mL)	0.4±0.1	0.6±0.2	< 0.001*
DHEAS (µg/dL)	230.8±110.8	264.2±112.5	0.117
SHBG (nmol/L)	55.5±26.8	42.1±29.5	<0.001*
Free androgen index	3.1±2.2	7.1±5.7	0.002*
Insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance			
Fasting insulin (mIU/mL)	8.1±3.7	9.8±5.7	0.247
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	85.8±6.5	86.1±7.1	0.468
2 h glucose (mg/dL)	88.8±17.4	91.2±17.7	0.392
HOMA-IR	1.7±0.8	2.1±1.2	0.279
QUICKI	0.35±0.03	0.36±0.02	0.301
Lipid profiles			
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	89.8±39.9	98.3±51.9	0.122
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	160.8±31.8	170.2±32.8	0.133
HDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	62.4±24.4	51.7±12.6	0.111
LDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	89.2±21.5	92.9±20.1	0.064
SCUBE1 (ng/mL)	4.2±1.4	5.9±3.9	0.022*

Values are given as mean ± SD or median (range) as indicated PCOS: Polycystic ovary syndrome, BMI: Body mass index, WHR: Waist-hip ratio, FSH: Follicle-stimulating hormone, LH: Luteinizing hormone, 17-OHP: 17-hydroxyprogesterone, DHEAS: Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, SHBG: Sex hormone-binding globulin, HOMA-IR: Homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance, QUICKI: Quantitative insulin-sensitivity check index, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, LDL: Low-density lipoprotein *Significant difference

PCOS parameters and SCUBE1 concentrations. These results suggest that PCOS, in the absence of obesity and glucose intolerance, results in increased platelet activation, even in young women. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate SCUBE1 levels in women with PCOS. Although platelets are involved in fundamental processes of vascular biology, excess platelet activation may lead to platelet-mediated thrombosis and associated clinical ischemic events. Several studies have investigated SCUBE1 as a marker of platelet activation in such patients. Dai et al⁽¹⁷⁾. reported that SCUBE1 was elevated in patients with acute coronary syndrome and acute ischaemic stroke compared with patients with chronic coronary disease and healthy controls. These findings were corroborated by Sonmez et al.,⁽¹⁸⁾ who reported that the analysis of circulating SCUBE1 levels provided useful diagnostic information to distinguish patients with acute coronary syndrome from those with non-coronary chest pain. Given the relationship between platelet hyperactivity

	Control		PCOS	
	r	p value	r	p value
Age	0.036	0.824	0.029	0.856
BMI	0.106	0.458	0.149	0.189
WHR	0.176	0.272	0.049	0.666
Hirsutism score	0.022	0.893	0.163	0.152
FSH	0.078	0.627	0.013	0.909
LH	0.163	0.309	0.018	0.875
17-OHP	0.277	0.079	0.048	0.676
DHEAS	0.014	0.932	0.099	0.387
SHBG	-0.238	0.134	0.164	0.261
Total testosterone	-0.1	0.534	-0.012	0.916
Free androgen index	0.054	0.737	0.129	0.259
Fasting insulin	0.086	0.595	0.034	0.767
Fasting glucose	0.163	0.308	0.136	0.231
2-h glucose	0.035	0.828	0.079	0.491
HOMA-IR	0.075	0.643	0.029	0.798
QUICKI	-0.128	0.424	-0.001	0.995
Total cholesterol	-0.201	0.209	-0.128	0.263
Triglyceride	0.084	0.604	0.199	0.079
HDL cholesterol	-0.089	0.578	-0.054	0.636
LDL cholesterol	-0.248	0.119	-0.001	0.991

Table 2. Correlations of SCUBE1 levels with clinical and biochemical parameters in the control and Polycystic ovary syndrome groups

PCOS: Polycystic ovary syndrome, BMI: Body mass index, WHR: Waist-hip ratio, FSH: Follicle-stimulating hormone, LH: Luteinizing hormone, 17-OHP: 17-hydroxyprogesterone, DHEAS: Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, SHBG: Sex hormone-binding globulin, HOMA-IR: Homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance, QUICKI: Quantitative insulin-sensitivity check index, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, LDL: Low-density lipoprotein

and cardiovascular events, extensive interest has developed regarding platelet function in women with PCOS. Dereli et al.⁽¹⁹⁾ demonstrated higher platelet aggregation induced by adenosine diphosphate (ADP), collagen, and epinephrine in a cohort of lean women with PCOS compared with those in ageand BMI-matched controls. Of interest, platelet aggregation was negatively correlated with insulin sensitivity. Rajendran et al.⁽²⁰⁾ found more ADP-induced platelet aggregation and less platelet responsiveness to the inhibitory effects of nitric oxide in lean and obese women with PCOS than in age-matched controls. These authors suggested that hyperandrogenism was responsible for impaired platelet function in women with PCOS because no difference in platelet aggregation was demonstrated between the lean and obese PCOS groups. In contrast, Kahal et al.⁽²¹⁾ found no difference in baseline platelet function, ADP-induced platelet aggregation, or platelet responsiveness to the inhibitory effects of prostacyclin between obese women with PCOS and BMI-matched controls.

These equivocal data can be explained by the use of different PCOS diagnostic criteria and techniques to assess platelet function. In addition to the *in vitro* studies mentioned above, several research groups have investigated in vivo platelet activation biomarkers, such as P-selectin and platelet-derived microparticles (PMPs), in patients with PCOS. P-selectin is an adhesion molecule secreted extracellularly from platelet alpha granules that is involved in platelet aggregation. Yildiz et al.(22) demonstrated that soluble P-selectin levels were significantly higher in young, normal glucose-tolerant women with PCOS than in age-and BMI-matched healthy controls. On the other hand, no significant correlation was observed between soluble P-selectin levels and any anthropometric or biochemical parameter in the PCOS group. PMPs are small vesicles released from the surface of activated or apoptotic platelets as a result of membrane remodelling. PMPs are highly procoagulant due to expression of phospholipids and tissue factors on their outer membranes, which are the main

initiators of the coagulation cascade. Koiou et al.^(23,24) reported higher circulating PMP levels in lean and overweight/obese women with PCOS compared with those in BMI-matched controls. PMPs were correlated with serum testosterone levels⁽²³⁾ and the mean number of ovarian follicles⁽²⁴⁾.

In the present study, serum total testosterone levels and FAI were significantly higher in women with PCOS than in controls. Therefore, we speculate that higher SCUBE1 levels in women with PCOS may be attributable to hyperandrogenaemia. However, we failed to show any correlation between SCUBE1 and total testosterone level, FAI, or any other clinical or biochemical parameter in either the control or PCOS groups. The reason for these results is linked to the fact that we included only lean and normal glucose-tolerant subjects to avoid any confounding effects of obesity and/or impaired glucose tolerance on platelet function^(25,26). Low-grade systemic inflammatory activation in patients with PCOS may contribute, at least in part, to increased SCUBE1 level⁽²⁷⁾. Indeed, SCUBE1 levels increase in response to stimulation by proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-1ß and tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha^{(8)}$. Taken together, these findings suggest that increased SCUBE1 level is an independent contributor to an increased risk of cardiovascular events in women with PCOS, regardless of other traditional risk factors, such as obesity, insulin resistance, and hyperandrogenism.

Study Limitations

The present study has several limitations. Our study design was cross-sectional in nature, and long-term consequences of increased SCUBE1 level in women with PCOS were not evaluated. Another limitation is that although SCUBE1 is derived mainly from platelets; we did not investigate expression of this marker from those cells. Finally, our study subjects were mostly young women; therefore, our results may not be generalizable to older patients with PCOS.

Conclusion

Circulating SCUBE1 levels are elevated in young, lean, glucose-tolerant women with PCOS compared with those in healthy controls; thus, this protein may be an early biomarker of cardiovascular disease later in life. Additional studies are required to clarify the potential impact of SCUBE1 in the pathogenesis of PCOS and to investigate its association on the cardiovascular risk of these patients.

Ethics

Ethics Comittee Approval: The study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee of Antalya Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 2015-81266704).

Informed Consent: All subjects provided written informed consent.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contribution

Concept: O.E., Design: O.E., H.Y.E., Data Collection or Processing: M.K.Ö., H.Y.E., Analysis or Interpretation: O.E., A.U.D., Literature Search: E.E., N.Y., Writing: O.E., H.Y.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: This study was supported by the Scientific Research Fund of Antalya Training and Research Hospital (project number: 2015-084).

References

- 1. Azziz R, Woods KS, Reyna R, Key TJ, Knochenhauer ES, Yildiz BO. The prevalence and features of the polycystic ovary syndrome in an unselected population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:2745-9.
- Caserta D, Adducchio G, Picchia S, Ralli E, Matteucci E, Moscarini M. Metabolic syndrome and polycystic ovary syndrome: an intriguing overlapping. Gynecol Endocrinol 2014;30:397-402.
- Türkçüoğlu I, Kafkasli A, Meydanli MM, Ozyalin F, Taşkapan C. Independent predictors of cardiovascular risk in polycystic ovarian syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol 2011;27:915-9.
- Rizzo M, Berneis K, Spinas G, Rini GB, Carmina E. Long-term consequences of polycystic ovary syndrome on cardiovascular risk. Fertil Steril 2009;91(Suppl 4):1563-7.
- 5. Grimmond S, Larder R, Van Hateren N, Siggers P, Hulsebos TJ, Arkell R, et al. Cloning, mapping, and expression analysis of a gene encoding a novel mammalian EGF-related protein (SCUBE1). Genomics 2000;70:74-81.
- Grimmond S, Larder R, Van Hateren N, Siggers P, Morse S, Hacker T, et al. Expression of a novel mammalian epidermal growth factor-related gene during mouse neural development. Mech Dev 2001;102:209-11.
- Haworth K, Smith F, Zoupa M, Seppala M, Sharpe PT, Cobourne MT. Expression of the Scube3 epidermal growth factor-related gene during early embryonic development in the mouse. Gene Expr Patterns 2007;7:630-4.
- 8. Yang RB, Ng CK, Wasserman SM, Colman SD, Shenoy S, Mehraban F, et al. Identification of a novel family of cell-surface proteins expressed in human vascular endothelium. J Biol Chem 2002;277:46364-73.
- 9. Tu CF, Su YH, Huang YN, Huang YN, Tsai MT, Li LT, et al. Localization and characterization of a novel secreted protein SCUBE1 in human platelets. Cardiovasc Res 2006;71:486-95.
- Wu MY, Lin YC, Liao WJ, Tu CF, Chen MH, Roffler SR, et al. Inhibition of the plasma SCUBE1, a novel platelet adhesive protein, protects mice against thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2014;34:1390-8.
- 11. Heit JA, Cunningham JM, Petterson TM, Armasu SM, Rider DN, DE Andrade M. Genetic variation within the anticoagulant, procoagulant, fibrinolytic and innate immunity pathways as risk factors for venous thromboembolism. J Thromb Haemost 2011;9:1133-42.
- Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and longterm health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 2004;8:19-25.
- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 2014;37(Suppl 1):81-90.
- Coskun A, Ercan O, Arikan DC, Özer A, Kilinc M, Kiran G, et al. Modified Ferriman-Gallwey hirsutism score and androgen levels in Turkish women. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2011;154:167-71.
- 15. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance
and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 1985;28:412-9.

- 16. Katz A, Nambi SS, Mather K, Baron AD, Follmann DA, Sullivan G, et al. Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index: a simple, accurate method for assessing insulin sensitivity in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000;85:2402-10.
- 17. Dai DF, Thajeb P, Tu CF, Chiang FT, Chen CH, Yang RB, et al. Plasma concentration of SCUBE1, a novel platelet protein, is elevated in patients with acute coronary syndrome and ischemic stroke. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51:2173-80.
- Sonmez E, Turkdogan KA, Karabacak M, Civelek C, Yilmaz C, Ozer OF, et al. The diagnostic role of signal peptide-Clr/Cls, Uegf, and Bmp1-epidermal growth factor domain-containing protein 1 in non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome. Am J Emerg Med 2015;33:21-4.
- 19. Dereli D, Ozgen G, Buyukkececi F, Guney E, Yilmaz C. Platelet dysfunction in lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome and association with insulin sensitivity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:2263-8.
- Rajendran S, Willoughby SR, Chan WP, Liberts EA, Heresztyn T, Saha M, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with severe platelet and endothelial dysfunction in both obese and lean subjects. Atherosclerosis 2009;204:509-14.

- 21. Kahal H, Aburima A, Ungvari T, Rigby AS, Dawson AJ, Coady AM, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome has no independent effect on vascular, inflammatory or thrombotic markers when matched for obesity. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2013;79:252-8.
- 22. Yildiz BO, Bozdag G, Harmanci A, Otegen U, Boynukalin K, Vural Z, et al. Increased circulating soluble P-selectin in polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 2010;93:2311-5.
- 23. Koiou E, Tziomalos K, Katsikis I, Kalaitzakis E, Kandaraki EA, Tsourdi EA, et al. Circulating platelet-derived microparticles are elevated in women with polycystic ovary syndrome diagnosed with the 1990 criteria and correlate with serum testosterone levels. Eur J Endocrinol 2011;165:63-8.
- 24. Koiou E, Tziomalos K, Katsikis I, Papadakis E, Kandaraki EA, Panidis D. Platelet-derived microparticles in overweight/obese women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol 2013;29:250-3.
- 25. Coban E, Kucuktag S, Basyigit S. Platelet activation in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. Platelets 2007;18:591-4.
- Anfossi G, Russo I, Trovati M. Platelet dysfunction in central obesity. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2009;19:440-9.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Paterakis T, Kandarakis HA. Indices of lowgrade inflammation in polycystic ovary syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;1092:175-86.



Modified abdominal packing method in "near miss" patients with postpartum hemorrhages

Postpartum kanamalı "near miss" hastalarda modifiye abdominal packing yöntemi

Çetin Kılıççı¹, Mesut Polat², Mehmet Küçükbaş², Mehmet Baki Şentürk¹, Resul Karakuş¹,
 Çiğdem Yayla Abide², Evrim Bostancı Ergen¹, İlter Yenidede¹, Ateş Karateke²

¹İstanbul Zeynep Kamil Woman and Children Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey ²İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: To describe a more effective abdominal packing method in patients with disseminated intravascular coagulation following peripartum hysterectomy due to postpartum hemorrhage (PPH).

Materials and Methods: The present retrospective and descriptive study was conducted to document six cases with refractory pelvic bleeding who underwent a second surgery for PPH between January 2016 and December 2017 at İstanbul Zeynep Kamil Woman and Children Diseases Training and Research Hospital.

Results: Karateke packing was performed to control intra-abdominal massive hemorrhages of five women who were referred to our clinic due to PPH who had undergone peripartum hysterectomy and hypogastric artery ligation but hemostasis could not be provided. In addition, a case of hypovolemic shock due to placenta percreta rupture in a woman who had also undergone an emergency hysterectomy and hypogastric artery ligation, which had failed. Hemostasis was provided in all patients. No method-related complication developed.

Conclusion: Karateke packing is a very easy method to perform, it is more effective than the classic abdominal packing technique, with a low complication rate, and most importantly, life-saving in patients undergoing a peripartum hysterectomy due to PPH and thereafter experiencing diffuse hemorrhage. **Keywords:** Abdominal packing, peripartum hysterectomy, near miss

Öz

Amaç: Postpartum kanama nedeni ile peripartum histerektomi yapılan ancak kanama kontrolü sağlanamayan hastalarda daha etkili bir abdominal packing yöntemi tariflemek.

Gereç ve Yöntemler: İstanbul Zeynep Kamil Kadın ve Çocuk Hastalıkları Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi'nde Ocak 2016-Eylül 2017 tarihleri arasında doğum sonu kanama nedeniyle tekrarlayan cerrahi girişim uygulanan 6 pelvik kanamalı olguyu retrospektif, gözlemsel ve tanımlayıcı olarak inceledik. **Bulgular:** Postpartum kanama nedeniyle kliniğimize refere edilen ve peripartum histerektomi ve hipogastrik arter ligasyonu yapılan; ancak kanama kontrolü sağlanamayan beş olgu ile plasenta perkreata rüptürü nedeniyle hipovolemik şokta olan ve acil histerektomi ve hipogastrik arter ligasyonu yapılan bir olgunun intraabdominal masif kanamalarını kontrol etmek için Karateke usulü packing yapıldı. Tüm hastalarda kanama kontrolü sağlandı. Yönteme bağlı komplikasyon gelişmedi.

Sonuç: Sonuç olatak Postpartum kanama nedeniyle peripartum histerektomi yapılan ve sonrasında hayatı tehdit eden diffüz kanamalarda Karateke packing yöntemi uygulanması oldukça kolay, klasik abdominal packing'ten daha etkili, komplikasyonu az ve herşeyden önemlisi hayat kurtaran bir yöntemdir. **Anahtar Kelimeler:** Abdominal packing, peripartum histerektomi, near miss

PRECIS: Karateke packing method can be used as the last life-saving method in patients with postpartum hemorrhage.

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Çetin Kılıççı, MD,

İstanbul Zeynep Kamil Woman and Children Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 505 644 94 85 E-mail: cetinkilicci@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9674-2505 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 07.04.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 26.06.2018

Introduction

Postpartum hemorrhage (PPH) is the most common cause of maternal death with high morbidity and mortality rates. The maternal mortality rate has fallen in most countries with advances in reaching blood and blood products, multidisciplinary approaches to cases, and the development of comprehensive protocols. In our country, this rate has fallen from 0.28% to 0.14% in last 10 years^(1,2). To maintain sufficient circulation and tissue oxygen supply in PPH, and to stop the hemorrhage simultaneously, interventions such as uterotonic agents, use of Bakri balloon tamponade, B-lynch suture, uterine artery or hypogastric artery ligation, uterine artery embolization, and when necessary, hysterectomy in addition to general obstetric procedures are life-saving^(3,4). The incidence of peripartum hysterectomy is 0.2/1000 deliveries in developed countries; however, this rate is 4.43/1000 deliveries in developing countries⁽¹⁾. Despite such efficient treatment options in PPH, repeat laparotomies may be required to control ongoing hemorrhage following a peripartum hysterectomy in patients administered massive transfusion and developing disseminated intravascular coagulopathy (DIC)⁽⁵⁾. Abdominal packing is a classic technique that is frequently performed in these "near miss" patients who have no other surgical option. Abdominal packing exerts a mechanical pressure over the low pressure venous and capillary vessels of intra-abdominal deperitonized pelvic surfaces and the surgery region and saves time for transfusion of necessary coagulation factors and blood and blood products such as platelets required for the provision of permanent hemostasis. Additionally, abdominal packing gains time for the clearance of mediators preventing intravascular coagulation by the kidney and liver, and treatment of metabolic problems such as DIC, hypothermia, acidosis, and hypovolemic shock occurring in a patient in the intensive care unit⁽⁶⁾. As it was indicated in the review of Touhami et al.,⁽⁷⁾ the decision for pelvic packing is generally taken in the event of the development of nonsurgically controllable hemorrhage associated with clinical and laboratory evidence of coagulopathy and not being able to replace blood loss sufficiently despite continuous hemorrhage after an emergency peripartum hysterectomy. Accordingly, the procedure of pelvic packing may be considered as a "rescue ending procedure".

Indications for pelvic packing after emergency peripartum hysterectomy

- Hemodynamically unstable patient without optimal resuscitation $^{\scriptscriptstyle{(8,9)}}$

- Stabilization of the patient to enable transfer to an adequate $\mathsf{structure}^{(10)}$

- Post hysterectomy hemorrhage with a free interval^(8,11,12)

- Diffuse vaginal laceration related to pelvic bleeding^(13,14)

- Presence of extensive hematoma in the absence of the possibility of embolization $^{\left(11,14\right) }$

In this study, we aimed to describe a new packing method that we considered as a more effective method in hemorrhage cases requiring a peripartum hysterectomy due to PPH after delivery and in "near miss" patients in whom hemostasis could not be provided despite peripartum hysterectomy and who have no other surgical option and require more than one surgery to control the hemorrhage.

Materials and Methods

The present retrospective, observational, and descriptive study was conducted to document patients who had a PPH between January 2016 and December 2017 at Zeynep Kamil Research and Training Hospital. The study protocol was approved by the Zeynep Kamil Women and Children Research Hospital local ethics committee (approval number: 120-2015). Informed consent was provided by all participants. A need for intervention had occurred due to a severe PPH in a total of 310 patients. One hundred sixty-four patients (53%) were referred from external centers. Surgical intervention was performed in the external center in 33 patients. The causes of PPH were as follows: postpartum atony in 212 patients, placental invasion anomalies in 81 patients, a uterine rupture in 7 patients, severe retroperitoneal hematoma secondary to lower genital tract injury in 8 patients, and uterine inversion in 2 patients. The causes of PPH and demographic characteristics of patients are shown in Tables 1 and 2. The following interventions were performed: Bakri balloon tamponade in 50 patients, pelvic devascularization and compression suture in 105 patients, local uterine resection in 33 patients, and peripartum hysterectomy in 122 patients.

Statistical Analysis

A new abdominal packing technique was performed as the final method in six patients undergoing surgery for at least a second time for PPH but not controlled with classic hemostatic methods for whom all surgical methods were exhausted. The data obtained from the study were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software package (SPSS version 10.0) and the results are expressed as mean ± standard deviation.

Results

The packing technique was performed in five women in whom hemostasis could not be achieved despite a peripartum hysterectomy, and in a patient who presented to the emergency department with the clinical picture of hypovolemic shock due to placenta percreta rupture. Relaparotomy had a severe risk for these 6 "near miss" patients. Therefore, to create a more effective compression considering that sufficient compression could not be provided, a new packing method (Karateke packing) was performed. The packing decision in these patients was made by the obstetric emergency bleeding team of our clinic. The demographic characteristics of these 6 patients are presented in Table 3. The packing technique used by the obstetric bleeding team was performed in the following steps: In Karateke packing, a 1 cm incision is performed in the posterior vaginal wall 1-2 cm from the sutured vaginal cuff, and a Bakri balloon is placed into the abdomen by pulling through the vagina. Six to seven soaked and squeezed near hot sponges are wrapped circularly around the balloon (Figure 1) and then the Bakri balloon is inflated with 500-1000 mL saline and put in traction through the vaginal route (Figure 2). Thus, abdomen of the patient becomes filled with sponges around the inflated Bakri balloon. The balloon

Table 1. Characteristics of the patients who underwent peripartum hysterectomy because of postpartum hemorrhage (n=310)

	Mean
Age	32.2±4.57
Gravida	3
Parity	2
Previous cesarean sections	
No	83 (27%)
Yes	227 (73%)
History of repeat C/S	85 (27%)
Gestational week	36
Mode of delivery	
Cesarean delivery	183 (59%)
Vaginal delivery	127 (41%)
Hospital stay (days)	10±5
Preoperative Hct, %	35 (12-47)
Preoperative platelet count	168742±66800
Hct: Hematocrit, C/S: Cesarean sections	7

 Table 2. The causes of postpartum hemorrhages and patients requiring transfusion

Postpartum hemorrhage	
Atony	212
Placenta accreta	81
Retroperitoneal hematoma	8
Uterine rupture	7
Uterine inversion	2
Massive blood cell transfusion	69 (5-30 Unit)
Platelet transfusion	32 (8-100 Unit)
Fibrinogen	86 (2-20 g)
rFVIIa*	2 (8-16 g)
*rFVIIa: Recombinant Factor VII a	

exerts compression on the underlying sponges by means of vaginal traction and therefore the pressure is transferred to all surfaces of the surgical region at the same rate and efficiently. In this way, bleeding stops in vascular structures and hemostasis is provided (Figure 3). The distal part of the balloon, under sufficient traction, is fixed to the leg of the patient. Thereafter, the skin is closed without closing the abdominal fascial layers. To prevent Compartment syndrome and perfusion failure of the lower extremities, maintenance perfusion is allowed by releasing the tension on the shaft of the Bakri balloon minimally with 2 hour intervals during the postoperative period. In the event of continuance of bleeding, the balloon is inflated more, more traction is applied, and compression on the underlying sponges is increased. This procedure is continued until hemostasis is provided.

The depacking procedure was performed in all patients after coagulation parameters returned to the normal range



Figure 1. Soaked and squeezed near-hot sponges are wrapped circularly around the balloon

Table 3. Characteristics of the patients requiring multiple surgeries and abdominal packing following peripartum hysterectomy (n=6)

	Mean
Age	33.33±4.27
Gravida	4
Parity	3
Gestational week	37±2
Mode of delivery	
Cesarean delivery	3
Vaginal delivery	3
Hospital stay (days)	10±5

and cessation of intra-abdominal hemorrhage following blood and blood products replacement. Preoperative and postoperative laboratory parameters of all our patients are shown in Table 2. In our first patient who received Karateke packing, bilateral hypogastric artery ligation, and B-Lynch suture were performed via laparotomy due to postpartum uterine atony and there was no intra-operative bleeding. A peripartum hysterectomy was performed with a second laparotomy because 2000 mL/h bleeding occurred through the drain of the patient in the intensive care unit postoperatively. Upon continuance of intra-abdominal diffuse bleeding, classic packing was performed perioperatively with 6 pads and the abdomen was closed. At the postoperative 1st hour, the total drained fluid volume was 1500 cc in the drain bag, and a third laparotomy was performed. Karateke packing was performed as the final intervention because there was no surgical option to control the bleeding in the 3rd surgery. In this patient, blood loss of 500 mL/24 h was observed through the drain in the intensive care unit postoperatively.

Peripartum hysterectomy and hypogastric artery ligation were performed in three of our patients due to postpartum atony and peripartum hysterectomy, and bilateral hypogastric artery ligation was performed in one of our patients due to uterine atony and broad ligament hematoma. Upon observation of severe bleeding through the drains of patients followed up in the intensive care unit postoperatively, Karateke packing was performed in a second surgery.



Figure 2. Bakri balloon is inflated with 500-1000 mL saline and put in traction through the vaginal route

Diagnosis	Operations	Bleeding after hysterectomy	Transfused blood products	Complications	Hospital stay (days)
Preeclampsia, abruptio placenta -postpartum atony	 B-lynch + hypogastric artery ligation Hysterectomy + classic abdominal packing 	1300 mL/h	RBC: 16 FFP: 28 Platelet: 100 WBC: 14 Fib: 20	Acute tubular necrosis + Sheehan's syndrome	20
Abruptio placenta- postpartum atony	Hysterectomy + hypogastric artery ligation	1000 mL/h	RBC: 5 FFP: 8 Platelet: 8 Fib: 4	-	6
Postpartum atony	Hysterectomy + hypogastric artery ligation	1500 mL/h	RBC: 12 FFP: 16 Platelet: 32 Fib: 16	Reversible acute tubular necrosis	12
Abruptio placenta- postpartum atony	Hysterectomy + hypogastric artery ligation	1000 mL/h	RBC: 9 FFP: 12 Platelet: 10 Fib: 16	-	10
Placenta percreta- uterine rupture	Hysterectomy + hypogastric artery ligation	1000 mL/h	RBC: 19 FFP: 20 Platelet: 24 Fib: 16	Maternal death	3
Postpartum atony	Hysterectomy + hypogastric artery ligation	750 mL/h	RBC: 8 FFP: 10 Platelet: 9 Fib: 16	-	6

Table 4. Clinical features of the patients requiring multiple surgeries and abdominal packing following peripartum hysterectomy (n=6)

RBC: Red blood cell, FFP: Fresh frozen plasma, Fib: Fibrinogen, WBC: White blood cell



Figure 3. Bleeding stops in vascular structures and hemostasis is provided

Table 5. Laboratory values before vs after abdominal pa	acking
---	--------

	Preoperative	Postoperative
Hemoglobin, g/dL	4.86±0.7 (4-6)	7.33±1.21 (6-9)
Hematocrit	17±3 (12-22)	21.8±3 (19-27)
Platelet count, count/mm ³	66.500±26.000	116.000±38.000
INR	1.78±0.1 (1.6-2)	1.28±0.17 (1.1-1.6)
Fibrinogen	108±33.8 (70-150)	230±33.8 (198-260)
INR: International normalized ratio		

Our last patient was brought to our emergency outpatient clinic directly, she was unconscious with fixed dilated pupils due to placenta percreta rupture at the 34th gestational week of pregnancy. Peripartum hysterectomy and bilateral iliac artery ligation were performed in this patient in an emergency laparotomy. Upon continuance of diffuse bleeding from the peritoneal surfaces and surgical site, Karateke packing was performed. Active bleeding was not observed through the drain in the intensive care unit postoperatively. However, the patient was diagnosed as having cerebrovascular hypoxia at the postoperative 3rd day and died of cardiac arrest on the same day. The clinical characteristics of these patients are presented in Tables 4 and 5.

Discussion

Pelvic packing techniques can be divided into 2 types: pads or roller gauze (sterile pads bound by suture threads or wrapped in a sterile bag) and balloon pack (Foley catheter or Bakri balloon). There is a difference in physical structure between these 2 types with practical consequences. First, it is easier and faster to assemble and apply the balloon pack because it is ready to be inflated and used immediately, but the pack formed by pads needs to be arranged and connected. Second, it is easier to adjust to match the size of the balloon packs to the size of the hemorrhagic areas with inflation or deflation of the balloon, but the addition or withdrawal of a pad from the constituted pack may be complicated⁽¹¹⁾. Our packing method is important in regards to being the first to apply two methods in combination, as reported by Touhami et al.⁽⁷⁾. The strength of our study is that all of the patients referred to our clinic from external centers comprised "near miss" patients who require massive blood transfusion due to delayed surgical intervention. Classic abdominal packing is not sufficient to stop bleeding. The success of the treatment depends on the success of concurrent medical treatment, intensive care support therapy, and particularly the blood and blood product replacement protocols used. Karateke packing combines the methods defined by Naranjo-Gutiérrez et al.⁽¹⁰⁾ and Charoenkwan K.⁽¹¹⁾. Karateke packing is more efficient than the classic packing technique and is simpler and more easily applied compared with the method defined by Naranjo-Gutiérrez et al.⁽¹⁰⁾. In a study, packing was performed due to postpartum bleeding associated with uterine atony but hypogastric artery ligation was not performed in one of three patients in whom the Kittipat method was performed⁽¹¹⁾. At the same time, a complicated clinical picture such as DIC did not accompany this case. Therefore, the efficiency of the method defined by Kittipat in patients developing DIC and requiring massive blood and blood product transfusions such as ours is controversial⁽¹¹⁾. There is no consensus in the literature regarding the number of sponges required to provide hemostasis related with packing. If the sponges are not squeezed sufficiently, bleeding may continue and packing may result in failure. In the study performed by Deffieux et al.,⁽¹⁵⁾ the authors failed to determine the required number of pads in a successful packing treatment. In Karateke packing, the compression strength exerted on the area of bleeding can be increased with the same number of sponges by increasing the traction force and volume of the intra-abdominal balloon. Thus, mechanical pressure applied to bleeding foci can be increased without having to perform relaparotomy to increase the number of sponges. Deffieux et al.⁽¹⁵⁾ reported the success rate of abdominal packing as 62% in their study. Packing failed in 38% of cases and death occurred in 13⁽¹⁶⁾. In our series, hemostasis was provided with Karateke packing in all 6 patients including a patient in whom bleeding could not be controlled with classic abdominal packing. David Richardson et al.⁽¹⁶⁾ reported that the mortality rate decreased by one-third when abdominal packing was performed in the early period after liver injury. However, the success rate of classic packing would be low in "near miss" patients who are referred in a complicated condition like in our patients. Besides that, Compartment syndrome, which is commonly mentioned in the literature when intra-abdominal pressure exceeds

the limit of 20 mm Hg, may develop and this is a serious complication that requires relaparotomy^(17,18). In our method, both abdominal fascial layers are not closed and decompression can be provided by releasing the distal tip of the Bakri balloon or by lowering the volume of the balloon when compartment syndrome develops. Symptoms of Compartment syndrome occurred in none of our patients. The depacking procedure is another important problem in abdominal packing. There is no consensus in the literature on this subject. However, it was reported that performing depacking after 24-48 hours reduced the recurrence rate of bleeding. Nicol et al.⁽¹⁹⁾ reported that less bleeding occurred if depacking was performed after 24-48 hours; however, Caruso et al.⁽¹²⁾ reported that risk for bleeding increased when sponges were removed earlier than 36 hours. Keeping sponges intra-abdominally for a long time may provide hemostasis but it can cause intra-abdominal adhesions and serious intra-abdominal infection. Abikhaled et al.⁽²⁰⁾ reported that the rate of abdominal abscess and death was lower when abdominal sponges were kept in situ less than 72 hours in 35 women with abdominal injuries. In our patients, the depacking procedure was performed when the bleeding through abdominal drain stopped and DIC laboratory findings regressed (international normalized ratio: <1.2, fibrinogen: >200, hemoglobin: >7). To prevent bleeding from the tissue while removing sponges adhered to visceral organs and surgical site, sponges should be soaked with a hot saline solution, ensured to be separated from the tissue, and removed with slow and gentle movements. The limitation of our method is the need for relaparotomy for the removal of the balloon and sponges.

Conclusion

Karateke abdominal packing is a very easy method to perform, more effective than the classic abdominal packing technique, with a low complication rate, and most importantly, lifesaving in patients undergoing a peripartum hysterectomy due to PPH and thereafter experiencing diffuse hemorrhage.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Zeynep Kamil Women and Children Research hospital local ethic committee (approval number 120-2015).

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: Ç.K., Design: M.P., M.K., Data Collection or Processing: Ç.K., Ç.Y.A., E.B.E., Analysis or Interpretation: R.K., A.K., Literature Search: M.B.Ş., Writing: İ.Y., Ç.Y.A., Ç.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Tapisiz OL, Altinbas SK, Yirci B, Cenksoy P, Kaya AE, Dede S, et al. Emergency peripartum hysterectomy in a tertiary hospital in Ankara, Turkey: a 5-year review. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2012;286:1131-4.
- Say L, Chou D, Gemmill A, Tunçalp Ö, Moller AB, Daniels J, et al. Global causes of maternal death: a WHO systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health 2014;2:323-33.
- Badawy SZ, Etman A, Singh M, Murphy K, Mayelli T, Philadelphia M. Uterine artery embolization. The role in obstetrics and gynecology. J Clin Imaging 2001;25:288-95.
- No authors listed. Diagnosis and management of postpartum hemorrhage: ACOG technical bulletin Number 143-July 1990. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1991;36:159-63.
- 5. WHO recommendations for the prevention and treatment of postpartum hemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- Moore FA, Moore EE, Sauata A. Blood transfusion. An independent risk factor for postinjury multiple organ failure. Arch Surg 1997;132:620-4.
- Touhami O, Bouzid A, Ben Marzouk S, Badis Channoufi, ElMagherbi H. Pelvic Packing for Intractable Obstetric Hemorrhage After Emergency Peripartum Hysterectomy: A Review. Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey 2018;73:2.
- 8. Dildy GA, Scott JR, Saffer CS, Belfort MA. An effective pressure pack for severe pelvic hemorrhage. Obstet Gynecol 2006;108:1222-6.
- 9. Howard RJ, Straughn JM Jr, Huh WK, Rouse DJ. Pelvic umbrella pack for refractory obstetric hemorrhage secondary to posterior uterine rupture. Obstet Gynecol 2002;100:1061-3.
- Naranjo-Gutiérrez LA, Oliva-Cristerna J, Ramírez-Montiel ML, Ortiz MI. Pelvic packing with vaginal traction for the management of intractable hemorrhage. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2014;127:21-4.
- Charoenkwan K. Effective use of the Bakri postpartum balloon for posthysterectomy pelvic floor hemorrhage. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2014;210:586.
- Caruso DM, Battistella FD, Owings JT, Lee SL, Samaco RC. Perihepatic packing of major liver injuries: complications and mortality. Arch Surg 1999;134:958-62.
- Agostini A, Mazza D, Bereder JM. Value of pelvic tamponade in persistent hemorrhage after hemostasis hysterectomy. Gynecol Obstet Fertil 2001;29:613-5.
- 14. Logothetopulos K. An absolute safe blood stilling method for vaginal and abdominal gynecological operations. Zentralbl Gynakol 1926;50:3202-4.
- Deffieux X, Vinchant M, Wigniolle I, Goffinet F, Sentilhes L. Maternal outcome after abdominal packing for uncontrolled postpartum hemorrhage despite peripartum hysterectomy. 2017;12:e0177092.
- David Richardson J, Franklin GA, Lukan JK, Carrillo EH, Spain DA, Miller FB, et al. Evolution in the management of hepatic trauma: a 25-year perspective. Ann Surg 2000;232:324-30.
- Kendrick JE 4th, Leath CA 3rd, Melton SM, Straughn JM Jr. Use of a fascial prosthesis for management of abdominal compartment syndrome secondary to obstetric hemorrhage. Obstet Gynecol 2006;107:493-6.
- Santhosh MC, Pai RB, Sachidanand R, Byrappa V, Rao RP. Inferior Venacaval compression due to excessive abdominal packing. Braz J Anesthesiol 2014;64:199-200.
- Nicol AJ, Hommes M, Primrose R, Navsaria PH, Krige JEJ. Packing for control of hemorrhage in major liver trauma. World J Surg 2007;31:569-74.
- Abikhaled JA, Granchi TS, Wall MJ, Hirshberg A, Mattox KL. Prolonged abdominal packing for trauma is associated with increased morbidity and mortality. Am Surg 1997;63:1109-12.



The effect of first trimester hemoglobin levels on pregnancy outcomes

İlk trimester hemoglobin seviyelerinin gebelik sonuçlarına etkisi

● Burcu Dinçgez Çakmak, ● Ülkü Ayşe Türker, ● Sonay Öztaş, ● Melis Arık, ● Emin Üstünyurt

University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: The relationship between hemoglobin levels and pregnancy outcomes is still a challenging issue. There is a supported opinion about the increased adverse pregnancy outcomes both with low and high hemoglobin levels. In this study, we aimed to evaluate this association for first trimester hemoglobin levels in a Turkish population.

Materials and Methods: In this retrospective study, 1306 women who were followed up during their pregnancy and gave birth in our clinic were enrolled. The patients were divided into three groups: hemoglobin <11 g/dL (n=490), 11 \leq hemoglobin <13 g/dL (n=673), and hemoglobin >13 g/dL (n=143). The hemoglobin <11 g/dL group was classified into two subgroups as hemoglobin ≤9 g/dL (n=64) and hemoglobin >9 g/dL (n=426). Demographic characteristics, first trimester hemoglobin levels, gestational age at delivery and mode, birth weight, Apgar scores, and pregnancy outcomes were recorded and compared between the groups.

Results: Pregnancy-induced hypertension, preterm birth, neonatal intensive care unit admission, birth weight, gestational age at delivery, Apgar scores, and postpartum hemorrhage were significantly different between the three groups. In the pairwise comparison, gestational age at delivery, birth weight, and first minute Apgar scores were higher in the 11≤ hemoglobin <13 g/dL group, and pregnancy-induced hypertension was more common in the hemoglobin ≥13 g/dL group as compared with the others. Moreover, the preterm delivery rate was highest in the hemoglobin ≥13 g/dL (26.6%) group and lowest (7.3%) in the 11≤ hemoglobin <13 g/dL group. The neonatal intensive care unit admission rate was higher both the hemoglobin <11 g/dL and hemoglobin ≥13 g/dL groups. Postpartum hemorrhage was more common in the hemoglobin <11 g/dL group as compared with the other groups. Furthermore, pregnancy-induced hypertension was more common in the hemoglobin <12 g/dL group as compared with the other groups. Furthermore, pregnancy-induced hypertension was more common in the hemoglobin ≤19 g/dL group as compared with the other groups. Furthermore, pregnancy-induced hypertension was more common in the hemoglobin ≤9 g/dL subgroup (p=0.012).

Conclusion: In conclusion, both low and high hemoglobin levels are related with adverse pregnancy outcomes. We suggest that hemoglobin levels must be screened during pregnancy to provide maternal and fetal well-being.

Keywords: First trimester, hemoglobin, pregnancy outcome

Öz

Amaç: Hemoglobin seviyeleri ve gebelik sonuçları arasındaki ilişki halen çelişkili bir konudur. Hem yüksek hem de düşük hemoglobin seviyelerinde artan olumsuz gebelik sonuçları olduğuna dair kanıtlar bulunmaktadır. Bu çalışmada, Türk popülasyonunda ilk trimester hemoglobin seviyesi ve gebelik sonuçları ilişkisi değerlendirilmiştir.

Gereç ve Yöntemler: Bu retrospektif çalışmaya gebelik takipleri ve doğumu kliniğimizde gerçekleştirilen 1306 hasta dahil edildi. Hastalar hemoglobin <11 g/dL (n=490), 11≤ hemoglobin <13 g/dL (n=673) ve hemoglobin ≥13 g/dL (n=143) olmak üzere 3 gruba ayrıldı. Hemoglobin <11 g/dL grubu da kendi içinde hemoglobin ≤9 g/dL (n=64) ve hemoglobin >9 g/dL (n=426) olmak üzere 2 alt gruba ayrıldı. Demografik özellikler, ilk trimester hemoglobin seviyeleri, doğum haftası, şekli ve kilosu, Apgar skorları ve gebelik sonuçları kaydedilerek gruplar arasında karşılaştırıldı.

Bulgular: Gebeliğin indüklediği hipertansiyon, preterm doğum, yenidoğan yoğun bakım ünitesi ihtiyacı, doğum kilosu, doğum haftası, Apgar skorları ve postpartum kanama sıklığı üç grup arasında anlamlı olarak farklı idi. İkili grup karşılaştırmasında, doğum haftası, doğum ağırlığı ve birinci dakika Apgar skorları 11 \leq hemoglobin <13 g/dL grubunda daha yüksek iken, gebeliğin indüklediği hipertansiyon hemoglobin >13 g/dL grubunda diğer gruplardan daha sıktı. Ayrıca, preterm doğum hemoglobin >13 g/dL grubunda en yüksek (26,6%); 11 \leq hemoglobin <13 g/dL grubunda en düşük (7,3%) oranda saptandı. Yenidoğan yoğun bakım ünitesi ihtiyacı hem hemoglobin <11 g/dL hem de hemoglobin >13 g/dL grubunda daha yüksekti. Postpartum kanama, hemoglobin <11 g/dL grubunda diğer gruplara oranla daha sıktı. Ayrıca, gebeliğin indüklediği hipertansiyon hemoglobin <9 g/dL alt grubunda daha sıktı olarak gözlendi (p=0,012).

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Burcu Dinçgez Çakmak, MD,

University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Turkey **Phone:** +90 530 544 88 28 **E-mail:** burcumavis@gmail.com **ORCID ID:** orcid.org/0000-0002-2697-7501 **Received/Gelis Tarihi:** 08.05.2018 **Accepted/Kabul Tarihi:** 13.06.2018 **Sonuç:** Sonuç olarak, hem düşük hem de yüksek hemoglobin seviyeleri olumsuz gebelik sonuçlarıyla ilişkilidir. Bu nedenle, maternal ve fetal iyilik halinin sağlanması için gebelikte hemoglobin seviyelerinin izlenmesi gerektiği kanaatindeyiz. **Anahtar Kelimeler:** İlk trimester, hemoglobin, gebelik sonuçları

PRECIS: In this study, it is maintained that hemoglobin levels must be screened during pregnancy because both low and high hemoglobin levels are related with adverse pregnancy outcomes.

Introduction

Pregnancy has various effects on hematologic parameters. It is well known that hemoglobin (Hb) levels decrease during the first trimester, reaching minimum values in the late second trimester and tend to increase during the third trimester of pregnancy⁽¹⁾. Therefore cut-off levels for determining anemia differ from healthy reproductive women. The World Health Organization (WHO) defines anemia as Hb levels <11.0 g/ dL in the first and third trimesters and <10.5 g/dL in the second trimester in pregnant women⁽²⁾. Recently, there was a supported opinion about the relationship between anemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. Several studies claimed that maternal anemia was risk factor for adverse pregnancy outcomes such as low birth weight (LBW), postpartum hemorrhage (PPH), cesarean section (CS), and preterm birth (PB)⁽³⁾. Unfortunately, there are conflicting results about this issue. In another study, it was demonstrated that moderate or severe anemia was related with small-for-gestational-age infants, and patients with mild anemia were found to have uneventful pregnancy outcomes. Moreover, it was reported that preterm delivery and LBW were not increased in women with Hb 8-10.9 g/dL⁽⁴⁾. Another interesting finding of the recent studies is the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in pregnancies with high Hb levels. In pregnancy, both total erythrocyte number and plasma volume increase, but Hb levels decrease according to the higher increment in plasma volume. This condition provides placental perfusion with reduced blood viscosity⁽⁵⁾. A high Hb concentration during pregnancy could result in placental infarcts due to the increased viscosity. As a consequence, these pregnancies can be complicated with pregnancy-induced hypertension (PIH), fetal growth restriction, and perinatal death⁽⁶⁾. The association between Hb levels and adverse pregnancy outcomes differs by trimesters. However, it is more evident in early pregnancy for low Hb levels, and it is evident in all trimesters for high Hb concentrations⁽⁷⁾. There are limited data about the relationship between adverse pregnancy outcomes and Hb levels in the first trimester of pregnancy in the Turkish population. In the present study, we evaluated the effect of first trimester Hb levels on pregnancy outcomes in our population.

Materials and Methods

This study was designed as a retrospective, observational, cross-sectional study. It was conducted in a university-affiliated training and research hospital between January 2016

and May 2017. Ethics committee approval is unnecessary for retrospective studies in our country. Our study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki.

A total of 1306 women who were followed up during their pregnancy and gave birth in our clinic were enrolled in the study. First, patients were divided into three groups: Hb <11 g/dL (n=490), 11≤ Hb <13 g/dL (n=673), and Hb ≥13 g/dL (n=143). Then, the Hb <11 g/dL group was classified into two subgroups as Hb ≤ 9 g/dL (n=64) and Hb > 9 g/dL (n=426). The exclusion criteria for patient selection were determined as follows; unregular antenatal visits, lack of delivery data, absence of first trimester Hb values, age <16 and >40 years, multiple pregnancies, congenital malformations, pregnancies with history of diabetes mellitus, hepatic and renal failure, thyroid diseases, any uterine malformations, previous complicated pregnancy, alcohol and cigarette use, any prior placental abnormalities and PPH. Demographic characteristics of the study population such as age, gravida, parity, and gestational age at delivery and birth weight were recorded. Also, first trimester Hb levels were obtained from medical records. In our hospital, Hb levels are determined using a Coulter LH780 Analyzer (Beckman Coulter Ireland Inc, Mervue, Galway, Ireland). Pregnancy outcomes were compared between the groups. The main perinatal outcomes were accepted as stillbirth, gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), PIH, PB, neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) admission, PPH, CS, and low Apgar scores, and these outcomes were obtained from hospital records. Stillbirth was judged as the death of a fetus during delivery⁽⁸⁾. GDM was established as if one or more of the followings were increased in the 75 g oral glucose tolerance test: fasting glucose ≥ 92 mg/dL, \geq 180 mg/dL at 1 hour, and \geq 153 mg/dL at 2 hours⁽⁹⁾. PIH was named as systolic blood pressure ≥140 mm Hg and/ or diastolic pressure ≥90 mm Hg after the 20th gestational week, and PB was defined as births that occured between the 24-37th gestational weeks^(10,11). Neonates with shorter than 32 weeks of gestation, transient problems, cardiorespiratory monitoring requirement or presence of Respiratory Distress syndrome, severe jaundice, neonatal sepsis, and conditions requiring exchange transfusion were admitted to the NICU. PPH was defined as having a blood loss of ≥500 mL after vaginal delivery or ≥1000 mL after CS within 24 hours of delivery⁽¹²⁾.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical

Package for the Social Sciences statistical software version 23.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL). All data are reported as mean ± standard deviation, median [minimum (min), maximum (max)] values or in percentages. The Shapiro-Wilk test and probability plots were used to evaluate whether the variables followed normal distribution. The chi-square test and Fisher's exact test were performed to evaluate the relationship between categorical variables. According to the normality test results, the Mann-Whitney U test was used for continuous non-normally distributed variables, and the independent t-test was used for continuous normally distributed variables to compare the variables between two groups. For comparing more groups, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was performed, and the Bonferroni-Dunn procedure was used to compare statistically significant parameters between two groups. Moreover, for normally distrubuted variables, oneway ANOVA analysis was performed to compare the variables between more than two groups. A p value of ≤ 0.05 was determined as statistically significant.

Results

The mean age of all study participants was 27.24±6.21 years. The median gravida was 2 (min=1, max=10) and parity was 1 (min=0, max=8). The mean gestational age at delivery was 38.16±2.37 weeks and the mean birth weight was 3134.78±600.96 grams. The demographic data and pregnancy outcomes of three main groups were compared and are presented in Table 1. PIH, PB, NICU admission, birth weight, gestational age at delivery, Apgar scores, and PPH were significantly different between the three groups. In the

Table 1. Demographic characteristics and pregnancy outcomes of all study groups

pairwise comparison; gestational age at delivery, birth weight, and first-minute Apgar scores were significantly higher in 11≤ Hb <13 g/dL group, and PIH was more common in the Hb \geq 13 g/dL group as compared with the other groups. Moreover, the PB rate was highest in the Hb \geq 13 g/dL (26.6%) group and was lowest (7.3%) in the $11 \le Hb < 13 g/dL$ group. The NICU admission rate was significantly higher in both the Hb <11 g/dL and Hb \geq 13 g/dL group as compared with the 11≤ Hb <13 g/dL group. Furthermore, PPH was significantly more common in the Hb <11 g/dL group as compared with the other groups. The comparison of demographic characteristics and pregnancy outcomes between the Hb ≤ 9 g/dL and 9< Hb <11 g/dL group is shown in Table 2. There was no difference between the two groups according to gravida, parity, age, gestational age at delivery, birth weight, Apgar scores, stillbirth, GDM, PB, CS, NICU admission, and PPH rates. Contrary to these, PIH was significantly higher in the Hb ≤ 9 g/dL group (p=0.012).

Discussion

The main findings of the study were as follows: PIH was more common in the high Hb group, and the incidences of PB and NICU admission were higher both in the high and low Hb groups. Moreover, PPH was common in the low Hb group. Gestational age at delivery, birth weight, and first-minute Apgar scores were significantly higher in the 11≤ Hb <13 g/dL group, and there was no difference according to pregnancy outcomes between the very low and low Hb groups, except PIH. During pregnancy, many hormonal changes occur to provide adequate blood flow from the maternal to the fetal

	Hb <11 g/dL (n=490)	11≤ Hb <13 g/dL (n=673)	Hb ≥13 g/dL (n=143)	р
Age (years)	26.97±6.07	27.45±6.33	27.17±6.12	0.410
Gravida (n)	2 (1-8)	2 (1-10)	2 (1-9)	0.887
Parity (n)	1 (0-5)	1 (0-7)	1 (0-8)	0.465
Gestational age at delivery (week)	37.78±2.62	38.6±1.95	37.43±2.8	<0.001
Birth weight (grams)	2992.8±635.1	3269.2±512.7	2988.3±713.3	<0.001
Stillbirth (n, %)	8 (1.6%)	7 (1.0%)	3 (2.1%)	0.511
GDM (n, %)	27 (5.5%)	35 (5.2%)	8 (5.6%)	0.965
PIH (n, %)	31 (6.3%)	23 (3.4%)	21 (14.7%)	< 0.001
Preterm birth (n, %)	78 (15.9%)	49 (7.3%)	38 (26.6%)	< 0.001
Cesarean section (n, %)	209 (42.7%)	259 (38.5%)	70 (49.0%)	0.051
NICU admission (n, %)	60 (12.2%)	36 (5.3%)	25 (17.5%)	< 0.001
Apgar 1 st min	8.69±1.37	8.83±1.04	8.65±1.44	0.005
Apgar 5 th min	9.67±1.4	9.81±1.08	9.62±1.58	0.012
PPH (n, %)	63 (12.9%)	37 (5.5%)	13 (9.1%)	<0.001

GDM: Gestational diabetes mellitus, Hb: Hemoglobin, NICU: Neonatal intensive care unit, PIH: Pregnancy-induced hypertension, PPH: Postpartum hemorrhage

	Hb ≤9 g/dL (n=64)	9< Hb <11 g/dL (n=426)	р
Age (years)	28.14±7.16	26.79±5.88	0.154
Gravida (n)	2 (1-7)	2 (1-8)	0.600
Parity (n)	1 (0-5)	1 (0-4)	0.832
Gestational age at delivery (week)	37.56±2.51	37.81±2.64	0.291
Birth weight (grams)	2958.5±617.3	2997.9±638.2	0.641
Stillbirth (n, %)	2 (3.1%)	6 (1.4%)	0.281
GDM (n, %)	3 (4.7%)	24 (5.6%)	0.999
PIH (n, %)	9 (14.1%)	22 (5.2%)	0.012
Preterm birth (n, %)	13 (20.3%)	65 (15.3%)	0.303
Cesarean section (n, %)	29 (45.3%)	180 (42.3%)	0.645
NICU admission (n, %)	10 (15.6%)	50 (11.7%)	0.376
Apgar 1 st min	8.61±1.66	8.7±1.32	0.948
Apgar 5 th min	9.53±1.82	9.69±1.33	0.771
PPH (n,%)	8 (12.5%)	55 (12.9%)	0.927

Table 2. Demographic characteristics and pregnancy outcomes of Hb ≤9 g/dL and 9< Hb <11 g/dL groups

GDM: Gestational diabetes mellitus, Hb: Hemoglobin, NICU: Neonatal intensive care unit, PIH: Pregnancy induced hypertension, PPH: Postpartum hemorrhage

unit. One of these changes is increased plasma renin and decreased atrial natriuretic peptide levels. Also, erytropoetin secretion tends to increase and results in a rise in red blood cell mass. On the other hand, plasma volume expands nearly 50% and consequently, Hb levels decrease. Disturbance of these mechanism leads to hemoconcentration and high Hb levels^(13,14). PIH is still an important cause of maternal and fetal mortality and morbidity. Although the underlying mechanism has not been fully elucidated, recent studies have shown that increased Hb levels leading to vasoconstriction is one of the mechanisms of PIH⁽¹⁵⁾. Also, the loss of protein and increment in vascular permeability causes a decrement in intravascular volume and high Hb concentrations in preeclampsia⁽¹⁶⁾. In a study by Pritchard et al.,⁽¹⁷⁾ the average hematocrit was higher in preeclampsia as compared with healthy pregnant women. In other studies, a significant relationship between high firsttrimester Hb levels and preeclampsia was demonstrated^(18,19). Similarly, in this present study, PIH was more common with high Hb levels. We and others suggest that the changes of hematologic changes in PIH start early in the first trimester and monitoring Hb levels could be used to follow up pregnancies at high risk for uteroplacental insufficiency.⁽²⁰⁾ Recent studies evaluating the PB risk in pregnant women in relation to Hb levels had conflicting results. Scanlon et al., (13) who divided the patient group into 7 levels as very low, low, low-normal, normal (reference group), high-normal, high, and very high Hb groups showed that patients with a firsttrimester Hb concentration below the reference range had an elevated risk of PTB. Furthermore, in a study of a Chinese

population, elevated PB risk was found in the low firsttrimester Hb group^(21,22). On the other hand, no relationship was found between PB and first-trimester Hb levels in the study of Hamalainen et al.⁽²³⁾. For high Hb levels, Zhang et al.⁽²²⁾ found reduced risk for PB, and other studies claimed that no association was present between PB and high Hb levels.^(13,24) Zhou et al.⁽²⁵⁾ reported slightly increased risk for PB with high Hb levels. In this present study, PB rates were higher with both low and high Hb levels. Moreover, NICU admission rates were higher in both the high and low Hb groups, which could be related to prematurity and accompanying conditions. PH is one of the leading causes of maternal mortality. Oxygen and Hb transportation is the cornerstone of uterine contractions and it is claimed in the literature that anemic patients were more likely to experience uterine atony due to the absence of these mechanisms^(26,27). In the study of Sehgal et al.,⁽⁴⁾ pregnant women with mild-tomoderate anemia were found to have more PPH. Similar to their study, we demonstrated that patients with Hb <11 g/dL had more PPH as compared with those in the $11 \le Hb < 13 g/$ dL and Hb \geq 13 g/dL groups. There is no consensus about iron replacement, to whom and how many milligrams should be given in pregnancy. The WHO recommends 30-60 mg daily iron during pregnancy. These data were based on the reduced risk of LBW with daily iron supplementation, increased risk for adverse effects, and adverse pregnancy outcomes for high Hb levels^(28,29). Supporting these recommendations, we found higher birth weights and Apgar scores, and lower PB in the 11≤ Hb <13 g/dL group and we suggest that appropriate

Hb levels with iron supplementation must be constituted to provide maternal and fetal well-being. However, we did not investigate the effects of iron supplementation on our pregnancy outcomes, which is one of the major limitations of our study. Another interesting finding of our study was that there was no difference with regard to pregnancy outcomes between the very low and low Hb groups, except PIH. A few studies that investigated the effects of severe or moderate anemia demonstrated that patients with moderate and severe anemia were more prone to uterine atony and PPH^(26,27). Pregnant women with mild anemia are generally expected to have uneventful pregnancies if well managed with iron supplementation⁽⁴⁾. Another study showed that Hb 8-10.9 g/dL was not associated with an increased PB and LBW risk^(22,30). We suggest that our non-significant results between the very low and low Hb groups might be related to the small patient population with severe anemia.

Study Limitation

This study has several limitations. First, we did not investigate the effects of iron supplementation on our pregnancy outcomes. Second, we had small patient population with very low Hb levels to compare the pregnancy outcomes between low and very low Hb levels. Lastly, we only evaluated the first trimester Hb levels and it might be more appropriate to clarify the relationship between all trimester Hb levels and pregnancy outcomes.

Conclusion

In conclusion, both low and high Hb levels are related with adverse pregnancy outcomes. To provide maternal and fetal well-being, we must routinely screen the first trimester Hb levels and think about supplementing iron if it is appropriate.

Ethics

Ethics Committiee Approval: Retrospective study. Informed Consent: Retrospective study. Peer-review: External and internal peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.D.Ç., E.Ü., Concept: B.D.Ç., Design: Û.A.T., B.D.Ç., Data Collection or Processing: Ü.A.T., M.A., S.Ö., Analysis or Interpretation: M.A., S.Ö., E.Ü., Literature Search: B.D.Ç., S.Ö., Writing: B.D.Ç., E.Ü.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Laflamme EM. Maternal hemoglobin concentration and pregnancy outcome: a study of the effects of elevation in El Alto, Bolivia. Mcgill J Med 2011;13:47.
- 2. WHO/ UNICEF/UNO. IDA. Prevention, assessment and control. Report of a WHO/UNICEF/UNO Consultation. Geneva: WHO; 1998.

- Vural T, Toz E, Ozcan A, Biler A, Ileri A, Inan AH. Can anemia predict perinatal outcomes in different stages of pregnancy? Pak J Med Sci 2016;32:1354-9.
- 4. Sehgal R, Kriplani A, Vanamail P, Maiti L, Kandpal S, Kumar N. Assessment and comparison of pregnancy outcome among anaemic and non anaemic primigravida mothers. Indian J Public Health 2016;60:188-94.
- 5. Mani S, Duffy TP. Anemia of pregnancy. Clin Perinatol 1995;22:593-607.
- 6. Naeye RL. Placental infarction leading to fetal or neonatal death. A prospective study. Obstet Gynecol 1977;50:583-8.
- Dewey KG, Oaks BM. U-shaped curve for risk associated with maternal hemoglobin, iron status, or iron supplementation. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;106:1694-702.
- Kaur M, Chauhan A, Manzar D, Rajput MM. Maternal Anaemia and Neonatal Outcome: A Prospective Study on Urban Pregnant Women. J Clin Diagn Res 2015;9:QC04-8.
- 9. Sacks DB, Arnold M, Bakris GL, Bruns DE, Horvath AR, Kirkman MS, et al. Guidelines and recommendations for laboratory analysis in the diagnosis and management of diabetes mellitus. Clin Chem 2011;57:1-47.
- 10. Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redon J, Zanchetti A, Böhm M, et al. 2013 ESH/ESC guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2013;34:2159-219.
- 11. Di Renzo GC, Roura LC; European Association of Perinatal Medicine-Study Group on Preterm Birth. Guidelines for the management of spontaneous preterm labor. J Perinat Med 2006;34:359-66.
- Nair M, Choudhury MK, Choudhury SS, Kakoty SD, Sarma UC, Webster P, et al. Association between maternal anaemia and pregnancy outcomes: a cohort study in Assam, India. BMJ Global Health 2016;1:e000026.
- 13. Scanlon KS, Yip R, Schieve LA, Cogswell ME. High and low hemoglobin levels during pregnancy: differential risks for preterm birth and small for gestational age. Obstet Gynecol 2000;96:741-8.
- Blackburn ST, Loper DL. Maternal, fetal, and neonatal physiology. A clinical perspective. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1992. P. 159-200.
- 15. Sarrel PM, Lindsay DC, Poole-Wilson PA, Collins P. Hypothesis: inhibition of endothelium-derived relaxing factor by haemoglobin in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Lancet 1990;336:1030-2.
- 16. Chappel L, Bewley S. Pre-eclamptic toxaemia: the role of uterine artery Doppler. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1998;105:379-82.
- Pritchard JA, Cunningham FG, Pritchard SA. The Pakland Memorial Hospital protocol for treatment of eclampsia: evaluation of 245 cases. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1984;148:951-63.
- Aghamohammadi A, Zafari M, Tofighi M. High maternal hemoglobin concentration in first trimester as risk factor for pregnancy induced hypertension. Caspian J Intern Med 2011;2:194-7.
- 19. Murphy JF, O'Riordan J, Newcombe RG, Coles EC, Pearson JF. Relation of haemoglobin levels in first and second trimesters to outcome of pregnancy. Lancet 1986;1:992-5.
- 20. Vedernikov Y, Saade GR, Garfield RE. Vascular Reactivity in Preeclampsia. Semin Perinatol 1999;23:34-4.
- 21. Zhang Q, Ananth CV, Rhoads GG, Li Z. The impact of maternal anemia on perinatal mortality: a population-based, prospective cohort study in China. Ann Epidemiol 2009;19:793-9.

- 22. Zhang Q, Ananth CV, Li Z, Smulian JC. Maternal anaemia and preterm birth: a prospective cohort study. Int J Epidemiol 2009;38:1380-9.
- 23. Hamalainen H, Hakkarainen K, Heinonen S. Anaemia in the first but not in the second or third trimester is a risk factor for low birth weight. Clin Nutr 2003;22:271-5.
- 24. Ren A, Wang J, Ye RW, Li S, Liu JM, Li Z. Low first-trimester hemoglobin and low birth weight, preterm birth and small for gestational age newborns. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2007;98:124-8.
- 25. Zhou LM, Yang WW, Hua JZ, Deng CQ, Tao X, Stoltzfus RJ. Relation of hemoglobin measured at different times in pregnancy to preterm birth and low birth weight in Shanghai, China. Am J Epidemiol 1998;148:998-1006.
- 26. Kavle JA, Stoltzfus RJ, Witter F, Tielsch JM, Khalfan SS, Caulfield LE. Association between anaemia during pregnancy and blood loss

at and after delivery among women with vaginal births in Pemba Island, Zanzibar, Tanzania. J Health Popul Nutr 2008;26:232-40.

- Malhotra M, Sharma JB, Batra S, Sharma S, Murthy NS, Arora R. Maternal and perinatal outcome in varying degrees of anemia. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2002;79:93-100.
- 28. WHO Guideline: daily iron and folic acid supplementation in pregnant women. Geneva Switzerland: WHO; 2012.
- Pena-Rosas JP, De-Regil LM, Garcia-Casal MN, Dowswell T. Daily oral iron supplementation during pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015:CD004736.
- 30. Yi SW, Han YJ, Ohrr H. Anemia before pregnancy and risk of preterm birth, low birth weight and small for gestational age birth in Korean women. Eur J Clin Nutr 2013;67:337 42.

170



Early-onset neonatal infection in pregnancies with prelabor rupture of membranes in Kosovo: A major challenge

Kosova'da erken membran rüptürü olan gebelerde erken başlangıçlı neonatal enfeksiyon: Önemli bir sorun

Vlora Ademi Ibishi¹, Rozalinda Isjanovska², Anne E. Malin³

¹University of Prishtina Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Prishtina, Kosovo

²Ss. Cyril and Methodius University Faculty of Medicine, Institute for Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

³Global Research Institute, Non-governmental Organization, Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan

Abstract

Objective: Prelabor rupture of membranes (PROM) is a common event in obstetrics that has a major impact in pregnancy outcome. This condition is linked to a number of pregnancy and birth complications with early-onset neonatal infection (EONI) being one of the major threats. This study was undertaken to determine the rate of neonatal infection in newborn infants with a maternal history of PROM and to evaluate the association of risk factors with neonatal infection following PROM.

Materials and Methods: A cross-sectional descriptive design was used to analyze a population of 200 pregnant women presenting to the Obstetrics and Gynecology Tertiary Center in Kosovo (between 2013 and 2015) with PROM who gave birth to single newborns. Data including demographic characteristics, neonatal outcome, and risk factors for infectious neonatal morbidity were recorded and analyzed.

Results: The study included 200 pregnant women with PROM and their newborns. Participant demographics included: the majority were young, aged between 20 and 29 years (67%), primiparous (67.5%), unemployed (92%), completed secondary level of education (83%), and with middle socioeconomic status (86%). Overall, 13% of the newborns had early-onset neonatal infection, and sepsis was proven in 5% of cases. Newborns of mothers with risk factors such as preterm (<37 weeks) PROM, low gestational weight at birth, prolonged rupture of membranes, maternal colonization, and low Appearance, Pulse, Grimace, Activity, Respiration score at birth had higher rates of infection compared with newborns of mothers without these risk factors.

Conclusion: The rate of EONI in pregnancies complicated with PROM continues to be a global challenge in perinatology, and as this study reports, also a major challenge for Kosovo. Future research, revision and improvement on prenatal care and practices, timing of delivery, medical treatment, and prophylactic use of antibiotics in PROM are needed to reduce rates.

Keywords: Prelabor rupture of membranes, early-onset neonatal infection, risk factors

Öz

Amaç: Obstetride erken membran rüptürü (EMR), gebelik sonuçlarında önemli bir etkiye sahip olan yaygın bir durumdur. Bu durum bir dizi gebelik ve doğum komplikasyonu ile bağlantılıdır ve erken başlangıçlı neonatal enfeksiyon başlıca tehditlerden biridir. Bu çalışmada, maternal EMR öyküsü olan yenidoğan infantlarda neonatal enfeksiyon oranının belirlenmesi ve EMR'yi takiben neonatal enfeksiyon ile risk faktörleri ilişkisinin değerlendirilmesi amaçlanmıştır.

Gereç ve Yöntemler Kosova'da 3. Basamak Kadın Doğum ve Jinekoloji Merkezi'ne EMR ile başvuran (2013-2015 yılları arasında) ve tek yenidoğan dünyaya getiren 200 gebe kadın populasyonunu analiz etmek için kesitsel tanımlayıcı tasarım kullanıldı. Demografik özellikleri, neonatal sonuçları ve enfeksiyöz neonatal morbidite için risk faktörlerini içeren veriler kayıt ve analiz edildi.

PRECIS: The purpose of this study was to determine the rate of neonatal infection in newborn infants with a maternal history of prelabor rupture of membranes and to evaluate association of risk factors with neonatal infection in pregnancies complicated with prelabor rupture of membranes.

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Vlora Ademi Ibishi, MD,

University of Prishtina Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Prishtina, Kosovo Phone: +37 744 18 47 66 E-mail: drvlora@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-0451-2113 Received/Gelis Tarihi: 03.05.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 08.06.2018

[©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House. **Bulgular:** Çalışmaya, EMR'si olan 200 gebe kadın ve yenidoğanları dâhil edildi. Katılımcıların demografik özellikleri incelendiğinde; çoğunluğunun genç, yaş aralığının 20-29 (%67), primipar (%67,5), işsiz (%92), ortaöğretim düzeyinde eğitim tamamlamış (%83) ve orta sosyoekonomik statüde (%86) olduğu saptandı. Genel olarak, yenidoğanların %13'ünde erken başlangıçlı neonatal enfeksiyon mevcuttu ve olguların %5'inde sepsis varlığı kanıtlandı. Preterm EMR (<37 hafta), doğumda düşük gestasyonel ağırlık, uzamış membran rüptürü, maternal kolonizasyon ve doğumda düşük APGAR skoru gibi risk faktörleri olan annelerin yenidoğanları, bu risk faktörleri olmayan annelerin yenidoğanları ile karşılaştırıldığında daha yüksek enfeksiyon oranına sahipti. **Sonuç:** EMR ile komplike gebeliklerde erken başlangıçlı neonatal enfeksiyon oranı, perinatolojide küresel bir sorun olmaya devam etmektedir ve bu çalışmanın bildirdiği gibi Kosova için de önemli bir sorundur. Oranların azaltılması için; daha ileri araştırmalar, prenatal bakım ve uygulamaların revizyonu ve geliştirilmesi, doğru doğum zamanlaması, EMR'de profilaktik antibiyotik kullanımı ve medikal tedavi gerekmektedir. **Anahtar Kelimeler:** Erken membran rüptürü, erken başlangıçlı neonatal enfeksiyon, risk faktörleri

Introduction

Kosovo continues to have a high rate of early neonatal morbidity and mortality⁽¹⁾. According to Azemi et al.⁽²⁾ and local annual perinatal reports, perinatal infections are one of the three main causes of early neonatal morbidity and mortality. There are, however, limited data about the rate and risk factors of early-onset neonatal infection (EONI) in pregnancies, including the focus of this study, EONI in pregnancies complicated with prelabor rupture of membranes (PROM), in Kosovo. PROM refers to rupture of the chorioamniotic membranes prior to the onset of labor and prior to the onset of clinically-apparent labor contractions. It can occur at any gestational age, thus this condition has been classified as "preterm PROM" or "term PROM", depending on whether the event occurs before or after 37 weeks of gestation⁽³⁾. Early-onset infectious morbidities in newborn implies infections that occur from birth to seven completed days after birth, and these are considered to be one of the major threats in patients with PROM. The time interval between the rupture of membranes and onset of labor pain is called the latent period, and the time interval between the rupture of membranes and delivery is called the interval period (IP). The minimum latency for diagnosis of PROM is one hour. According to Caughey et al.,⁽⁴⁾ latency after membrane rupture is inversely correlated with gestational age at membrane rupture. At term, 50% of pregnancies complicated with PROM will go into labor spontaneously within 12 hours, 70% within 24 hours, 85% within 48 hours, and 95% within 72 hours. Among pregnancies complicated with preterm PROM, 50% will go into labor within 24 to 48 hours, and 70-90% within seven days.⁽⁴⁾ PROM is a common obstetric complication, but it is difficult to give an accurate incidence because of the wide variations reported in the existing literature. Recent data suggest that PROM occurs in approximately 10 to 12% of all pregnancies. Of these pregnancies, PROM complicates about 8% of term pregnancies and 2 to 3% of preterm pregnancies.⁽⁴⁾ A greater incidence of PROM was found in earlier research studies, which narrowed the PROM incidence range as 14 to 17%⁽⁵⁾. The etiology of PROM is almost certainly multi-factorial and in some cases unknown. The biologic mechanisms behind the development of PROM include intrinsic membrane weakness, mechanical stress, and ascending infection.⁽⁶⁾ PROM is linked

to a number of adverse maternal and neonatal outcomes. The most frequent maternal consequences associated with PROM are chorioamnionitis, endomyometritis, wound infection, pelvic abscess, bacteremia, and postpartum hemorrhage. One of the most serious neonatal consequences associated with PROM is EONI, Physicians, and especially obstetricians, have long debated whether intrauterine infection is a cause or consequence of PROM and it seems likely both pathways are possible. The case for intrauterine infection being a consequence of PROM appears to be proved. Prior to rupture of membranes, the amniotic cavity is nearly always sterile. The physical properties of the intact placental membranes usually represent an effective barrier in preventing entry of bacteria. With rupture of membranes, protection of the fetus from the external micro-organisms ceases, bacteria from the lower genital tract typically enter the amniotic cavity, thus increasing the potential for subsequent maternal, fetal, and neonatal infection.⁽⁷⁾ To determine the rate of neonatal infection in newborn infants with a maternal history of PROM, and to evaluate the association between risk factors and neonatal infectious morbidity.

Materials and Methods

This cross sectional descriptive study was conducted at the Tertiary Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinic University Clinical Center of Kosovo from September 2013 to July 2015. The study participants included pregnant women who were admitted with PROM. The selection of the study participants was based on the defined inclusive criteria: women with singleton pregnancy at or >28 weeks of gestation, presenting with PROM, and giving birth within 72 hours after PROM. Women with preexisting comorbidities and fetal anomalies were excluded from the study. A total of 200 pregnant women who presented with PROM who fulfilled the study's inclusion/exclusion criteria and their newborns were included in the study informed consent was obtained from all potential participants. This study was approved by Research Ethics Committee of the Prishtina University, University Clinical Center of Kosovo (approval number 1451). A specific questionnaire and evaluation form was prepared and used to collect data prospectively at admission and thereafter. Data covering demographic characteristics and clinical data including gestational age at birth, gestational

weight at birth, 1st and 5th minute Apgar (Appearance, Pulse, Grimace, Activity, Respiration) score, interval from PROM to delivery, maternal colonization, and early neonatal infectious morbidity were recorded and analyzed. Confirmation of gestational age was based on the last menstrual period, and in patients with irregular cycle or unknown last menstrual period, the gestational age was determined based on the medical records of the first trimester ultrasound examination. Confirmation of the diagnosis of rupture of membranes was documented through sterile speculum examination confirming the pooling of amniotic fluid in the posterior vaginal fornix or/and direct visualization of fluid leakage from the cervical canal. An ultrasound examination was performed to confirm fetal wellbeing. Immediately after delivery, the physical condition of the newborn was evaluated using Apgar scores by a neonatologist who was present at the birth. The newborns were observed during the first seven days of life during the early neonatal period. EONI was the main outcome registered and studied. The occurrence of early neonatal infection was diagnosed by a neonatologist. Diagnosis of the EONI was made using a combination of the clinical signs of infection (hypothermia, respiratory distress, lethargy, hypotonia, irritability, bradycardia) with laboratory findings (total blood count with differential, CRP $\geq 10 \text{ mg}$ dL) or by positive culture of the urine, cerebral fluid or blood. With the purpose of determining differences in demographic characteristics, the participants were divided in two groups: mothers of newborns without infection (group 1) and mothers of newborns with infection (group 2). With the aim of determining the association of risk factors and neonatal infection, all newborns were divided into two groups based

Table 1. Comparison of maternal characteristics

on the presence of the neonatal infection: newborns without infection (group 1) and newborns with infection (group 2).

Statistical Analysis

aSPSS 17.0 statistical software was used for statistical analysis. Pearson's chi-square test and the t-test were used as appropriate. Clinical characteristics were compared using descriptive statistics and are presented as percentages, frequencies, and means.

Results

Two hundred pregnant women complicated with PROM and their newborns were included in the study. The mean age of patients was 27.5 years [standard deviation (SD) ±5.5]. The majority (67%) of the participants were young, aged 20-29 years, primiparous (67.5%), unemployed (82%), had completed secondary level education (44.5%), with middle socioeconomic status (66.5%), and the average number of people per household was revealed as 6.3 (SD±3.7). Although there were no statistically significant differences regarding mean age, family size, and socio-economic status between the two groups, the registered percentage difference regarding parity and employment status was statistically significant (p<0.05) (Table 1). Twenty-six (13%) of the 200 newborns were diagnosed as having EONI. Of the 26 infants with neonatal infection, the highest percentage had pneumonia (46.2%), followed by sepsis (38.5%), systemic inflammatory response syndrome (11.5%), and 1 infant had meningitis. Exitus letalis was registered in two infants (1%). These were newborns of mothers with PROM in less than 37 weeks of gestation and who were found to have neonatal sepsis. The average weight of newborns with regard to

Variable	Total n=200	Mothers of neonates without infection n=174	Mothers of neonates with EONI n=26	р
Mean age ± SD ^{a,b}	27.5±5.0	27.4±5.4	27.8±5.8	0.758
Parity ^a Nulliparous Multiparous	135 (67.5) 65 (23.5)	124 (71.3) 50 (28.7)	15 (57.7) 11 (42.3)	0.003
Level of education ^a Elementary Secondary University	50 (25.0) 89 (44.5) 61 (30.5)	43 (24.7) 74 (42.5) 57 (32.8)	7 (26.9) 15 (57.7) 4 (15.4)	0.178
Employment status ^a Yes No	35 (17.5) 165 (82.5)	34 (19.5) 140 (80.5)	1 (3.8) 25 (96.2)	0.049
Socioeconomic statusª Low Medium High	18 (9.0) 133 (66.5) 49 (24.5)	14 (8.0) 115 (66.1) 45 (25.9)	4 (15.4) 18 (69.2) 4 (15.4)	0.301
Family size/ \pm SD ^{a,b}	6.3±3.7	6.2±3.8	6.9±3.3	0.368

^aValues are expressed as number (percentage) or mean ± SD, SD: Standard deviation

^bFisher exact test and t test with statistical significance at p<0.05 EONI: Early-onset neonatal

The findings in this study are in congruence with Asindi et

al.⁽⁸⁾ who reported an incidence of 14% of neonatal infection

after PROM. In contrast, Popowski et al.,⁽⁹⁾ in a study among

399 pregnant women complicated with PROM, reported that

4.3% of newborns were diagnosed as having EONI. In a cohort

study conducted in China, Wu et al.⁽¹⁰⁾ reported a much greater

incidence (25%) of EONI in pregnancies complicated with

PROM. According to our study, the observed rate of EONI in

pregnancies complicated with PROM indicates a high neonatal

infectious morbidity rate compared with the results of more

developed countries. Out of all 200 newborns, early-onset

Variable	Group 1 newborns without infection (n=174)	Group 2 newborns with EONI (n=26)	р
Gestational ageª ≥37 weeks, n (%) <37 weeks, n (%)	137 (78.7) 37 (21.2)	7 (26.9) 19 (73.1)	<0.01
Gestational weight at birth $(g)^{a,b}$ Mean \pm SD	3183.2±567.2	2466.2±853.7	<0.01
Interval period (hours) ^{a,b} Mean ± SD	23.3±12.6	34.7±20.3	<0.01
Maternal colonization ^a Positive, n (%) Negative, n (%)	40 (22.9) 134 (77.0)	21 (80.7) 5 (19.2)	<0.01
Mode of delivery ^a Vaginal spontaneous, n (%) Vaginal induced, n (%) CS, n (%) VE, n (%)	57 (32.8) 70 (40.2) 46 (26.4) 1 (0.6)	12 (46.2) 7 (26.9) 7 (26.9)	>0.49
Apgar score, mean ± SD ^{a,b} 1 st minute 5 th minute	7.3±1.53 8.4±1.57	5.7±0.99 7.0±0.86	<0.01 <0.01

Table 2. Risk factors and neonatal infection

*Values are expressed as number (percentage) or mean ± SD, ^bFisher exact test and t test with statistical significance at p<0.05, CS: Cesarean section, VE: Vacuum extraction, Apgar score: Appearance, Pulse, Grimace, Activity, Respiration, EONI: Early-onset neonatal

registered neonatal infection was 2466.9±853.7 g, whereas in those without neonatal infection it was 3183.2±567.2 g. The difference between the average values was statistically significant (p<0.001). The mean interval from PROM to delivery in patients with registered neonatal infection was 34.7±20.3 hours, and the mean interval in the group without neonatal infection was 23.3±12.6 hours (Table 2). According to t-test the difference was statistically significant (p<0.001). The data analysis of the high vaginal swab results revealed that out of 61 colonized mothers, 21 had newborns with infection, thus indicating a significant statistical association between maternal genital tract colonization and EONI. The difference between the mean Apgar scores at the 1st and 5th minutes after birth between the groups with and without neonatal infection was statistically significant (p<0.05). There were no significant differences according to the mode of delivery between the groups (Table 2).

Discussion

EONI remains one of the most serious complications in pregnancies complicated with PROM and poses a major health challenge, especially for developing countries with higher reported rates of early neonatal morbidity and mortality. In this study, out of 200 newborns born following PROM, 13% had EONI. The incidence found in this study is comparable with the results of other studies found in the literature; however, it is important to acknowledge that the literature reveals a wide variation of EONI incidence in pregnancies complicated with PROM.

neonatal sepsis was proven in 5% of cases. This finding is in agreement with Alam et al.⁽¹¹⁾ who conducted a cohort study over a five-year period. Authors analyzed neonatal outcome among neonates who had a maternal history of PROM and they reported an incidence of early neonatal sepsis as 4%. In another prospective study among 135 infants born after PROM, the reported incidence of early-onset neonatal sepsis was 8.1%.⁽¹²⁾ Similarly, Lee at al.⁽¹³⁾ reported an incidence of 6.5% of culture-proven sepsis among neonates born from pregnancies complicated with PROM. This greater incidence of sepsis among infants born after PROM might be due to the fact that these previous studies enrolled newborns born after PROM with a latency period of greater than 24 hours, whereas in our research we included newborns born after PROM for whom the duration of latency period was restricted to a minimum of 1 hour and maximum of 72 hours. In this study, the majority (73%) of infected neonates were born preterm. This higher rate of EONI among preterm infants is expected

and is explained by prematurity and associated incomplete maturation of the immune system, which increases the likelihood of infections. The association of birthweight and neonatal outcome is well known. In a recent study, the median birthweight of a group of neonates with EONI was lower (2446 g) than of neonates without infection (3183 g), the difference being statistically significant (p<0.05). This higher rate of EONI among newborns with lower birth weight is expected and is explained by the immaturity of systems of organs including the immune system. This is in accordance with the finding that birth weight is a significant predictor of neonatal outcome and it is inversely related to risk of EONI, as observed in other studies.⁽¹⁴⁾

The interval between PROM and delivery is a factor that may influence maternal and fetal wellbeing; prolongation of the interval from PROM to delivery increases the incidence infection.⁽¹⁵⁾ In recent research, the interval from membrane rupture to delivery ranged from 7 to 70 hours with a mean of 24.8 hours. Our evaluation of PROM to delivery interval in terms of neonatal infection showed a significantly longer IP of 34.7 hours in the group with neonatal infection versus 23.3 hours in the group without neonatal infection. This finding is in accordance with the findings of Herbst and Kallen⁽¹⁶⁾. They reported that the duration of membrane rupture was an independent risk factor for neonatal sepsis and this risk of neonatal sepsis increased independently and nearly linearly with duration of membrane rupture up to 36 hours, with an odds ratio of 1.29 for each 6-hour increase in membrane rupture duration.

A number of studies have highlighted the association between neonatal infection in the first days of life and maternal genital tract colonization. Among the 200 participants included in the present article, high vaginal swab results were positive in 61 (30.5%) cases. Data analysis revealed that out of 61 colonized mothers, 21 had newborns with infection, thus indicating a significant statistical association between maternal genital tract colonization and EONI. Evaluation of the 1st and 5th minute Apgar scores among neonates with and without neonatal infection showed that Apgar scores were statistically significantly lower in the group with neonatal infection compared with group without neonatal infection (p<0.05). Analysis in a recent study identified 1st minute Apgar scores of 5.7 ± 1.5 as a strong risk factor for the development of early neonatal infection, thus this finding supports observation and screening of neonates for possible EONI. In accordance with our results, Hayun et al.⁽¹⁷⁾ reported that Apgar score, gestational age, and weight at birth are risk factors for EONI. In summary, the data reported in the present study are in alignment with the literature from developing countries, demonstrating high neonatal infectious morbidity rates in pregnancies complicated with PROM.

Study Limitations

The limitation of the present study is its sample size. Future research using larger sample sizes are warranted to replicate these research findings.

Conclusion

The finding of an EONI rate of 13%, of which 5% were confirmed as early-onset neonatal sepsis, provides additional evidence indicating a high level of EONI among newborns of mothers complicated with PROM.

Risk factors for the development of EONI in pregnancies complicated with PROM are: PROM-delivery interval, low gestational weight and low gestational age at birth, maternal colonization, and low Apgar score. The findings of this study contribute to the larger literature by confirming that neonatal infection in pregnancies complicated with PROM is present as a challenge in Kosovo. Future steps to be undertaken include revision and improvement of antenatal care practices and prophylactic use of antibiotics in PROM.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by Research Ethics Committee of the Prishtina University, University Clinical Center of Kosovo (approval number 1451).

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: V.A.I., Concept: V.A.I., Design: V.A.I., A.E.M., Data Collection or Processing: V.A.I., Analysis or Interpretation: R.I., V.A.I., Literature Search: V.A.I., R.I., A.E.M., Writing: V.A.I.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- American International Health Alliance. Final Performance Report. Partnership to Improve the Health of Women and Children in Kosovo; 2013. http://www.aiha.com/wp content/uploads /2015/06/ KosovoCloseoutReportFINAL.pdf
- 2. Azemi M ,Gashi S, Berisha M, Kolgeci S, Ismaili-Jaha V. Rate and Time Trend of Perinatal, Infant, Maternal Mortality, Natality and Natural Population Growth in Kosovo Mater Sociomed 2012;24: 238-41.
- 3. Mazaki-Tovi S, Romero R, Kusanovic JP, Erez O, Pineles BL, Gotsch F, et al. Recurrent Preterm Birth. Seminars Perinatol 2007;31:142-58.
- Caughey AB, Robinson JN, Norwitz ER. Contemporary Diagnosis and Management of Preterm Premature Rupture of Membranes. Rev Obstet Gynecol 2008;1:11-22.
- Allen SR. Epidemiology of premature rupture of the fetal membranes. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1991;34:685-93.

- 6. Gibbs RS, Blanco JD. Premature rupture of the membranes. Obstet Gynecol 1982;60:671-9.
- Marowitz A. PROM at term: Management of prelabor rupture of membranes at term. In: Anderson B, Stone S (eds). Best practices in midwifery. USA: Springer Publishing Company; 2013. p. 139-48.
- Asindi AA, Archibong El, Mannan NB. Mother infant colonization and neonatal sepsis in prelabor rupture of membranes. Saudi Med J 2002;23:1270-4.
- Popowski T, Goffinet F, Maillard F, Schmitz T, Leroy S, Kayem G. Maternal markers for detecting early-onset neonatal infection and chorioamnionitis in cases of premature rupture of membranes at or after 34 weeks of gestation: a two-center prospective study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2011:11-26.
- Wu J, Liu J, Feng ZC, Huang JJ, Wu G. Influence of premature rupture of membranes on neonatal health. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 2009;47:452-6.
- Alam MM, Saleem AF, Shaikh AS, Munir O, Qadir M. Neonatal sepsis following prolonged rupture of membranes in a tertiary care hospital in Karachi, Pakistan. J Infect Dev Ctries 2014;8:67-73.

- 12. Linder N, Ohel G, Gazit G, Keidar D, Tamir I, Reichman B. Neonatal sepsis after prolonged premature rupture of membranes. J Perinatol 1995;15:36-8.
- Lee SY, Park KH, Jeong EH, Oh KJ, Ryu A, Park KU. Relationship between Maternal Serum C-Reactive Protein, Funisitis and earlyonset Neonatal Sepsis. J Korean Med Scie 2012;27:674-80.
- 14. Onwuanaku CA, Okolo SN, Ige KO, Okpe SE, Toma BO. The effects of birth weight and gender on neonatal mortality in north central Nigeria. BMC Res Notes 2011;4:562.
- Chua S, Arulkumaran S, Sailesh Kumar S, Selamat N, Ratnam SS. Prelabour Rupture of Membranes to Delivery Interval Related to the Incidence of Maternal and Neonatal Infection. J Obstet Gynaecol (Tokyo 1995) 1995;21:367-72.
- Herbst A, Kallen K. Time between membrane rupture and delivery and septicemia in term neonates. Obstet Gynecol 2007;110:612-8.
- 17. Hayun M, Alasiry E, Daud D, Febriani D, Madjid DB. The Risk Factors of Early Onset Neonatal Sepsis. American Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine 2015;3:78-82.



YKL-40 in the diagnosis, prediction of prognosis, and platinum sensitivity in serous epithelial ovarian cancer

Seröz epitelyal over kanserinde tanıda, prognoz ve platin duyarlılığı öngörüsünde YKL-40 kullanımı

D İlker Kahramanoğlu¹, O Nedim Tokgözoğlu¹, O Hasan Turan¹, O Veysel Şal¹, O Gönül Şimşek²,
 O Remise Gelişgen³, O Tugan Beşe¹, O Fuat Demirkıran¹, O Macit Arvas¹, O Hafize Uzun³

¹İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Division of Gynecologic Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey

²İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, İstanbul, Turkey

³İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: To evaluate the use of YKL-40 in the discrimination between benign and malignant adnexal mass and to determine its prognostic value in assessing residual tumor after primary cytoreduction and platinum sensitivity in serous epithelial ovarian carcinoma (EOC).

Materials and Methods: During the three years from January 2015 to December 2017, a nonconsecutive series of 100 patient (60 malignant, 40 benign) who underwent surgery for an adnexal mass were enrolled in the study. Preoperatively, serum samples were collected for YKL-40 level analysis. Results: YKL-40 [receiver operator characteristics (ROC)-area under curve (AUC)=0.83] was a significantly better predictor of EOC than cancer antigen-125

Results: YKL-40 [receiver operator characteristics (ROC)-area under curve (AUC)=0.83] was a significantly better predictor of EOC than cancer antigen-125 (ROC-AUC=0.75). Using a cut-off for YKL-40 of 47.7 ng/mL had a sensitivity of 80% and a specificity of 70%. Higher serum YKL-40 levels were associated with advanced stage, higher grade, residual tumor after primary cytoreduction and recurrence. Platinum-sensitive patients had significantly elevated levels of YKL-40 compared with platinum-resistant or refractory patients.

Conclusion: The results obtained from our study support the use of serum YKL-40 for the discrimination between malignant and benign ovarian tumors. YKL-40 levels in patients with serous EOC may also predict disease residual disease after primary cytoreduction and recurrence. Further studies are needed to understand the relationship between YKL-40 and platinum sensitivity.

Keywords: YKL-40, ovarian cancer, biomarker, platinum sensitivity

Öz

Amaç: Benign ve malign adneksiyel kitlelerin ayrımında YKL-40 kullanımını araştırmak ve YKL-40'ın seröz epitelyal over kanserinde (EOK) primer sitoredüksiyon sonrası rezidual tümörü ve platin sensitivitesini öngörmedeki etkinliğini değerlendirmek.

Gereç ve Yöntemler: Ocak 2015-Aralık 2017 arasındaki üç yıl boyunca, adneksiyel kitle nedeniyle opere olan, ardışık olmayan 100 hasta (60 malign, 40 benign) çalışmaya dahil edildi. Preoperatif dönemde, serum örnekleri YKL-40 analizi için toplandı.

Bulgular: YKL-40 [alıcı işlem karakteristikleri (AİK)-eğri altında kalan alan (EAKA)=0,83], EOK'yi kanser antijen-125'e (AİK-EAKA=0,75) göre anlamlı olarak daha iyi predikte etmektedir. YKL-40 için 47,7 ng/mL eşik değeri kullanıldığında, %80 sensitivite ve %70 spesifisite sağlanmaktadır. Yüksek serum YKL-40 değerleri, ileri evre, ileri derece, primer sitoredüksiyon sonrası rezidual tümör ve rekürens ile ilişkiliydi. Platin sensitif hastalarda, platin dirençli ve platin refrakter hastalara göre anlamlı olarak yükselmiş YKL-40 seviyeleri mevcuttu.

Sonuç: Çalışmamızdan elde edilen bulgular, malign ve benign over tümörlerinin ayrımında serum YKL-40'ın kullanılmasını desteklemektedir. Seröz EOK'li hastalarda YKL-40 seviyeleri, primer sitoredüksiyon sonrası reizdual hastalığı ve rekürensi predikte edebilir. YKL-40 ile platin sensitivtesi arasındaki ilişkinin anlaşılabilmesi için, gelecek çalışmalara ihtiyaç vardır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: YKL-40, over kanseri, biyomarker, platin sensitivitesi

PRECIS: YKL-40 may be used in the management of adnexal masses and may predict residual disease after primary cytoreduction and recurrence.

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: İlker Kahramanoğlu, MD,

İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Division of Gynecologic Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 533 474 64 97 E-mail: ikerkahramanoglu@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-09561050 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 27.03.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 22.05.2018

[©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

Introduction

Ovarian cancer is a common gynecologic malignancy associated with poor prognosis worldwide. Patients with early stage ovarian cancer have a 5-year overall survival of 70-90%. However, more than 70% of women are diagnosed as having stage III or IV disease, which has a 5-year survival rate of around only 25%⁽¹⁾. This poor prognosis emphasizes the need for early detection in screening programs and prognostic markers to guide individual cancer treatment. The standard treatment of early epithelial ovarian carcinoma (EOC) is full staging including pelvic and paraaortic lymphadenectomy. Debulking surgery followed by platinumbased chemotherapy is the cornerstone of treatment of advanced EOC⁽²⁾. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by interval cytoreduction has been a debatable alternative option. A metaanalysis of 21 non-randomized trials concluded that survival between two groups was similar⁽³⁾. Subsequently, Vergote et al.⁽⁴⁾ performed a randomized trial including patients with stage IIIC-IV EOC and found that optimal cytoreduction was higher in an interval cytoreduction group compared with a primary cytoreduction group with significantly less morbidity in the interval cytoreduction group. However, a number of studies showed that leaving no residual tumor following primary debulking surgery was the single most important independent prognostic factor in advanced EOC^(4,5). Patients who are at higher risk of residual tumor after primary cytoreduction should be isolated in the preoperative period, and these should benefit from neoadjuvant chemotherapy. A glycoprotein, YKL-40, also known as chitinase-3-like 1 protein, was identified in the 1990s. Since then, it has been of special interest because it is associated with degradation of extracellular matrix and promotes angiogenesis in a vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-independent manner^(6,7). During the last decade, YKL-40 has been increasingly studied in several tumor types^(6,8-10). In vitro, YKL-40 upregulates VEGF and is associated with tumor angiogenesis⁽⁹⁾. In vivo animal studies demonstrated that inhibition of YKL-40 decreased angiogenesis, tumor formation, and metastasis⁽¹¹⁻¹³⁾. Recent studies showed that neutrophils and tumour cells expressed and released YKL-40 into the blood^(9,14). Increased serum levels of YKL-40 were shown in some cancer types such as breast cancer, lung cancer, colorectal cancer, melanoma, and endometrial cancer^(6,7,10,15,16). YKL-40 was suggested to have the potential to be a better marker than cancer antigen-125 (CA-125) for early diagnosis of EOC^(17,18). However, results from recent studies on the diagnostic efficiency of YKL-40 were inconsistent⁽¹⁸⁻²⁰⁾. There are a limited number of studies reporting that elevated plasma YKL-40 levels are associated with worse outcomes in patients with ovarian cancer^(17,21-23). Also, it has been suggested that future studies should focus on determining an optimal cut-off value in patients with ovarian cancer for serum YKL-40⁽⁶⁾. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the usefulness of YKL-40 in the discrimination

178

of benign and malignant adnexal masses and to determine the efficacy of YKL-40 in the preoperative estimation of the prognostic parameters such as stage and grade of the disease, residual tumor after primary cytoreduction, and response to platinum-based chemotherapy.

Materials and Methods

This prospective observational study was conducted at İstanbul University Cerrahpasa Faculty of Medicine, Division of Gynecologic Oncology, between January 2015 and December 2017. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of İstanbul University Cerrahpasa Faculty of Medicine (protocol number: 83045809-604.01.02). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients. The manuscript was prepared in accordance with the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology statement⁽²⁴⁾. Blood samples were collected preoperatively from a nonconsecutive series of 100 patients who were planned to undergo surgery for an adnexal mass in our clinic. Exclusion criteria were the presence of one or more of the following: i) a suspicous malignancy other than ovarian cancer; ii) systematic disease including renal and/or hepatic impairment; iii) neoadjuvant chemotherapy; iv) history of any malignancy; v) ovarian malignancy other than serous histopathology; and vi) pregnancy. Frozen section evaluation was performed intraoperatively in the presence of suspicion in the diagnosis. The same gynecologic pathologists evaluated all of the specimens. The stage of disease and histologic types were in accordance with the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics classification⁽²⁵⁾. Maximal cytoreduction was defined as removing all gross tumoral tissue with no visible disease left. Optimal cytoreduction was defined as residual volume of 1 cm or less after surgery. Residual tumor more than 1 cm was classified as suboptimal cytoreduction. All patients with serous EOC (except those with stage IA and IB disease) received 6 cycles of adjuvant carboplatinum and paclitaxel. The platinum-free interval was defined as the interval from the last treatment with platinum to recurrence. Patients were accepted as platinum sensitive, if the platinumfree interval was longer than 6 months; platinum resistant, if it was shorter than 6 months; or platinum refractory, if the disease was persistent or progressive during the first-line chemotherapy. Progression of disease was diagnosed in the presence of elevated CA-125 and imaging results according to Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors criteria⁽²⁶⁾. Progression-free survival was defined as the time interval between primary surgery and progression or death from any cause. Blood samples were collected in EDTA-containing tubes and anticoagulant-free tubes after an overnight fast on the morning before the surgery. Plasma and serum were seperated immediately and stored at -80 °C until analysis. After reaching the desired number of cases in both groups, all serum samples were defrosted at room temperature in the medical biochemistry laboratory of the faculty. Serum

YKL-40 concentrations were determined by a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent (ELISA) kit using a doubleantibody sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique (human chitinase-3-like protein 1 YKL-40, ELISA Kit, Cat. No. YHB0684Hu; Shanghai Yehua Biological Technology Co. Ltd, China). Each ELISA analysis was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. All tests showed intraassay and interassay coefficients of variations below 6% (n=10) and 7.5% (n=10), respectively. The analytical sensitivity of the test was 0.52 ng/mL.

Statistical Analysis

Patients' characteristics and clinical features were summarized using standard descriptive statistics. Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparison between two groups. T-test was used in comparison of independent samples' average. Receiver operating characteristics curves (ROC) were constructed for YKL-40 and CA-125 serum concentrations as diagnostics for cancer by plotting sensitivity versus 1-specificity, and area under curve (AUC) was calculated for both markers. All p-values were two sided and p<0.05 were considered as statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 21.

Results

Age, BMI, and menopausal status were similar between the malignant and benign groups (Table 1). The pathologic subtypes of benign ovarian tumors included endometriotic cysts (n=14), serous cystadenoma (n=12), dermoid cyst (n=9), and mucinous cystadenoma (n=5). Serum YKL-40 and CA-125 levels were significantly higher in patients with serous EOC, but CA-19-9 and CA-15-3 levels did not differ between the groups.

As illustrated in Figure 1, sensitivity was 80% and specificity was 70%, respectively, when a cut-off serum YKL-40 level of 47.7 ng/mL was applied. When 34.3 ng/mL was used as a cut-off value, the specificity decreased to 58.5%; however, sensitivity increased to 90%. The obtained areas under the ROC curves for YKL-40 (AUC=0.83) were greater than for CA-125 (AUC=0.75). Patients with serous EOC were analyzed seperately. One-quarter of the patients had stage I disease. Stage III disease consisted of almost 70% of the malignant group. In the next step, we analyzed the relationship between preoperative serum YKL-40 and clinicopathologic features of patients with serous EOC, such as stage, grade, residual tumor, and recurrence (Table 2). Significantly increased serum levels of YKL-40 were observed in patients with advanced stage and higher grade disease. When compared with maximal cytoreduction, optimal and suboptimal cytoreductions were found to be correlated with greater YKL-40 levels. The overall recurrence rate was 30% within a median follow-up time of 21 months (range, 2-35 months). The median time to recurrence after primary surgery and platinum-based chemotherapy was 7 months. The comparison of preoperative serum YKL-

40 levels between patients with and without recurrence demonstrated signicificantly elevated levels in the latter patients (Table 2). When patients who had recurrence were investiagted in terms of platinum sensitivity, it was found that YKL-40 were significantly higher in the sensitive group compared with resistant and refractory groups (mean values of YKL-40: 179.2, 146.9 and 141.7 in platinum-sensitve, resistant, and refractory patients, respectively) (Figure 2).

Table 1. Clinical and laboratory characteristics of groups withmalignant and benign disease

	Malignant group (n=60)	Benign group (n=40)	р
	Mean	Mean	
Age (years)	55.1	49.7	NS
BMI (kg/m²)	26.6	27.1	NS
Menopausal status	n (%)	n (%)	
Premenopausal Postmenopausal	19 (31.6) 41 (68.3)	14 (35) 26 (65)	NS
	Mean	Mean	
YKL-40 (ng/mL)	102.9	43.9	< 0.05
CA-125 (U/mL)	1137.5	151.9	< 0.05
CA 19-9 (U/mL)	56.5	33.6	NS
CA 15-3 (U/mL)	72.5	18.5	NS
NS: Not significant. CA: Cancer	antigen. BMI: Body ma	ass index	

Table 2. Clinical characteristics and plasma YKL-40 levels of patients

 with serous epithelial ovarian carcinoma

	n (%)	YKL-40 (ng/mL) Mean ± SD	р
Histology Serous	60 (100)	102.9±63.5	-
FIGO stage IA-IC II IIIA-IIIC2	15 (25) 4 (6.6) 41 (68.3)	50.6±23.6 107.2±63.5 121.7±63.7	0.001
Histologic grade 1 2 3	8 (13.3) 2 (3.3) 50 (83.3)	34.6±16.4 156.6±133.7 111.7±59.1	0.002
Residual tumor 0 ≤1 cm >1 cm	51 (85) 7 (11.6) 2 (3.3)	94.1±57.4 136.8±38.3 261.2±14.1	<0.001
Recurrence No Yes	42 (70) 18 (30)	77.4±47.5 162.5±56.5	<0.001 - -

SD: Standard deviation, FIGO: International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics



Figure 1. Receiver operating characteristic curves showing the performance of serum YKL-40 and cancer antigen-125 levels for differentiating between benign ovarian tumors and epithelial ovarian carcinoma

- Specificity

ROC: Receiver operating characteristic, CA-125: Cancer antigen-125, AUC: Area under curve



Figure 2. Receiver operating characteristic curves showing the performance of serum YKL-40 and cancer antigen-125 levels for differentiating between benign ovarian tumors and epithelial ovarian carcinoma

Discussion

There are still limited data investigating serum markers to differentiate between benign and malignant ovarian tumors⁽²⁷⁾. For long time, the best documented and the most frequently recommended serum marker has been CA-125 in the management of adnexal masses⁽²⁸⁾. In this study, preoperative serum levels of YKL-40 were assessed in patients with benign adnexal mass, and in patients with serous EOC. One of the major findings of this study is that patients with EOC had significantly higher serum YKL-40 levels compared with those with benign ovarian tumors. Moderate-to-high sensitivity and specificity (80% and 70%, respectively) was found when a cut-off level of 47.7 ng/mL was used. On the other hand, the sensitivity and specificity of CA-125 (cut-off value: 35 U/mL) were 76% and 57.5%, respectively. YKL-40 was a better predictor of ovarian

cancer than CA-125 in our study population. Similar findings were observed in previous studies. Plasma YKL-40 levels were found to be elevated in more than 70% of patients with ovarian cancer compared with healthy patients^(17,21-23). As a result, YKL-40 has been included in the "top 9" biomarkers that are capable of discriminating between malignant and benign ovarian diseases⁽²⁹⁾. Secondly, we investigated the association between YKL-40 and prognostic factors of EOC such as stage and grade of disease, residual tumor after primary cytoreduction, and recurrence. Results from similar studies suggested that high preoperative YKL-40 was an independent predictor of worse survival, which is in accordance with our findings^(6,17,21-23). Zou et al.⁽¹⁹⁾ found that YKL-40 was associated with poor clinical outcome and worse tumor stages and grades. A unique study from Copenhagen, investigating the prognostic value of plasma YKL-40 in platinum-resistant ovarian cancer patients treated with bevacizumab found that elevated YKL-40 levels (>95th percentile) at baseline were associated with poor survial and residual disease after primary surgery⁽⁶⁾. Furthermore, two studies found that high serum levels of YKL-40 were associated with chemoresistance^(22,30). On the contrary, higher YKL-40 levels were detected in platinum-sensitive patients in the present study. One possible explanation for the contrast may be that Gronlund et al.⁽²²⁾ examined the role of YKL-40 on chemosensitivity in the second-line treatment of EOC patients, whereas we included only patients with serous EOC who received first-line platinum-based chemotherapy. For the first time, Chudecka-Glaz et al.⁽³⁰⁾ demonstrated that higher serum YKL-40 levels were associated with first-line platinum resistance. Their study and ours included a limited number of patients. Larger studies are needed to see if there is a correlation between YKL-40 and platinum sensitivity.

Study Limitations

It has been suggested that future studies of serum YKL-40 should be powered to investigate its value as a biomarker in individual histologic subtypes of ovarian cancer⁽⁶⁾. In our study, all patients with ovarian malignancy had the same histopathology. The present study included patients over a period of almost three years. However, because of the short study period, the same practices (same surgical team, same chemotherapy regimen starting on almost same postoperative days) were applied to all patients. The limitations of this study include the small number of patients, which means that strong conclusions cannot be drawn.

Conclusion

In conclusion, our findings suggest that preoperative serum YKL-40 can be used for to discriminate between malignant and benign ovarian tumors. In addition, higher YKL-40 levels indicate a higher risk of recurrence. Conflicting results regarding YKL-40 and platinum sensitivity should be eliminated by larger prospective studies.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine (protocol number: 83045809-604.01.02).

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: İ.K., N.T., V.Ş., H.T., M.A., FD., T.B., Concept: İ.K., N.T., T.B., F.D., H.U., Design: İ.K., N.T., T.B., V.Ş., H.U., Data Collection or Processing: N.T., H.T., G.Ş., R.G., H.U., Analysis or Interpretation: H.U., İ.K., G.Ş., H.U., Literature Search: İ.K., V.Ş., H.T., H.U., Writing: İ.K., H.T.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 2015;65:5-29.
- Bristow RE, Tomacruz RS, Armstrong DK, Trimble EL, Montz FJ. Survival effect of maximal cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian carcinoma during the platinum era: a meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 2002;20:1248-59.
- Kang S, Nam BH. Does neoadjuvant chemotherapy increase optimal cytoreduction rate in advanced ovarian cancer? Meta-analysis of 21 studies. Ann Surg Oncol 2009;16:2315-20.
- Vergote I, Trope CG, Amant F, Kristensen GB, Ehlen T, Johnson N, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy or primary surgery in stage IIIC or IV ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 2010;363:943-53.
- Chi DS, Eisenhauer EL, Lang J, Huh J, Haddad L, Abu-Rustum NR, et al. What is the optimal goal of primary cytoreductive surgery for bulky stage IIIC epithelial ovarian carcinoma (EOC)? Gynecol Oncol 2006;103:559-64.
- 6. Boisen MK, Madsen CV, Dehlendorff C, Jakobsen A, Johansen JS, Steffensen KD. The prognostic value of plasma YKL-40 in patients with chemotherapy-resistant ovarian cancer treated with bevacizumab. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2016;26:1390-8.
- Kotowicz B, Fuksiewicz M, Jonska Gmyrek J, Wagrodzki M, Kowalska M. Preoperative serum levels of YKL 40 and CA 125 as a prognostic indicators in patients with endometrial cancer. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2017;215:141-7.
- Yamac D, Ozturk B, Coskun U, Tekin E, Sancak B, Yildiz R, et al. Serum YKL-40 levels as a prognostic factor in patients with locally advanced breast cancer. Adv Ther 2008;25:801-9.
- 9. Shao R. YKL-40 acts as an angiogenic factor to promote tumor angiogenesis. Front Physiol 2013;4:122.
- Johansen JS, Christensen IJ, Jørgensen LN, Olsen J, Rahr HB, Nielsen KT, et al. Serum YKL-40 in risk assessment for colorectal cancer: a prospective study of 4,496 subjects at risk of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 2015;24:621-6.
- Shao R, Hamel K, Petersen L, Cao QJ, Arenas RB, Bigelow C, et al. YKL-40, a secreted glycoprotein, promotes tumor angiogenesis. Oncogene 2009;28:4456-68.
- 12. Faibish M, Francescone R, Bentley B, Yan W, Shao R. A YKL-40neutralizing antibody blocks tumor angiogenesis and progression: a

potential therapeutic agent in cancers. Mol Cancer Ther 2011;10:742-51.

- 13. Ngernyuang N, Francescone RA, Jearanaikoon P, Daduang J, Supoken A, Yan W, et al. Chitinase 3 like 1 is associated with tumor angiogenesis in cervical cancer. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2014;51:45-52.
- Li LL, Fan JT, Li DH, Liu Y. Effects of a small interfering RNA targeting YKL-40 gene on the proliferation and invasion of endometrial cancer HEC-1A cells. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2016;26:1190-5.
- Xu CH, Yu LK, Hao KK. Serum YKL-40 level is associated with the chemotherapy response and prognosis of patients with small cell lung cancer. PLoS One 2014;9:e96384.
- Lugowska I, Kowalska M, Fuksiewicz M, Kotowicz B, Mierzejewska E, Kosela-Paterczyk H, et al. Serum markers in early-stage and locally advanced melanoma. Tumour Biol 2015;36:8277-85.
- 17. Høgdall EV, Ringsholt M, Høgdall CK, Christensen IJ, Johansen JS, Kjaer SK, et al. YKL-40 tissue expression and plasma levels in patients with ovarian cancer. BMC Cancer 2009;9:8.
- 18. Chen J, Liu X, Pan YQ, He BS, Ying HQ, Sun HL, et al. Analysis of diagnostic value of YKL-40 in ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2016.
- 19. Zou L, He X, Zhang JW. The efficacy of YKL-40 and CA125 as biomarkers for epithelial ovarian cancer. Braz J Med Biol Res 2010;43:1232-8.
- Choudhuri S, Sharma C, Banerjee A, Kumar S, Kumar L, Singh N. A repertoire of biomarkers helps in detection and assessment of therapeutic response in epithelial ovarian cancer. Mol Cell Biochem 2014;386:259-69.
- 21. Dupont J, Tanwar MK, Thaler HT, Fleisher M, Kauff N, Hensley ML, et al. Early detection and prognosis of ovarian cancer using serum YKL-40. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:3330-9.
- 22. Gronlund B, Høgdall EV, Christensen IJ, Johansen JS, Nørgaard-Pedersen B, Engelholm SA, et al. Pre-treatment prediction of chemoresistance in second-line chemotherapy of ovarian carcinoma: value of serological tumor marker determination (tetranectin, YKL-40, CASA, CA 125). Int J Biol Markers 2006;21:141-8.
- Høgdall EV, Johansen JS, Kjaer SK, Price PA, Christensen L, Blaakaer J, et al. High plasma YKL-40 level in patients with ovarian cancer stage III is related to shorter survival. Oncol Rep 2003;10:1535-8.
- 24. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) Statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Int J Surg 2014;12:1495-9.
- 25. Prat J; FIGO Committee on Gynecologic Oncology. Staging classification for cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2014;124:1-5.
- 26. Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumors : revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). Eur J Cancer 2009;45:228-47.
- Sal V, Kahramanoglu I, Bese T, Demirkiran F, Sofiyeva N, Soyman Z, et al. Is serum level of nestin useful in detecting epithelial ovarian cancer? J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2017;43:371-7.
- 28. Romagnolo C, Leon AE, Fabricio ASC, Taborelli M, Polesel J, Del Pup L, et al. HE4, CA125 and risk of ovarian malignancy algorithm (ROMA) as diagnostic tools for ovarian cancer in patients with a pelvic mass: An Italian multicenter study. Gynecol Oncol 2016;141:303-11.
- 29. Yip P, Chen TH, Seshaiah P, Stephen LL, Michael-Ballard KL, Mapes JP, et al. Comprehensive serum profiling for the discovery of epithelial ovarian cancer biomarkers. PLoS One 2011;6:e29533.
- Chudecka-Glaz AM, Cymbaluk-Ploska AA, Menkiszak JL, Sompolska-Rzechula AM, Toloczko-Grabarek AI, Rzepka-Gorska IA. Serum HE4, CA125, YKL-40, bcl-2, cathepsin-L and prediction optimal debulking surgery, response to chemotherapy in ovarian cancer. J Ovarian Res 2014;7:62.



Women self-reported G-spot existence and relation with sexual function and genital perception

Kadınlara göre G-spot var mı? G-spotun seksüel fonksiyonlar ve genital algı ile ilişkisi

Aşkı Ellibeş Kaya¹, Eray Çalışkan²

¹Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Düzce, Turkey

²Bahçeşehir University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Aim of study to determine the existence of the G-spot from the healthy women's point of view and to assess the relationship with sexual function and genital perception.

Materials and Methods: Sexually-active healthy polyclinic patients aged between 18 and 54 years (n=309) were classified into three groups as group 1 (do not agree, n=90, 29.1%), group 2 (neutral/do not know, n=61, 19.7%) and group 3 (agree, n=158, 51.1%) with regard to participants' responses to a question of "does the G-spot exist." The Female Sexual Function index (FSFI) and Female Genital Self-Image scale (FGSIS) were administered to the participants.

Results: Half of the patients (51.1%, n=151) indicated that the G-spot exists. The groups were statistically homogeneous in terms of body mass index, parity, marital status, number of partners, and sexual orientation (p=0.41, p=0.06, p=0.12, p=0.19, p=0.25; respectively). Women with an education level of "less than high school" reported the absence of the G-spot significantly more often than others, whereas women with an education level of "university and higher" reported the presence of the G-spot more often ($p\leq0.001$). Sexual dysfunction was found to be more frequent in group 1 when compared with group 3 (p=0.002, 67.8%, 45.6%). The orgasm subdomain scores of the FSFI and FGSIS total scores were significantly higher in group 3 than in group 1 (p<0.001, p=0.041).

Conclusion: Half of healthy women in the Turkish population believe that the G-spot exists. Those women showed better scores in sexual functioning and genital perception.

Keywords: Female Sexual Function index, Grafenberg's zone, G-spot, vulvar perception

Öz

Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı; sağlıklı kadınlara göre G-spot'un varlığını sorgulamak ve cevapların seksüel fonksiyonlar ve genital algı ile ilişkisini belirlemektir. **Gereç ve Yöntemler:** Cinsel aktif 18-54 yaş aralığında sağlıklı poliklinik hastalarının; "G-spot var mı?" sorusuna verdikleri yanıtlarına göre grup 1 (katılmıyorum, n=90, %29,1), grup 2 (kararsızını/bilmiyorum, n=61, %19,7), grup 3 (katılıyorum, n=158, %51,1) şeklinde üç gruba ayrıldı (n=309). Hastalara FSFI (Kadın Cinsel İşlev ölçeği) ve FGSIS (Kadın Genital Algı ölçeği) uygulandı.

Bulgular: Hastaların yarısı G-Spot un var olduğunu belirtti (%51,1, n=151). Vücut kitle indeksi, parite, evlilik durumu, partner sayısı, seksüel yönelim bakımından G-spot gruplan arasında istatistiksel anlamlı fark saptanmadı (p=0,41, p=0,06, p=0,12, p=0,19, p=0,25). Lise ve daha az eğitimi olan katılımcılar daha yüksek oranda G-spot yoktur derken; üniversite ve üzerinde eğitim alan katılımcılarda, G-spot vardır diyenler anlamlı olarak fazlaydı (p \leq 0,001). Grup 3'teki kadınlarla kıyaslandığında, grup 1'de FSFI'ya göre cinsel işlev bozukluğu sıklığı daha yüksekti (%67,8, %45,6, p=0,002); FSFI orgazm alt grup skoru ve FGSIS toplam skorları grup 3'te grup 1'e kıyasla anlamlı olarak daha yüksekti (sırasıyla; p<0,001, p=0,041).

Sonuç: Türk popülasyonundaki sağlıklı yetişkin kadınların yarısı G-spot varlığına inanmaktadır. Bu kadınların cinsel işlev ve genital algı skorları daha fazla bulunmuştur.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Kadın Cinsel İşlev indeksi, Grafenberg bölgesi, G-noktası, vulvar algı

PRECIS: Women self-reported G-spot existence.

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Aşkı Ellibeş Kaya, MD,

Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Düzce, Turkey **Phone:** +90 505 524 83 16 **E-mail:** askiellibes@hotmail.com **ORCID ID:** orcid.org/0000-0002-1323-7416 **Received/Geliş Tarihi:** 20.05.2018 **Accepted/Kabul Tarihi:** 03.07.2018

[®]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

Introduction

Female sexuality is complex and is influenced by many factors related to physiologic, psychological, hormonal, social, cultural, and partner issues. The vital organ in males is the penis, whereas the uterus, vagina, clitoris, and the Grafenberg-spot (G-spot), whose existence is not definite, are among the factors that are effective in women⁽¹⁾. The G-spot is a current and controversial issue, and it now attracts interest in female sexuality because it involves a market share in genital esthetics with interventions such as its augmentation⁽²⁾. Ernst Grafenberg was the first to describe the G-spot as an erogenous zone approximately half a centimeter in size, below the urethra on the anterior wall of the vagina, but the first reports of its presence date back much further. During orgasm, this area is pressed downwards like a small cystocele protruding into the vaginal canal⁽³⁾. The G-spot was named after Addiego's case report on female ejaculation thirty years later⁽⁴⁾. In this article, it was stated that when a 1.5-2 cm area extending along the long axis of the urethra was touched, it gave rise to a urination feeling, and when stimulation was sustained, it was stimulated in sexual terms, and with this stimulation, the area was enlarged at a rate of 50%. About the same subject, anatomists, gynecologists, and sexual experts published self-reported questionnaire studies, case studies, anatomic and histologic studies and imaging studies⁽⁵⁻¹³⁾. Whether it is really anatomically present or a scientific deception still awaits an answer and publications are contradictory^(14,15). In this study, we asked in detail whether the participant felt a coin-size sensitive area in the anterior vaginal wall at the time of finger or penis penetration or pressure; namely the G-spot. The purpose of the study was to investigate how many women who as owners of this zone and to investigate its possible effect on sexual function and female genital perception.

Materials and Methods

The institutional Ethics Committee approved the study (Düzce University) (approval number: 2018/81), and written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in this study.

The descriptive cross-sectional study was conducted in a medical faculty between January 2018 and April 2018. The questionnaires were administered to healthy female participants who reported no known illnesses. Sexually-active and premenopausal patients ageg over 18 years who were admitted to our hospital polyclinic for routine gynecologic examinations were admitted to the study. Patients with esthetic concerns, those planning to undergo genital esthetic procedures, postmenopausal patients, those who had never had vaginal sexual intercourse, incontinence, pelvic organ prolapses, menstrual disorders and gynecologic cancer history, gynecologic surgery for any reason, oral contraceptive and antidepressant medication, with episiotomy, and those using intrauterine devices were excluded from the study. A total

of 309 participants who agreed to participate in the study, who met these criteria, and who completed the questionnaire were included in the analyses of the study. Two lesbian participants were excluded from the study because they said they had not experienced any vaginal sexual intercourse, and five lesbian participants were included in the study because they stated that they engaged in vaginal sexual intercourse. The participants were taken into a quiet room, and their demographic data were recorded, the questions on the G-spot were asked, and the Female Sexual Function index (FSFI) and Female Genital Self-Image scale (FGSIS) questionnaires, which have been validated for the Turkish language, were administered^(16,17). The FSFI is a brief instrument for the assessment of sexual function consisting of 19 questions. It was validated based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Fourth Edition (diagnoses of desire disorder, arousal disorder, and orgasmic dysfunction). Questions are scored for domains of libido, arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction, and pain⁽¹⁸⁾. Female sexual dysfunction was defined as a total score of 26 or less (maximum possible score of 36)⁽¹⁹⁾. To investigate the relationship between the G-spot and orgasm, the orgasm subdomain scores were also calculated (for orgasm subdomain, a maximum possible score of 6). Based on the fact that female sexual functions are associated with genital perception, we applied the FGSIS, which has been validated for the Turkish language⁽¹⁷⁾. The FGSIS is a 7-item questionnaire and is easy to apply, and shows female genital perception⁽²⁰⁾. The question related to the G-spot asked was as follow: "Is there a region on the front of your vagina where you urinate and where you feel more sensitive when stimulated with a finger or penis during sexual intercourse?; Answers were collected in the form of "No, I do not agree," "I am undecided-I do not know," "Yes, I agree." According to the responses given to the G-spot

Statistical Analysis

then, the analyses were made.

Continuous data are summarized as mean ± standard deviation and categorical data as frequency and percentage. The independent Samples t-test and One-Way analysis of variance were used to compare groups. Relations between categorical variables were examined using Pearson's chi-square or Fisher's exact tests. When significant results were found, subgroup analyses were performed with Bonferroni correction. Correlations between continuous data were analyzed using Pearson's correlation coefficient. The IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp. (IBM, SPSS Inc., USA) statistical software package was used, and the significance level (p) was considered as <0.05.

questions, the participants were divided into groups 1, 2, 3; and

Results

The demographic data of the patients are given in Table 1. Among all participants, there were 151 (51.1%) participants who said that the G-spot existed; 90 (29.1%) participants said "No, there is no such region" and 61 (19.7%) participants said that they were indecisive or did not know. The mean age was 35.8±5.9 (minimum-maximum, 18-54) years. When the age groups were divided into categories as 18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54 years, there were statistically significant differences between these age groups (p=0.03). In the subgroup analysis performed with Bonferroni correction, it was seen that the significant difference was only in the 45-54 age group, in group 2 and group 3. Regarding body mass index, parity, marital status, partner count, and sexual orientation, no statistically significant differences were detected between the G-spot groups (p=0.41, p=0.06, p=0.12, p=0.19, p=0.25). There were significant differences regarding levels of education ($p \le 0.001$). It was observed that the university and more education group stated that the G-spot existed at a higher rate, and the group that consisted of high school and below levels of education stated that the G-spot did not exist at a higher rate. The FSFI and FGSIS comparative analyses with G-spot groups are shown in Table 2. FSFI total score averages were found as 21.0±8.9; 22.8±8.5; 24.8±8.6, respectively, according to the groups that did not agree with the existence of the G-spot, and those that were indecisive, and agreed. The total scores were statistically different between the groups (p=0.004). There was a significant difference (p=0.002) between the G-spot groups when the FSFI total score was divided into the two groups as those scoring below and above 26 (p=0.002). According to the post-hoc test result, this difference was found between group 1 and 3. It was also determined that those who were indecisive showed similarities in both groups. In terms of the FSFI orgasm subdomain, there were significant differences between the groups according to the G-spot agreement status (p<0.001); this difference was found between all groups according to the post-hoc test result. We also found that there was a significant difference between the groups in terms of FGSIS total scores (p=0.041). According to the post-hoc test result, this difference was between those who said that there was a G-spot and those who said that there was no such spot. It was also determined that those who were indecisive showed similarities between the groups. The FGSIS score was positively correlated at a weak level with both the FSFI (r=0.277, p<0.001) and the FSFI-orgasm (r=0.282; p<0.001).

Table 1. Self-reported G-spot existence among groups and demographic data

	G-spot does not exist (n=90)	1 am not sure (n=61)	G-spot exists (n=158)	р
Age* (mean ± SD)	33.1±7.6	37.6±8.2	34.5±7.1	0.03*
18-24 y (n=31, 10%)	14 (15.6%)ª	3 (4.9%) ^a	14 (8.9%) ^a	0.03**
25-34 y (n=121, 39.2%)	35 (38.9%) ^a	21(34.4%) ^a	65 (41.1%) ^a	
35-44 y (n=117, 37.9%)	34 (37.8%) ^a	22 (36.1%) ^a	61 (38.6%) ^a	
45-54 y (n=40, 12.9%)	7 (7.8%) ^a	15 (24.6%) ^ь	18 (11.4%) ^a	
BMI (mean ± SD)	25.0±4.4	24.0±3.9	24.6±4.7	0.41
Parity (median, min-max)	2 (0-9)	1 (0-7)	1 (0-7)	0.06
Marital status (n, %) Single/partner (n=25, 8.1%) Married (n=264, 85.4%) Divorced (n=20, 6.5%)	10 (11.1%) 75 (83.3%) 5 (5.6%)	4 (6.6%) 49 (80.3%) 8 (13.1%)	11 (7%) 140 (88.6%) 7 (4.4%)	0.12
Partner count (n, %) One More than one	88 (29.3%) 2 (22.2%)	61 (20.3%) 0	151 (50.3%) 7 (77.8%)	0.19
Sexual orientation (n, %) Heterosexual (n=301, 97.4%) Bisexual (n=3, 1%) Lesbian (n=5, 1.6%)	87 (96.7%) 1 (1.1%) 2 (2.2%)	58 (95.1%) 2 (3.3%) 1 (1.6%)	156 (98.7%) 0 2 (1.3%)	0.25
Levels of education* (n, %) Less than high school (n=87, 28.2%)	41 (45.5%) ^a	16 (26.2%) ^b	30 (19%) ^b	
High school (n=46, 14.9%)	15 (16.7%) ^a	4 (6.6%) ^a	27 (17.1%) ^a	≤0.001**
University and higher (n=176, 56.9%)	34 (37.7%) ^a	41 (67.2%) ^a	111 (63.9%) ^b	

^{a, b}Each subscript letter denotes a subset of categories whose column proportions do not differ significantly from each other. (^acompared with ^{a,b}compared with b is not significantly different)

	G-spot does not exist (n=90)	l am not sure (n=61)	G-spot exists (n=158)	р
FSFI ≤26* n (%)	61 (67.8%) ^a	37 (60.7%) ^{a,b}	72 (45.6%) ^b	0.002
FSFI ≥26* n (%)	29 (32.2%) ^a	24 (39.3%) ^{a,b}	86 (54.4%) ^b	
FSFI total score (mean ± SD)	21.0±8.9	22.8±8.5	24.8±8.6	0.004
FSFI orgasm subdomain score (mean ± SD)	2.8±1.6	3.6±1.7	4.2±1.6	<0.001
FGSIS total score (mean ± SD)	20.7±3.8	20.9±4.1	21.9±3.9	0.041

Table 2. Patients' self-reported G-spot existence and relation with Female Sexual Function index and Female Genital Self-Image scale

^{a,b}Each subscript letter denotes a subset of categories whose column proportions do not differ significantly from each other.

(acompared with a^{ab} compared with b is not significantly different. ^{ab} compared with a or b is not significantly different with both)

FSFI: Female Sexual Function index, FGIS: Female Genital Self-Image scale

Discussion

Although the existence of the G-spot is usually accepted by the general public, it is anatomically controversial^(5,7,14,21,22). Biopsy studies showed that the anterior vaginal wall was more densely innervated than the posterior, and the distal region contained a higher number of nerve fibers than the proximal region⁽²³⁾. Microdissection and immunohistochemical studies with seven fresh cadavers confirmed the abovementioned data and that the distal anterior vaginal wall was thicker than the proximal wall⁽²⁴⁾. Although these data reveal the more sensitive and evident open-to-stimuli structure of the anterior vaginal wall, there are biopsy results showing the opposite viewpoint^(5,7) Ostrenzky first anatomically identified the neurovascular structure that he called the G-spot complex in a fresh cadaver in 2012⁽⁶⁾. Two years later, the same author published a cadaver study in which the histology of the G-spot complex was shown. In this study, the G-spot complex was detected anatomically in all eight cadavers, and the tissues were shown histologically by staining with hematoxylin and eosin in two randomized cases⁽²²⁾. In a recent article by Hoag et al.,⁽⁷⁾ which described the most extensive anatomic study of the anterior vaginal wall containing a detailed dissection of thirteen cadavers, the G-spot could not be described in the front wall of the vagina. In these two separate cadaver studies, it is confusing that the G-spot was defined at a rate of one hundred percent in one study yet the other study could not define it at a rate of one hundred percent. Studies are contradictory. In a study conducted by Puppo and Gruenwald⁽²⁾, Puppo and Puppo⁽²⁵⁾ in which they reviewed the terminology of female sexuality, they wrote that the G-spot did not exist under the subtitle of "The G-spot does not exist: Is it a scientific fraud?" They stated that there was no vaginal orgasm and added that there was no scientific support for research that said the G-spot and vaginal orgasm existed. It was stated in some previous reserach that perhaps the G-spot was formed with a pudendal nerve innervation in areas that varied from person to person in the front side of the vagina instead of a same specific area in everybody⁽¹⁾. In a previous study that was conducted by asking questions to patients,

there were 1234 participants in the first large-scale G-spot self-reported questionnaire study. In this study, the G-spot identification rates were determined as high as 84.3%. It was determined that approximately 3 years after the age of the first relationship, people were found to have reached orgasm through sexual intercourse, and they discovered the sensitive region of the vagina about 6 years after the first orgasm⁽¹¹⁾. One year later, the self-reported G-spot study of the same group, which included 1289 patients, revealed a G-spot detection rate of 82%. In this study, however, the sampling consisted of nurses, sex therapists, and counselors who had a high-level of education and who were very familiar with these issues⁽¹²⁾. The high rates may be due to the nature of the sampling. In another self-reported questionnaire that was recently published, the rate of expressing G-spot existence was 56%. In this study conducted on twins to investigate the genetic basis of G-spot existence, no genetic basis was found. The reason for this may be that people cannot discover their G-spot via environmental factors⁽¹⁰⁾. In this study, the oldest patient was aged 83 years, and the rate of elderly participants who stated that the G-spot existed was lower. This result is not surprising. In our study, postmenopausal participants were excluded from the study and it was seen that the value that was found to be significant was in the 45-54 years' age group, and in the group that was indecisive, which we considered having no clinical significance. In our study, the rate of participants who believed in the existence of the G-spot was found as 51.1%. This ratio is compatible with the literature⁽¹⁰⁾. The percentage of those who thought that there was a G-spot in the university graduate group was high. In a similar study, there was no difference between the levels of education and the responses⁽¹⁰⁾. In our study, the difference between the levels of education and the G-spot groups could be due to the change in the understandability of the problem with education. Another possibility is that college graduates who use the right resources for accessing information more accurately can have higher G-spot awareness or greater exposure to media. People may have discovered their bodies better by reading and practicing what they read. Filling materials such as hyaluronic

acid, autologous oil injections, and G-spot augmentations are rapidly increasing worldwide today. In a case report with autologous fat injection, no change was determined in the sexual function questionnaire before and after the application and there was no increase in experiencing orgasms⁽²⁶⁾. The vagina is a dynamic organ that plays an active role in sexual intercourse. Anatomic relationships and dynamic interactions between the clitoris, urethra, and anterior vaginal wall have led to the concept of a clitourethrovaginal complex, which defines a versatile, functional area that may induce orgasmic responses when properly stimulated during penetration⁽²⁷⁾. It is emphasized that this means a broader meaning beyond a spot. In another study, a strong and reverse relation was found between the distance of a woman's clitoris and her urethral meatus. It was emphasized that this result was secondary to more stimuli due to the increased pressure on the vaginal wall and nerve extensions of the clitoris into the vagina⁽²⁸⁾. On the same subject, another study under the title of "echography of the G-Spot" measured the urethrovaginal space thickness using introital ultrasonography, and the association with vaginal orgasm was examined; it was found that this measurement was directly related to vaginal orgasm⁽²⁹⁾. Those who think that G-spot exists have higher genital perception and sexual function scores compared with other participants. In light of the above studies, it is not wrong to claim that women are more vaginally stimulated when they feel that there is a G-spot. For this reason, it is not surprising that these women's sexual functions, especially orgasm subdomains, are high. In this group, another reason that the genital perception scores may have been perceived as high might be due to the fact that the sexual functions were good in this group, higher than the group that claimed that there was no G-spot. In our study, there was a positive correlation between FGSIS and FSFI, as it was in the original study of the genital perception questionnaire. It is known that the self-image of the person affects sexual functions, which proves this (20). The FGSIS has a positive correlation with all subdomains except the desire domain of FSFI⁽³⁰⁾. In our study, the weak positive correlation could be attributed to the multifactorial nature of female sexuality.

A person's exploration of sexuality is a process, and the fact that they do not know the sensitive areas of the vagina may mean that such areas do not exist in reality as well as that one has not yet discovered these areas. This can prolong this process in countries where sexuality is a taboo subject of discussion, where experiences before marriage are few and the possibility of having sexual experience with different partners before marriage is low. Partner incompatibility is another factor in this subject. For this reason, the fact that the participants do not know the existence of the G-spot or are indecisive about its existence does not mean that this point does not actually exist in reality. The fact that the present study was self-reported and the sample being small are limitations. The possibility of not understanding the question is another limitation. In further investigations, in addition to the self-reported questionnaires in wider series, the aim is to determine the location of the G-spot with a finger during an examination and compare the self-reported answers with the examination findings.

G-spot presence continues to be an interesting subject in the academic environment and for the public. The biggest reason for this might be that there is no consensus on its existence. This issue will continue to attract interest until definitive and descriptive studies are made.

Conclusion

Half of the participants stated that G-spot existed, which was consistent with the literature. An increase in sexual function, orgasm scores, and genital perception scores of these women was identified. Self-reported questionnaires give an idea of G-spot existence but are inadequate as proof. Further histologic and anatomic studies are needed with larger series.

Acknowledgements

Mehmet Ali Sungur, from Düzce University, is thanked for supporting statistical analyses.

Ethics

Ethic Approval Number: The institutional Ethics Committee approved the study Düzce University (approval number: 2018/81), and written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in this study. Informed Consent: Written informed consent. Peer-review: External and internal peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: A.E.K., E.Ç., Design: A.E.K., E.Ç., Data Collection or Processing: A.E.K., E.Ç., Analysis or Interpretation: A.E.K., E.Ç., Literature Search: A.E.K., E.Ç., Writing: A.E.K., E.Ç.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Emhardt E, Siegel J, Hoffman L. Anatomic variation and orgasm: Could variations in anatomy explain differences in orgasmic success? Clin Anat 2016;29:665-72.
- 2. Puppo V, Gruenwald I. Does the G-spot exist? A review of the current literature. Int Urogynecol J 2012;23:1665-9.
- 3. Grafenberg E. The role of the urethra in female orgasm. Int J Sexol 1950;3:145-8.
- Addiego F. Female Ejaculation: A Case Study. J Sex Res 1981;17:13-21.
- Pauls R, Mutema G, Segal J, Silva WA, Kleeman S, Dryfhout MV, et al. A prospective study examining the anatomic distribution of nerve density in the human vagina. J Sex Med 2006;3:979-87.
- Ostrzenski A. G-Spot Anatomy: A New Discovery. J Sex Med. 2012;9:1355-9.

- Hoag N, Keast JR, O'Connell HE. The "G-Spot" is not a structure evident on macroscopic anatomic dissection of the vaginal wall. J Sex Med 2017;14:1524-32.
- Komisaruk BR, Whipple B, Crawford A, Liu WC, Kalnin A, Mosier K. Brain activation during vaginocervical self-stimulation and orgasm in women with complete spinal cord injury: fMRI evidence of mediation by the Vagus nerves. Brain Res 2004;1024:77-88.
- 9. Pan S, Leung C, Shah J, Kilchevsky A. Clinical anatomy of the G-spot. Clin Anat 2015;28:363-7.
- Burri AV, Cherkas L, Spector TD. Genetic and environmental influences on self-reported G-Spots in Women: A twin study. J Sex Med 2010;7:1842-52.
- Davidson JK Sr, Darling CA, Conway-Welch C. The role of the Grafenberg spot and female ejaculation in the female orgasmic response: An empirical analysis. J Sex Marital Ther 1989;15:102-20.
- 12. Darling CA, Davidson JK, Conway-Welch C. Female ejaculation: Perceived origins, the Grafenberg spot/area, and sexual responsiveness. Arch Sex Behav 1990;19:29-47.
- 13. Li T, Liao Q, Zhang H, Gao X, Li X, Zhang M. Anatomic distribution of nerves and microvascular density in the human anterior vaginal wall: Prospective study. PLoS One 2014;9:1-6.
- 14. Hines TM. The G-spot: A modern gynecologic myth. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2001;185:359-62.
- 15. Colson MH. Female orgasm: Myths, facts and controversies. Sexologies 2010;19:8-14.
- Öksüz E, Malhan S. Reliability and validity of the Female Sexual Function Index in Turkish population. Sendrom 2005;17:54-60.
- Ellibes Kaya A, Yassa M, Dogan O, Basbug A, Pulatoglu C, Caliskan E. The Female Genital Self-Image Scale (FGSIS): Cross cultural adaptation and validation of psychometric properties within a Turkish population. Int Urogynecol J 2018.
- Rosen R, Brown C, Heiman J, Leiblum S, Meston C, Shabsigh R, et al. The female sexual function index (FSFI): A multidimensional self-report instrument for the assessment of female sexual function. J Sex Marital Ther 2000;26:191-205.

- Wiegel M, Meston C, Rosen R. The Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI): Cross-validation and development of clinical cutoff scores. J Sex Marital Ther 2005;31:1-20.
- 20. Herbenick D, Reece M. Development and validation of the female genital self-image scale. J Sex Med 2010;7:1822-30.
- Puppo V, Puppo G. Response to the letter to the editor by Barry K. Komisaruk "re: Puppo V, Puppo G. 2014. Anatomy of sex: Revision of the new anatomical terms used for the clitoris and the female orgasm by sexologists". Clin Anat 2015;28:291-2.
- 22. Ostrzenski A, Krajewski P, Ganjei-Azar P, Wasiutynski AJ, Scheinberg MN, Tarka S, et al. Verification of the anatomy and newly discovered histology of the G-spot complex. BJOG 2014;121:1333-9.
- 23. Hilliges M, Falconer C, Ekman-Ordeberg G, Johansson O. Innervation of the human vaginal mucosa as revealed by PGP 9.5 Immunohistochemistry. Acta Anat (Basel) 1995;153:119-26.
- 24. Song YB, Hwang K, Kim DJ, Han SH. Innervation of vagina: Microdissection and immunohistochemical study. J Sex Marital Ther 2009;35:144-53.
- 25. Puppo V, Puppo G, Anatomy of sex: Revision of the new anatomical terms used for the clitoris and the female orgasm by sexologists. Clin Anat 2015;28:293-304.
- Herold C, Motamedi M, Hartmann U, Allert S. G-spot augmentation with autologous fat transplantation. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc 2015;16:187-8.
- 27. Jannini EA, Whipple B, Kingsberg SA, Buisson O, Foldes P, Vardi Y. Who's afraid of the G-spot? J Sex Med 2010;7:25-34.
- 28. Wallen KLE. NIH Public Access. Horm Behav 2011;14:384-99.
- 29. Gravina GL, Brandetti F, Martini P, Carosa E, Di Stasi SM, Morano S, et al. Measurement of the thickness of the urethrovaginal space in women with or without vaginal orgasm. J Sex Med 2008;5:610-8.
- Herbenick D, Schick V, Reece M, Sanders S, Dodge B, Fortenberry JD. The Female Genital Self-Image Scale (FGSIS): Results from a Nationally Representative Probability Sample of Women in the United States. J Sex Med 2011;8:158-66.



Active management of the third stage of labor: A brief overview of key issues

Doğumun üçüncü evresinin aktif yönetimi: Kilit konulara kısa bir bakış

Kemal Güngördük¹, Yusuf Olgaç², Varol Gülseren³,

¹Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecology and Oncology, Muğla, Turkey

²Bilim University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

³Kaman State Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kırşehir, Turkey

⁴University of Health Sciences, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İzmir, Turkey

Abstract

Postpartum hemorrhage is a potentially life-threatening, albeit preventable, condition that persists as a leading cause of maternal death. It occurs mostly during the third stage of labor, and active management of the third stage of labor (AMTSL) can prevent its occurrence. AMTSL is a recommended series of steps, including the provision of uterotonic drugs immediately upon fetal delivery, controlled cord traction, and massage of the uterine fundus, as developed by the World Health Organization. Here, we present current option and protocols for AMTSL.

Keywords: Postpartum hemorrhage, active management of the third stage of labor, uterotonic agents

Öz

Postpartum kanama, hayatı tehdit eden, önlenebilir bir durumdur, anne ölümünün önde gelen nedenini oluşturan bir durumdur. Çoğunlukla doğumun üçüncü evresinin aktif yönetimi (AMTSL) ortaya çıkmasını engelleyebilir. AMTSL, uterotonik ilaçların hemen fetal doğum üzerine uygulanması, kontrollü kordon traksiyonu ve Dünya Sağlık Örgütü tarafından geliştirilen rahim fundus masajı dahil olmak üzere önerilen bir dizi adımdır. Burada AMTSL için güncel görüş ve protokolleri sunuyoruz.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Doğum sonrası kanama, doğumun üçüncü evresinin aktif yönetimi, uterotonik ajanlar

Introduction and Definitions

Postpartum hemorrhage (PPH) and blood loss complications constitute one of the most common causes of maternal mortality and morbidity. PPH is defined differently in various countries (Table 1)⁽¹⁻⁴⁾. Its incidence is 11% globally among women in labor⁽¹⁻⁴⁾. The third stage of labor (TSL) is defined as the time between the delivery of the baby and the expulsion of the placenta. The duration of the third stage is ~6-30 minute^(3,4). The pathophysiology of the TSL is still not fully understood. During this stage, expulsion of placenta with the formation of capillary hemorrhage after the birth of the baby is followed by shrinking of the placental surface with uterine contractions, and finally ends with the discharge of the placenta from the uterus. Hemorrhage is restricted with uterine contractions and activation of the coagulation system⁽²⁻⁴⁾. As can be understood from this definition, some degree of hemorrhage always occurs at this stage (~100-250 cc). It is important to limit the amount of hemorrhage to the minimum possible level. Accordingly, the World Health Organization (WHO) suggested the active management of the TSL (Table 2)⁽³⁾.

Uterotonic agents

1) Oxytocin: Oxytocin is the most commonly used agent and the primary drug of choice in the TSL. Oxytocin's action is unique to the smooth muscles of the uterus; it increases the amplitude and frequency of contractions. Oxytocin binds to a G-protein on the surface of uterine myocytes, resulting in the generation of diacylglycerol (DAG) and

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Kemal Güngördük, MD,

Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecology and Oncology, Muğla, Turkey Phone: +90 505 492 17 66 E-mail: maidenkemal@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-2325-1756 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 08.03.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 08.05.2018

©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

Country	Definition
Australia 2008	Amount of blood loss: >500 mL at vaginal birth, >750 mL at cesarean section
Austria 2008	Amount of blood loss between 500-1000 mL + clinical symptoms of hypovolemic shock or amount of blood loss >1000 mL
Germany 2008	Amount of blood loss during first 24 h after birth ≥500 mL, serious PPH blood loss during first 24 h after birth ≥1000 mL
Royal College of Obstetrics and Gynecology, United Kingdom	Amount of blood loss of 500-1000 mL and absence of clinical symptoms of hypovolemic shock Amount of blood loss ≥1000 mL or presence of clinical symptoms of hypovolemic shock
World Health Organization	Amount of blood loss during first 24 h after birth ≥500 mL, serious PPH blood loss during first 24 h after birth ≥1000 mL

Table 1. Post-partum hemorrhage definitions

Table 2. Active management of the third stage of labor

a) Administration of uterotonic agents after delivery of the baby

b) Expulsion of placenta with controlled traction of cord

c) Uterine fundal massage after expulsion of placenta

inositol triphosphate (IP3) via the action of phospholipase C on phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate. DAG stimulates PG synthesis, and IP3 stimulates the release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. It also activates cyclooxygenase 2 by a further G-protein interaction and, in doing so, stimulates PG synthesis.

Oxytocin can be used just after delivery of the front shoulder of the baby or expulsion of the placenta. Generally, its administration route and dose are 10 IU intramuscularly (IM). It can also be used intravenously (IV), which is typically preferred during cesarean sections (CS). A newly developed oxytocin tablet has recently been presented that can be applied successfully via the sublingual route⁽⁵⁾. An in vitro study showed a >30% reduction in tissue transepithelial electrical resistance after treatment with the oxytocin fastdissolving tablet, implying an increase in the permeability of the mucosal tissue to oxytocin⁽⁵⁾. However, it may cause ST depression on an electrocardiogram and hypotension. The efficacy of oxytocin is the same with both administration routes. In a 600-patient study from Turkey, there was no statistically significant difference in the amount of postpartum blood loss between IM and IV administration⁽⁶⁾. Oxytocin also decreased postpartum blood loss when applied inside the placental cord⁽⁷⁾.

2) Ergometrine (methergine): Ergot alkaloids exert various effects throughout the body on at least three different types of receptor. They are non-selective 5-hydroxytryptamine 1 agonists and have affinities for dopamine and noradrenalin receptors. Ergot alkaloids are absorbed rapidly and completely after oral administration. Both are usually effective within 1-5 min after an IM injection. They are metabolized in the liver, and reported half-lives range from 0.5 to 2 h. Their actions on the uterus are probably a result

of their agonist properties against adrenergic α -receptors; these receptors, when stimulated, lead to IP3 release and to calcium mobilization from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. To date, there is only one prospective study in the English literature on this topic. In that study, the authors compared the efficacy of rectal misoprostol 400 µg, oxytocin 10 IU injected IM, methylergometrine 0.2 mg injected IV, and 0.5 mg ergometrine +5 IU oxytocin injected IM in reducing blood loss in the TSL. They found that methylergometrine had the "best" uterotonic drug profile (lowest blood loss during the third stage and duration of the TSL). However, the study had several limitations. Most importantly, it was not a randomized study, the trial was not double-blinded, leading to the possibility of biased results, and no power calculation was reported⁽⁸⁾. Ergometrine causes continuous contraction of the uterus. There is not enough evidence about its use as a single agent. It is typically administered at 0.2 mg IM. Its use must be avoided in patients with hypertension.

3) Syntometrine: This contains 5 IU oxytocin and 0.5 mg ergometrine. The time of onset of the uterine response after IM administration is shorter than after ergometrine alone, and the duration of action is several hours. Although it was found to be more effective than oxytocin in a review, the adverse effect profile (hypertension, nausea, vomiting) restricts its use⁽⁹⁾.

4) Misoprostol: This is a synthetic prostaglandin E1 derivative. It is an inexpensive drug and is stored readily. It does not cause high blood pressure and can be used in patients with asthma. Its most common adverse effect is flushing. Although the amount of blood loss has been shown to have been reduced with prophylactic use of misoprostol in many studies, it is not as effective as oxytocin. Consequently, oxytocin is the first choice for the prophylaxis of PPH⁽¹⁰⁻¹²⁾. In countries where the socioeconomic level is very low and home deliveries are common, misoprostol can be used as the first-line drug; it can be used orally, rectally or sublingually. The route of administration and dose differ from country to country. The WHO and International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics recommend a single dose of 600 μg misoprostol,

oral or sublingual, for the prophylaxis of PPH⁽¹³⁾. According to a recently published meta-analysis result, misoprostol has been used in the third stage of labor to prevent PPH when a sterile syringe and trained midwife were absent ⁽¹⁴⁾. In a prospective randomized trial published in 2016, it was shown that the additional use of buccal misoprostol in conjunction with active management of the TSL reduced the need for additional uterotonic drugs⁽¹⁵⁾.

5) Tranexamic acid: Tranexamic acid (TA) is a lysine derivative with anti-fibrinolytic activity that inhibits fibrin degradation by blocking lysine-binding regions on plasminogen. TA is absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract at 30-40%^(16,17). Its plasma half-life is 2 h, and its plasma protein binding ratio is ~3%, which is solely a result of plasminogen binding. It can cross the placenta and be passed to a breastfeeding infant. It is excreted through the urine, so it must be avoided in patients with renal failure. It can be used in an oral, local or parenteral manner. It is typically a well-tolerated drug. Rarely, it may cause nausea, vomiting, hypotension, and dizziness^(17,18). These adverse effects are more common when it is given parenterally at high flow rates. One gram of IV TA given within 3 hours of PPH was reported to significantly reduce maternal death and the need for surgery⁽¹⁹⁾. In pill form, it is recommended at a 15-25 mg/kg/dosage every 8 h orally for 5-10 days. There may be gastrointestinal adverse effects. The maximum dose is 3-4 g. It should be given at 10 mg/kg/dosage (maximum 500 mg) with slow infusion every 8 h when given parenterally. Activated prothrombin complex concentrates must be avoided^(17,18). Using TA for the treatment of PPH, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios were found below the lower bound of the cost-effectiveness threshold range⁽²⁰⁾.

- Tranexamic acid for the prevention of postpartum hemorrhage after cesarean section

There are 11 randomized controlled trials (RCT) about this topic in the literature⁽²¹⁻³¹⁾. Except in one study, elective CSs were performed in all patients. In all studies, the amount of blood loss decreased with the use of TA and no adverse effects were reported. The first large study was reported by Gungorduk et al. ⁽²⁴⁾ from Bakırköy Women and Children's Hospital in 2011. In total, 660 patients were included in the study and a decrease in the amount of blood loss was seen after

the routine administration of 5 IU oxytocin following 20 IU oxytocin in 500 ml RL and TA (1 g IV in 5 min) at the third stage of labor; no adverse effects were reported⁽²⁴⁾. Another study with 740 patients reported similar results in 2013⁽²⁹⁾. As can be seen from the results of these studies, administration of TA as an additional agent in the TSL decreased the blood loss.

- Tranexamic acid for the prevention of prevention of postpartum hemorrhage after vaginal delivery

There are three RCTs on this topic in the literature^(24,32). Yang et al. ⁽³²⁾ administered 10 IU oxytocin 10 min after delivery of TA in their study. They reported that TA decreased the incidence of PPH. In a study published in 2013 from Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey, the TSL was managed actively in all patients. An additional 1 g TA was given to a group of patients in this study. At the end of the study, less blood loss and a lower incidence of PPH was reported that administration of 1 g TA after 10 IU oxytocin decreased PPH in a study of 120 pregnant women in 2015. In conclusion, TA decreases the amount of blood loss and the incidence of PPH in patients who are managed actively in the TSL.

Tranexamic acid adverse effects

In a previous study, the risks of myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular stroke, deep vein thrombosis, and pulmonary embolus were not statistically significantly increased compared with a control group⁽¹⁶⁾. The most common adverse effects are nausea and vomiting. Two patients experienced thromboemboli when receiving high-dose TA in the EXADELI study⁽³⁴⁾. There is only one reported RCT concerning neonatal adverse effects in the postpartum period. No adverse effects related with TA was reported in this study⁽²⁴⁾. However, the design of the study was inadequate to assess neonatal adverse effects. It can cross the placenta, so there is a need for large studies with administration before cord clamping.

Route of administration for uterotonic agents

Although the standard doses of uterotonic agents are given above, the actual dose and administration forms differ in various countries. Table 3 lists four common international guidelines for dose and administration^(29,35).

 Table 3. Drug doses and administration forms in four major international guidelines

	ACOG	RANZCOG	RCOG	SCOG
Oxytocin	10-40 IU IV or 10 IU IM	Not specified	5 IU IV (repeatable) or 40 IU IV 125 mL/h in 500 mL	10 IU IM or 5 IU IV or 40 IU IV 125 mL/h in 500 mL
Ergots	Metilergonavin 0.2 mg IM per 24 h period	Not specified	Ergometrin 0.5 mg IV or IM	Ergonovin 0.25 mg IV or IM every 2 h
Misoprostol	800-1000 µg rectal	1000 µg rectal	1000 µg rectal	400-1000 μg oral or rectal
Tranexamic acid	-	-	Not suggested	Not suggested

ACOG: American Congress of Obstetrics and Gynecology, RANZCOG: Royal Australian and New Zealand Congress of Obstetrics and Gynecology, RCOG: Royal Congress of Obstetrics and Gynecology, SCOG: Canadian Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology, IV: Intravenous, IM: Intramuscular

Delivery of placenta with controlled cord traction

Although this was recommended in the 2007 WHO guidelines, it is described as optional for the active management of the third stage in the 2012 updated guidelines⁽¹³⁾. An inexperienced operator may cause serious complications, such as uterine inversion. In WHO studies, it was accepted as ineffective for decreasing blood loss. However, according to a meta-analysis reported in 2015, although the risk of blood loss above 1000 mL was not decreased with controlled cord traction, the mean time of the third stage, the mean blood loss (less than 10 mL), and the risk of blood loss less than 500 mL were all decreased⁽³⁶⁾. The authors noted that controlled cord traction still had a place in active management when performed by experienced personnel. It is also a recommended method for CSs^(24,37).

Uterine fundal massage after placental expulsion

Uterine fundal massage after placental expulsion provides uterine contractions by stimulating endogenous prostaglandin secretion. This method was recommended in the 2007 WHO guidelines, and was described as optional for the active management of the third stage in the 2012 updated guidelines⁽¹³⁾. Similarly, Chen et al. ⁽³⁸⁾ published results of a study of 2340 pregnancies, which showed that the addition of fundal massage to oxytocin did not decrease PPH.

Possible adverse effects of active management

- Adverse effects related to uterotonic agents
- Hypertension, nausea, vomiting due to ergot alkaloids
- Risk of placental retention
- Neonatal risks related to early cord clamping
- Iron-deficiency anemia
- Intraventricular hemorrhage
- Hypotension

Results

According to the most recent Cochrane analysis, active management of the TSL decreases the risk of postpartum bleeding of over 1000 mL⁽³⁹⁾. The possible risks and benefits of active management must be explained to pregnant women and informed consent must be obtained. TA administration, as an extra drug for pregnant women whose TSL is being managed actively, decreases both the amount of blood loss and the incidence of PPH.

Ethics

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: Y.O., Design: Y.O., Literature Search: V.G., M.K., Writing: K.G.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG Practice Bulletin: Clinical Management Guidelines for Obstetrician-Gynecologists Number 76, October 2006: postpartum hemorrhage. Obstet Gynecol 2006;108:1039-47.
- Rath WH. Postpartum hemorrhage- update on problems of definitions and diagnosis. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2011:90:421-28.
- 3. World Health Organization WHO guidelines for the management of postpartum haemorrhage and retained placenta. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009.
- 4. Royal College of Obstetrician and Gynaecologists. Postpartum Hemorrhage: Prevention and Management; 2011.
- 5. Zhu C, Estrada M, White J, Lal M. Heat-stable sublingual oxytocin tablets as a potential needle-free approach for preventing postpartum hemorrhage in low-resource settings. Drug Deliv Transl Res 2018;8:853-6.
- 6. Oguz Orhan E, Dilbaz B, Aksakal SE, Altınbas S, Erkaya S. Prospective randomized trial of oxytocin administration for active management of the third stage of labor. Int J Gynecol Obstet 2014;127:175-9.
- Güngördük K, Asicioglu O, Besimoglu B, Güngördük OC, Yildirm G, Ark C, et al. Using intraumbilical vein injection of oxytocin in routine practice with active management of the third stage of labor: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol 2010;116:619-24.
- 8. Gohil JT, Tripathi B. A Study to Compare the Efficacy of Misoprostol, Oxytocin, Methyl-ergometrine and Ergometrine-Oxytocin in Reducing Blood Loss in Active Management of 3rd Stage of Labor. J Obstet Gynaecol India 2011;61:408-12.
- McDonald SJ, Abbott JM, Higgins SP. Prophylactic ergometrineoxytocin versus oxytocin for the third stage of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004:CD000201.
- Mobeen N, Durocher J, Zuberi N, Jahan N, Blum J, Wasim S, et al. Administration of misoprostol by trained traditional birth attendants to prevent postpartum haemorrhage in homebirths in Pakistan: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. BJOG 2011;118:353-61.
- 11. Gulmezoglu AM, Villar J, Ngoc NT, Piaggio G, Carroli G, Adetoro L, et al. WHO multicentre randomised trial of misoprostol in the management of the third stage of labour. Lancet 2001;358:689-95.
- Tuncalp Ö, Hofmeyr GJ, Gülmezoglu AM. Prostaglandins for preventing postpartum haemorrhage. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012:CD000494.
- WHO Recommendations for the Prevention and Treatment of Postpartum Haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- Tan J, Cao Q, He GL, Cai YH, Yu JJ, Sun X, et al. Misoprostol versus ergometrine-oxytocin for preventing postpartum haemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Evid Based Med 2016;9:194-204.
- 15. Hernández-Castro F, López-Serna N, Treviño-Salinas EM, Soria-López JA, Sordia-Hernández LH, Cárdenas-Estrada E. Randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial of buccal misoprostol to reduce the need for additional uterotonic drugs during cesarean delivery. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2016;132:184-7.
- Sentilhes L, Lasocki S, Ducloy-Bouthors AS, Deruelle P, Dreyfus M, Perrotin F, et al. Tranexamic acid for the prevention and treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. Br J Anaesth 2015;114:576-87.
- 17. Draxler DF, Medcalf RL. The Fibrinolytic System-More Than Fibrinolysis? Transfus Med Rev 2015;29:102-9.
- 18. Tengborn L, Blombäck M, Berntorp E. Tranexamic acid--an old drug

still going strong and making a revival. Thromb Res 2015;135:231-42.

- 19. Hinshaw K. Tranexamic acid for post-partum haemorrhage in the WOMAN trial. Lancet 2017;390:1582-3.
- 20. Li B, Miners A, Shakur H, Roberts I; WOMAN Trial Collaborators. Tranexamic acid for treatment of women with post-partum haemorrhage in Nigeria and Pakistan: a cost-effectiveness analysis of data from the WOMAN trial. Lancet Glob Health 2018;6:222-8.
- Gai M, Wu L, Su Q, Tatsumoto K. Clinical observation of blood loss reduced by tranexamic acid during and after caesarean section: a multi-center, randomized trial. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2004;112:154-7.
- 22. Mayur G, Purvi P, Ashoo G, Pankaj D. Efficacy of tranexamic acid in decreasing blood loss during and after caesarean section: a randomized case controlled prospective study. J Obstet Gynecol India 2007;57:227-30.
- Sekhavat L, Tabatabaii A, Dalili M, Farajkhoda T, Tafti AD. Efficacy of tranexamic acid in reducing blood loss after caesarean section. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2009;22:72-5.
- 24. Gungorduk K, Yıldırım G, Asıcıoğlu O, Gungorduk OC, Sudolmus S, Ark C. Efficacy of intravenous tranexamic acid in reducing blood loss after elective cesarean section: a prospective, randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study. Am J Perinatol 2011;28:233-40.
- 25. Movafegh A, Eslamian L, Dorabadi A. Effect of intravenous tranexamic acid administration on blood loss during and after caesarean delivery. Int J Gynecol Obstet 2011;115:224-6.
- 26. Xu J, GaoW, Ju Y. Tranexamic acid for the prevention of postpartum haemorrhage after caesarean section: a double-blind randomization trial. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2013;287:463-8.
- 27. Sentürk MB, Cakmak Y, Yildiz G, Yildiz P. Tranexamic acid for caesarean section: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2013;287: 641-5.
- Shahid A, Khan A. Tranexamic acid in decreasing blood loss during and after caesarean section. J Coll Physicians Surg 2013;23:459-62.
- Abdel-Aleem H, Alhusaini TK, Abdel-Aleem MA, Menoufy M, Gülmezoglu AM. Effectiveness of tranexamic acid on blood loss in patients undergoing elective caesarean section: randomized clinical trial. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2013;26:1705-9.



- 30. Goswami U, Sarangi S, Gupta S, Babbar S. Comparative evaluation of two doses of tranexamic acid used prophylactically in anemic parturients for lower segment caesarean section: A doubleblind randomized case control prospective trial. Saudi J Anaesth 2013;7:427-31.
- 31. Ahmed MR, Sayed Ahmed WA, Madny EH, Arafa AM, Said MM. Efficacy of tranexamic acid in decreasing blood loss in elective caesarean delivery. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2015;28:1014-8.
- 32. Yang H, Zheng S, Shi C. Clinical study on the efficacy of tranexamic acid in reducing postpartum blood lose: a randomized, comparative, multicenter trial. Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi 2001;36:590-2.
- 33. Mirghafourvand M, Mohammad-Alizadeh S, Abbasalizadeh F, Shirdel M. The effect of prophylactic intravenous tranexamic acid on blood loss after vaginal delivery in women at low risk of postpartum haemorrhage: a double-blind randomised controlled trial. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2015;55:53-8.
- Ducloy-Bouthors AS, Jude B, Duhamel A, Huissoud C, Keita-Meyer H, Mandelbrot L, et al. High-dose tranexamic acid reduces blood loss in postpartum haemorrhage. Crit Care 2011;15:117.
- 35. Gungorduk K, Asıcıoglu O, Yıldırım G, Ark C, Tekirdag Aİ, Besımoglu B. Can intravenous injection of tranexamic acid be used in routine practice with active management of the third stage of labor in vaginal delivery? A randomized controlled study. Am J Perinatol 2013;230:407-13.
- Hofmeyr GJ, Mshweshwe NT, Gülmezoglu AM. Controlled cord traction for the third stage of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015:1:CD008020.
- 37. Güngördük K, Asicioglu O, Celikkol O, Olgac Y, Ark C. Use of additional oxytocin to reduce blood loss at elective caesarean section: A randomised control trial. Austr N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2010;50:36-9.
- Chen M, Chang Q, Duan T, He J, Zhang L, Liu X. Uterine massage to reduce blood loss after vaginal delivery: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol 2013;122:290-5.
- Begley CM, Gyte GM, Devane D, McGuire W, Weeks A. Active versus expectant management for women in the third stage of labour. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev 2015:CD007412.



Use of a gelatin-thrombin hemostatic matrix in obstetrics and gynecologicl surgery

Obstetrik ve jinekolojik cerrahide jelatin-trombin hemostatik matriks kullanımı

Selim Mısırlıoğlu¹, Engin Türkgeldi¹, Hande Yağmur¹, Bülent Urman², Barış Ata²

¹Koç University Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

²Koç University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Gelatin-thrombin matrix (GTM) is a hemostatic sealant consisting of bovine-derived gelatin matrix and human-derived thrombin, combining both mechanical and active mechanisms to achieve hemostasis. It was approved by the Food and Drug Administration in 1999. GTM has been used by several surgical specialties; however, it is a possibly an under-used tool in obstetrics and gynecology. A limited number of studies have been performed on its use during laparoscopic endometrioma excision and myomectomy. It may prove useful in endometrioma excision in reproductive aged women because it is likely to harm ovarian reserve less than electrocautery; however, this conclusion needs to be validated. The only study on GTM use in myomectomy included 50 women randomized into GTM and control groups, and showed decreased blood loss and shorter hospital stays in the GTM group. In gynecologic oncology, it was successfully used to reduce lymphocele cases in a cohort study. GTM has been used successfully in obstetrics in a handful of cases of uncontrolled bleeding from caesarean scar, placental site, ectopic pregnancy, rectovaginal hematoma, and venous plexus over the vaginal vault after emergency postpartum hysterectomy. Risk of viral transmission is a major concern about GTM, yet there are no reports on disease transmission with GTM use to date. Rare but serious adverse effects and complications have been reported such as fatal or near-fatal thromboembolism and small bowel obstruction. Although GTM is mostly a safe product, it is still not free of complications and risks. In conclusion, although routine use of GTM cannot be recommended due to concerns about its safety, cost, and availability, it may prove useful when conventional hemostatic methods such as suturing and electrocauterization fail or are not appropriate.

Keywords: Hemostatic matrix, hemostasis, gelatin-thrombin hemostatic matrix, obstetrics, gynecological surgery

Öz

Jelatin-trombin matriks (GTM), hemostaz elde etmek için hem mekanik hem de aktif mekanizmaları kullanan, sığır kaynaklı jelatin matriks ve insandan türetilmiş trombin içeren hemostatik bir yalıtkandır. 1999 yılında Gıda ve İlaç Dairesi tarafından onaylanmıştır. GTM birçok cerrahi uzmanlık alanları tarafından kullanılmıştır, ancak obstetrik ve jinekolojide muhtemelen GTM'den yeterince faydalanılmamaktadır. Laparoskopik endometrioma eksizyonu ve miyomektomi sırasında kullanımı konusunda sınırlı sayıda çalışma yapılmıştır. Üreme çağındaki kadınlarda over rezervine elektrokoterden daha az zararlı olma olasılığı nedeniyle endometrioma eksizyonunda yararlı olabilir ancak bu sonucun doğrulanması gerekir. Miyomektomide GTM kullanımı üzerine yapılan tek çalışmada, 50 kadın GTM ve kontrol grupları olarak randomize edilmiş ve GTM grubunda kan kaybının azaldığı ve hastanede kalış süresini kısaldığı gösterilmiştir. Jinekolojik onkolojide, bir kohort çalışmasında lenfosel olgularını azaltığı görülmüştür. GTM, sezaryen skarından kaynaklanan kontrol edilemeyen kanamalar, plasental yatak kanamaları, ektopik gebelik, rektovajinal hematom ve vajinal venöz pleksuslardan kanama olan obstetrik olgularda başarılı bir şekilde kullanılmıştır. Viral bulaşma riski, GTM ile ilgili büyük bir sorun teşkil etmektedir, ancak bugüne kadar GTM kullanımı ile hastalık bulaşı konusunda herhangi bir olgu bildirilmemiştir. Ölümcül ya da morbiditesi yüksek tromboembolizm ve ince bağırsak tıkanıklığı gibi nadir fakat ciddi yan etkiler ve komplikasyonlar bildirilmiştir. GTM çoğunlukla güvenli bir ürün olmasına rağmen komplikasyon ve risklerden arınmış değildir. Sonuç olarak, GTM'nin rutin kullanımı, güvenlik, maliyet ve kullanılabilirliği ile ilgili endişelerden dolayı önerilemese de, dikiş ve elektrokoterizasyon gibi geleneksel hemostatik yöntemler başarısız olduğunda ya da uygun olmadığında yararlı olabilir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Hemostatik matriks, hemostaz, jelatin-trombin matriks, obstetrik, jinekolojik cerrahi

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Selim Mısırlıoğlu, MD, Koç University Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +16 465 10 59 88 E-mail: misirlioglu.selim@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5390-6637 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 16.03.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 24.06.2018
Introduction

Intraoperative hemorrhage remains a major concern of surgery in obstetrics and gynecology. Morbidity can be severe, resulting in increased transfusion rates, hospital stay, cost and rarely mortality. Although traditional methods of maintaining hemostasis (i.e., compression, suture ligation, electrocautery) usually suffice, they are not always successful or safe. In these situations, there is a need for alternative methods for achieving hemostasis. Hemostatic sealants (HS) have been developed to fulfill this need, and today a wide array of products is available. According to their mechanisms of action, they can be classified into mechanical sealants, flowable sealants, fibrin/synthetic sealants, and sealants with active ingredients⁽¹⁾. There are more than 20 commercial products on the market, and more currently in development. A commonly used combination of bovine-derived gelatin matrix and human-derived thrombin [FloSeal Hemostatic Matrix (FloSeal) Baxter Healthcare Corporation Fremont, CA 94555, USA], has both mechanical and active ingredients to achieve hemostasis^(2,3). We will use the abbreviation gelatinthrombin matrix (GTM) for, GTM in the rest of the text. GTM has been successfully used in several surgical specialties such as urology,^(4,5) neurosurgery,⁽⁶⁻⁹⁾ cardiovascular surgery,^(10,11) orthopedic surgery,^(12,13) and otorhinolaryngology;⁽¹⁴⁻¹⁷⁾ however, its use in obstetrics and gynecology is not similarly well-documented. This review aims to focus on the properties and use of GTM in obstetrics and gynecology.

Properties and mechanism of action

The gelatin matrix is created by gelatinization of collagen extracted from bovine corium. The collagen fibers are crosslinked and stabilized with glutaraldehyde, and the thrombin is extracted from pooled human plasma. These two components are packaged separately, stored at room temperature, and mixed just prior to use^(2,18). GTM has two mechanisms of action (Figure 1 and Figure 2). First, the gelatin matrix fills the bleeding site with gelatin granules and swells, generating a stable clot. The gel conforms to the contour of the wound, through asymmetrical or irregular surfaces, providing a tamponade effect. A spontaneously forming clot also triggers contact activation of platelets, contributing further to hemostasis. Next, the extrinsic thrombin component of GTM converts fibrinogen into a fibrin polymer, which promotes fibrin formation at the end of the coagulation cascade. Over the course of 6-8 weeks, the GTM granules are absorbed without any residue^(18,19).

It is important to note that GTM functions only in the presence of fibrinogen in the clot. Therefore, it is effective



Figure 2. Gelatin-thrombin hemostatic matrixTM mechanism of action (Courtesy of Oz et al.⁽¹⁹⁾ used with permission)



Figure 1. Coagulation cascade and hemostatic technologies (Courtesy of Oz et al.⁽¹⁸⁾ used with permission)

in active bleeding sites exclusively. Excess product should be removed to avoid swelling. Nevertheless, care should be taken because aggressive irrigation, suction or any action that could disrupt or remove the clot itself because it would nullify the effect of GTM^(2,18,19). Finally, its application or injection into blood vessels should be strictly avoided because GTM intravasation may result in thromboembolism, as discussed in the "safety and adverse effects of GTM in gynecological surgery" section⁽²⁰⁾. GTM was approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 1999⁽²¹⁾.

Gelatin-thrombin matrix in gynecology and obstetrics

GTM is a possibly an under-used tool in obstetrics and gynecology, as reflected in the paucity of literature regarding the related use of this substance. Studies are only available for a handful of indications, and a substantial number of publications are case reports.

Ovarian cystectomy

Most of the studies on GTM in gynecologic surgery are in the context of ovarian cystectomies. Unlike the other investigations on GTM, their primary outcomes are the prevention of blood loss and the preservation of the ovarian reserve. Angioli et al.⁽²²⁾ were the first to investigate the effectiveness of GTM during laparoscopic endometrioma excision. In their pilot study, they used GTM for hemostasis in the first 8 patients and bipolar forceps or carbondioxide laser in the following 12 patients with symptomatic endometriomas measuring ≥3 cm. Hemostasis was achieved in all patients within 3 minutes with a median time of 172 and 182 seconds in the control and GTM groups, respectively (p=0.19). Although the average blood loss was less in the GTM group, the difference was short of being statistically significant (p=0.37). Growing evidence shows a detrimental effect of endometrioma excision on ovarian reserve⁽²³⁻²⁸⁾. Alternative methods are being investigated because a possible factor is the use of electrocautery for hemostasis⁽²⁹⁾. After being proven effective in endometriomas by Angioli et al.⁽²²⁾ GTM was compared with electrocautery in three randomized controlled trials (RCT). Sönmezer et al.⁽³⁰⁾ recruited 30 women with a unilateral endometriomas ≥ 4 cm. Despite being allocated to GTM, two patients required bipolar cautery for hemostasis and were excluded from the analysis of ovarian reserve. Preoperative and postoperative hemoglobin levels were comparable between the groups. Anti-müllerian hormone (AMH) levels were measured preoperatively, and at the first and third post-operative months. One month after surgery, the decrease in AMH was significantly higher in the bipolar cautery than the GTM group (56% vs. 29%, respectively, p=0.001); however, it was not significantly different at the third month (23% vs. 19%, respectively, p=0.467). In another RCT including 100 patients, Song et al.⁽³¹⁾ compared AMH levels between GTM and electrocautery at the third post-operative month following laparoscopic

excision of endometriomas. Three patients in the GTM group required bipolar coagulation and two patients in the bipolar cautery group needed ovarian suturing for hemostasis. Estimated blood loss was similar in both groups (67.3± 49.9 mL in the bipolar cautery group vs. 55.9±45.4 mL in the GTM group, p=0.22). However, the percentage decline in AMH levels was significantly higher in the bipolar cautery group than in the GTM group (16.1% vs. 41.2%, respectively; p=0.004). The third RCT included 60 women with bilateral endometriomas⁽³²⁾. Either GTM or bipolar coagulation was used for hemostasis, and serum AMH levels were compared between the groups at the third post-operative month. Women in the GTM group had a significantly higher mean AMH level than the bipolar cautery group (1.68±0.32 ng/ dL vs. 1.08 ±0.32 ng/mL). It should be noted that this trial remained as an abstract and did not develop into a full-text article; therefore, detailed information about the methods and results are not available. In our systematic review and metaanalysis of the effect of hemostatic methods on ovarian reserve following laparoscopic endometrioma excision, we found that although bipolar cautery caused a significantly greater decline in AMH compared with alternative methods, namely GTM and suturing [95% confidence interval (CI)=-13.00, -0.90], the difference was not significant in the subgroup analysis comparing bipolar coagulation and GTM (95% CI=-14.07, 2.53)⁽²⁹⁾. We concluded that although the latter was possibly a false-negative finding due to a small sample size and there was moderate quality evidence supporting its use, we were still hesitant to suggest the widespread application of GTM due to its marginal benefit, additional cost, and possible adverse effects. To the best of our knowledge, there are no published studies about the use of GTM during the excision of other types of ovarian cysts, except for a case report by Ebert et al.⁽³³⁾ about stripping an ovarian serous cystadenoma.

Myomectomy

Even though myomectomy is a commonly performed procedure that can cause significant blood loss, there is limited data on the use of GTM in myomectomy. Raga et al.⁽³⁴⁾ randomized 50 women with symptomatic fibroids larger than the size of a 16 weeks' pregnant uterus who were undergoing conventional myomectomy into GTM and control groups. GTM or sterile saline was applied to the fibroid bed immediately after the removal of the fibroid and before uterine wound closure. Blood loss was estimated as the sum of the weight change in the gauzes and the blood volume in the suction bottle. The average intraoperative blood loss was 80±25.5 mL (range, 25-150 mL) and 625±120.5 mL (range, 250-950 mL) for the GTM and control groups, respectively (p<0.005). Likewise, average postoperative blood loss, measured by surgical drains, was significantly more in the control group (25±5 mL vs. 250±75 mL, p<0.005). Although none of the women in the GTM group required blood

transfusion, 5 patients were transfused in the control group. All of this translated into longer hospital stays for the control group (p<0.005). The small sample size and possible lack of blinding are drawbacks of this study and it is unfortunate that no other trial has been performed to support or oppose its findings.

Gynecologic oncology

It is interesting that the use of GTM has not been reported much in gynecologic oncological surgery, a field where hemostasis is of utmost importance and bleeding from or around many vital organs or tissues is expected. Yet, its use in pelvic lymph drainage and wound healing has drawn some attention.

Han et al.⁽³⁵⁾ reported the case of an 86-year-old woman who had undergone wide radical excision and bilateral inguinal lymphadenectomy for vulvar cancer. She had bilateral inguinal wound separation and excessive lymphorrhea postoperatively. Application of GTM resulted in successful granulation formation. Perfect wound healing and no drainage from the groin was reported two months later.⁽³⁵⁾

In addition to this case-report, there is only one cohort article that studied the effect of GTM for the treatment pelvic lymphoceles. In this study, 50 patients underwent pelvic +/- paraaortic lymphadenectomy for various gynecologic cancers. In the study group, 5 mL GTM and its spray form (Coseal[®]) was used at the lymphadenectomy side instead of a pelvic drainage system. Pelvic drainage systems were used in the control group. Application of GTM decreased the hospital stay and the number of symptomatic lymphoceles in patients with gynecologic malignancies⁽³⁶⁾.

Ectopic pregnancy

Another scenario where a gynecologic surgeon can encounter uncontrolled bleeding is ectopic pregnancy. Although most tubal pregnancies are managed successfully with salpingectomy or salpingostomy, additional measures may be required to control bleeding. Clapp and Huang⁽³⁷⁾ reported two cases of tubal ectopic pregnancies where electrocautery failed to achieve hemostasis and GTM was used successfully. Interestingly, Watrowski⁽³⁸⁾ reported two cases of tubal pregnancies managed through salpingostomy where they used only GTM for hemostasis. Due to its cost, limited availability, and yet-to-be-proven efficacy, this approach is far from being the standard. It remains a viable option in patients who wish to preserve their fallopian tubes. Gorry et al.⁽³⁹⁾ and Watrowski et al.⁽⁴⁰⁾ reported cases of primary peritoneal pregnancy and primary omental pregnancy where GTM was used successfully to control bleeding.

Obstetrics

The literature on the use of GTM in obstetrics is limited to a few cases in the context of postpartum hemorrhage. Moatti et al.⁽⁴¹⁾ described a case of massive post-partum hemorrhage

forming a rectovaginal hematoma that could not be controlled with conventional methods; application of GTM with packing provided hemostasis. Another case, uncontrolled bleeding from the venous plexus along the vaginal vault after emergency postpartum hysterectomy in a patient with disseminated intravascular coagulopathy was managed successfully with GTM⁽⁴²⁾. A patient with acute fatty liver of pregnancy who presented with acute hepatic and renal failure along with a hypofibrinogenemia was noted to have bleeding after vaginal delivery by vacuum extraction. This was controlled with intrauterine, vaginal application of GTM and recombinant activated human factor VIIa transfusion⁽⁴³⁾. Finally, GTM proved successful in a woman with post-partum hemorrhage due to vaginal laceration that could not be controlled using traditional techniques due to "poor tissue quality"⁽⁴⁴⁾. Similar cases of bleeding from a caesarean scar⁽⁴⁵⁾ and placental site^(46,47) were controlled with GTM. These reports show that GTM can be an option in post-partum hemorrhage in cases where traditional methods fail.

Safety and adverse effects of gelatin-thrombin matrix in gynecologic surgery

As with any other product that contains human or animal derived components, GTM poses a theoretical risk of viral transmission. Although this risk can be reduced by screening donors and tracing cattle, it cannot be ruled out with current technology⁽⁶⁾. There are no reports of disease transmission from the currently available GTM products in the literature. Thromboembolism is another major concern about GTM and HS in general. Fatal pulmonary thromboembolism has been reported following the use of GTM during spinal surgery in a 78-year-old woman⁽²⁰⁾. She developed dyspnea with right-sided heart failure due to left pulmonary artery embolization 8 hours after surgery. Autopsy revealed that the thrombus in the pulmonary artery contained acellular eosinophilic granules with enclosed fibrin and thrombocytes, convincing the pathologists that thromboembolism was a result of embolization of GTM granules from the application site to the pulmonary artery. The authors suggested that continuous uptake of small amounts of GTM through small vessels around the paravertebral site was the cause of thromboembolism. The injury to the vessel wall might have triggered the coagulation cascade that caused the migration of GTM granules. Therefore, surgeons should be careful about the risk of intravascular thrombus formation when GTM is used around relatively large-sized vessels.

Another case report involving an 18-year-old woman who developed peri-operative disseminated intravascular coagulation and acute right-sided heart failure that occurred during spinal surgery immediately after the application of an absorbable gelatin powder mixed with bovine thrombin. This event was attributed to unintentional intravasation of HS⁽⁴⁸⁾. Small bowel obstruction (SBO) is another potential serious complication after application of GTM or similar HS in the peritoneal cavity⁽⁴⁹⁻⁵²⁾. SBO following its use in gynecological surgery was first reported in 2009⁽⁵¹⁾. GTM was applied after iatrogenic injury to the inferior vena cava during laparoscopic lymphadenectomy for endometrial cancer. The patient developed nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain on the 6th postoperative day and bowel sounds were absent. She was initially managed conservatively, but diagnostic laparoscopy was required on the 11th postoperative day. Adhesions were seen on the GTM application site only and this was thought to be the obvious cause of obstruction. A 15-cm small bowel segment was resected. Pathologic evaluation showed significant fibrotic changes caused by a foreign material, in accordance with a GTM product. Suzuki et al.⁽⁵²⁾ reported two cases of laparoscopic gynecologic procedures complicated by SBO, possibly related to the use of a hemostatic agent. In the first case, a 44-year-old woman who underwent laparoscopic myomectomy, a single dose of GTM (4 mL in total) was administered to the hysterotomy site for persistent oozing. She was re-admitted with severe pelvic pain on 4th postoperative day. In the second case, total laparoscopic hysterectomy and bilateral adnexectomy was performed and GTM was applied to control the bleeding from the left pelvic side wall after adhesiolysis. In both cases, SBO was noted at the GTM application sites during diagnostic laparoscopy (Figure 3). The authors concluded that triggering of an allergic reaction and formation of eosinophilic granulomatous tissue may result in intraperitoneal adhesions and SBO⁽⁵²⁾. In the light of these case reports, it is suggested to wait for two minutes after GTM application and remove the excess material with gentle irrigation to decrease the risk for developing granulomatous tissue, which could result in SBO. These reports show that although GTM is mostly a safe product, it is still not free of risk. These are important considerations before its use because safer alternatives such as suturing or compression



Figure 3. Granulation tissue and significant inflammatory reaction seen at the site of bowel adhesions (Courtesy of Suzuki et al.⁽⁵²⁾ used with permission)

are available. GTM is a hemostat consisting of bovine-derived gelatin matrix and human-derived thrombin, combining both mechanical and active ingredient mechanisms to achieve hemostasis. Although it cannot be recommended as the first-line method due to concerns about safety, cost, and availability, it may be useful when conventional hemostatic methods such as suturing and electrocautery fail or are not appropriate. Moreover, it may prove useful in endometrioma excision in reproductive aged women because it is likely to harm ovarian reserve less than electrocautery. However, this should be validated with high quality studies. AThis research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Acknowledgments

We thank Jay R. Patibandla, MD as native speaker who has been working in NYU Langone Perlmutter Cancer Center for his contribution to correct the language.

Ethics

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: S.M., E.T., Concept: B.U., B.A., Design: B.U., B.A., Data Collection or Processing: S.M., E.T., Analysis or Interpretation: S.M., E.T., B.A., Literature Search: H.Y., Writing: S.M., E.T., B.A.,

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Forcillo J, Perrault LP. Armentarium of topical hemostatic products in cardiovascular surgery: an update. Transfus Apher Sci 2014;50:26-31.
- Schreiber MA, Neveleff DJ. Achieving hemostasis with topical hemostats: making clinically and economically appropriate decisions in the surgical and trauma settings. AORN J 2011;94:1-20.
- Lee DI, Uribe C, Eichel L, Khonsari S, Basillote J, Park HK, et al. Sealing percutaneous nephrolithotomy tracts with gelatin matrix hemostatic sealant: initial clinical use. J Urol 2004;171:575-8.
- Li CC, Yeh HC, Lee HY, Li WM, Ke HL, Hsu AH, et al. Laparoscopic partial nephrectomy without intracorporeal suturing. Surg Endosc 2016;30:1585-91.
- Park BR, Kuehl DR. Hemostatic Matrix (FloSeal) as Treatment for Urethral Crush Injury After Failure of Traditional Hemostatic Technique. Ann Emerg Med 2016;68:751-3.
- Yao HH, Hong MK, Drummond KJ. Haemostasis in neurosurgery: what is the evidence for gelatin-thrombin matrix sealant? J Clin Neurosci 2013;20:349-56.
- Reeves A, Muhonen M, Loudon W. FloSeal hemostatic matrix use for intraventricular hemorrhage during a neuroendoscopic procedure. Minim Invasive Neurosurg 2011;54:132-4.
- Landi A, Gregori F, Marotta N, Delfini R. Efficacy, Security, and Manageability of Gelified Hemostatic Matrix in Bleeding Control during Thoracic and Lumbar Spine Surgery: FloSeal versus Surgiflo. J Neurol Surg A Cent Eur Neurosurg 2016;77:139-43.

- Brundage CM, Packer RA, Jones MD. Magnetic Resonance Imaging Appearance and Mechanism of Action of Five Hemostatic Agents Used in Neurosurgery. Vet Surg 2016;45:996-1004.
- Weaver FA, Hood DB, Zatina M, Messina L, Badduke B. Gelatinthrombin-based hemostatic sealant for intraoperative bleeding in vascular surgery. Ann Vasc Surg 2002;16:286-93.
- 11. Krishnan S, Conner TM, Leslie R, Stemkowski S, Shander A. Choice of hemostatic agent and hospital length of stay in cardiovascular surgery. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2009;13:225-30.
- Helenius I, Keskinen H, Syvanen J, Lukkarinen H, Mattila M, Valipakka J, et al. Gelatine matrix with human thrombin decreases blood loss in adolescents undergoing posterior spinal fusion for idiopathic scoliosis: a multicentre, randomised clinical trial. Bone Joint J 2016;98:395-401.
- 13. Velyvis JH. Gelatin matrix use reduces postoperative bleeding after total knee arthroplasty. Orthopedics 2015;38:118-23.
- Jo SH, Mathiasen RA, Gurushanthaiah D. Prospective, randomized, controlled trial of a hemostatic sealant in children undergoing adenotonsillectomy. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2007;137:454-8.
- Dyer SR, Bathula S, Durvasula P, Madgy D, Haupert M, Dworkin J, et al. Intraoperative use of FloSeal with adenotonsillectomy to prevent adverse postoperative outcomes in pediatric patients. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013;149:312-7.
- Wakelam OC, Dimitriadis PA, Stephens J. The use of FloSeal haemostatic sealant in the management of epistaxis: a prospective clinical study and literature review. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2017;99:28-30.
- Ujam A, Awad Z, Wong G, Tatla T, Farrell R. Safety trial of Floseal(R) haemostatic agent in head and neck surgery. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2012;94:336-9.
- Oz MC, Rondinone JF, Shargill NS. FloSeal Matrix: new generation topical hemostatic sealant. J Card Surg 2003;18:486-93.
- 19. Oz MC, Cosgrove DM, 3rd, Badduke BR, Hill JD, Flannery MR, Palumbo R, et al. Controlled clinical trial of a novel hemostatic agent in cardiac surgery. The Fusion Matrix Study Group. Ann Thorac Surg 2000;69:1376-82.
- 20. Steinestel K, Geiger A, Naraghi R, Kunz U, Danz B, Kraft K, et al. Fatal thromboembolism to the left pulmonary artery by locally applied hemostatic matrix after surgical removal of spinal schwannoma: a case report. Hum Pathol 2013;44:294-8.
- 21. Administration. USFaD. Summary of Safety and Effectiveness: FloSeal1 Matrix Hemostatic Sealant; 1999.
- 22. Angioli R, Muzii L, Montera R, Damiani P, Bellati F, Plotti F, et al. Feasibility of the use of novel matrix hemostatic sealant (FloSeal) to achieve hemostasis during laparoscopic excision of endometrioma. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2009;16:153-6.
- Somigliana E, Infantino M, Benedetti F, Arnoldi M, Calanna G, Ragni G. The presence of ovarian endometriomas is associated with a reduced responsiveness to gonadotropins. Fertil Steril 2006;86:192-6.
- 24. Biacchiardi CP, Piane LD, Camanni M, Deltetto F, Delpiano EM, Marchino GL, et al. Laparoscopic stripping of endometriomas negatively affects ovarian follicular reserve even if performed by experienced surgeons. Reprod Biomed Online 2011;23:740-6.
- Ferrero S, Venturini PL, Gillott DJ, Remorgida V, Leone Roberti Maggiore U. Hemostasis by bipolar coagulation versus suture after surgical stripping of bilateral ovarian endometriomas: a randomized controlled trial. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2012;19:722-30.
- 26. Uncu G, Kasapoglu I, Ozerkan K, Seyhan A, Oral Yilmaztepe A, Ata B. Prospective assessment of the impact of endometriomas and their removal on ovarian reserve and determinants of the rate of decline in ovarian reserve. Hum Reprod 2013;28:2140-5.

- Urman B, Alper E, Yakin K, Oktem O, Aksoy S, Alatas C, et al. Removal of unilateral endometriomas is associated with immediate and sustained reduction in ovarian reserve. Reprod Biomed Online 2013;27:212-6.
- 28. Ata B, Uncu G. Impact of endometriomas and their removal on ovarian reserve. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2015;27:235-41.
- 29. Ata B, Turkgeldi E, Seyhan A, Urman B. Effect of hemostatic method on ovarian reserve following laparoscopic endometrioma excision; comparison of suture, hemostatic sealant, and bipolar dessication. A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2015;22:363-72.
- Sönmezer M, Taşkın S, Gemici A, Kahraman K, Özmen B, Berker B, et al. Can ovarian damage be reduced using hemostatic matrix during laparoscopic endometrioma surgery? A prospective, randomized study. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2013;287:1251-7.
- 31. Song T, Lee SH, Kim WY. Additional benefit of hemostatic sealant in preservation of ovarian reserve during laparoscopic ovarian cystectomy: a multi-center, randomized controlled trial. Hum Reprod 2014;29:1659-65.
- 32. Raga F, Casan EM, Martinez-Aspas A, Garcia-Verdevio E, Rodriguez-Gomez C, Bonilla-Musoles F. The impact of FloSeal on ovarian reserve after laparoscopic excision of ovarian endometriomas. Molecular Human Reproduction 2009;24:103.
- 33. Ebert AD, Hollauer A, Fuhr N, Langolf O, Papadopoulos T. Laparoscopic ovarian cystectomy without bipolar coagulation or sutures using a gelantine-thrombin matrix sealant (FloSeal): first support of a promising technique. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2009;280:161-5.
- 34. Raga F, Sanz-Cortes M, Bonilla F, Casan EM, Bonilla-Musoles F. Reducing blood loss at myomectomy with use of a gelatin-thrombin matrix hemostatic sealant. Fertil Steril 2009;92:356-60.
- Han LY, Schimp V, Oh JC, Ramirez PT. A gelatin matrix-thrombin tissue sealant (FloSeal) application in the management of groin breakdown after inguinal lymphadenectomy for vulvar cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2004;14:621-4.
- 36. Köhler C, Kyeyamwa S, Marnitz S, Tsunoda A, Vercelino F, Schneider A, et al. Prevention of lymphoceles using FloSeal and CoSeal after laparoscopic lymphadenectomy in patients with gynecologic malignancies. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2015;22:451-5.
- Clapp M, Huang JC. Use of FloSeal Sealant in the Surgical Management of Tubal Ectopic Pregnancy. Case Rep Obstet Gynecol 2013;2013:906825.
- Watrowski R. Hemostatic gelatine-thrombin matrix (Floseal(R)) facilitates hemostasis and organ preservation in laparoscopic treatment of tubal pregnancy. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2014;290:411-5.
- Gorry A, Morelli ML, Olowu O, Shahid A, Odejinmi F Laparoscopic management of abdominal ectopic pregnancy using FLOSEAL Hemostatic Matrix. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2012;117:83-4.
- Watrowski R, Lange A, Möckel J. Primary omental pregnancy with secondary implantation into posterior cul-de-sac: laparoscopic treatment using hemostatic matrix. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2015;22:501-3.
- 41. Moatti Z, Gorry A, Odejinmi F. Use of haemostatic matrix to arrest a massive obstetric haemorrhage from a posterior vaginal wall haematoma. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2014;181:342-3.
- Moriarty KT, Premila S, Bulmer PJ. Use of FloSeal haemostatic gel in massive obstetric haemorrhage: a case report. BJOG 2008;115:793-5.
- 43. Lemmer R, Albrech M, Bauer G. Use of FloSeal hemostatic matrix in a patient with severe postpartum hemorrhage. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2012;38:435-7.

- 44. Whiteside JL, Asif RB, Novello RJ. Fibrin sealant for management of complicated obstetric lacerations. Obstet Gynecol 2010;115:403-4.
- 45. Nandi A, Wallace S, Moore J. Use of FloSeal to stop persistent intraoperative bleeding during caesarean section. J Obstet Gynaecol 2012;32:34-5.
- 46. Wohlmuth CT, Dela Merced J. Gelatin-thrombin hemostatic matrix in the management of placental site postpartum hemorrhage: a case report. J Reprod Med 2011;56:271-3.
- Law LW, Chor CM, Leung TY. Use of hemostatic gel in postpartum hemorrhage due to placenta previa. Obstet Gynecol 2010;116(Suppl 2):528-30.
- 48. Ferschl MB, Rollins MD. Thromboemboli, acute right heart failure and disseminated intravascular coagulation after intraoperative application of a topical hemostatic matrix. Anesth Analg

2009;108:434-6.

- 49. Clapp B, Santillan A. Small bowel obstruction after FloSeal use. JSLS 2011;15:361-4.
- Thomas PJ, Tawfic SN. Eosinophil-rich inflammatory response to FloSeal hemostatic matrix presenting as postoperative pelvic pain. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009;200:10-1.
- Hobday CD, Milam MR, Milam RA, Euscher E, Brown J. Postoperative small bowel obstruction associated with use of hemostatic agents. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2009;16:224-6.
- 52. Suzuki Y, Vellinga TT, Istre O, Einarsson JI. Small bowel obstruction associated with use of a gelatin-thrombin matrix sealant (FloSeal) after laparoscopic gynecologic surgery. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2010;17:641-5.

199



Are complicated monochorionic twins more susceptible to indomethacin-induced fetal ductal constriction? Two cases of laser surgery for Twin-Twin Transfusion syndrome

Komplike monokoryonik gebelikler indometazinin neden olduğu fetal duktus arteriozus konstriksiyonuna daha mı duyarlıdır? İkizden İkize Transfüzyon sendromu nedeniyle lazer cerrahisi yapılan iki olgu

● Hakan Erenel, ● Mehmet Fatih Karslı, ● Sevim Özge Korkmaz, ● Cihat Şen

İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Perinatal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Indomethacin is a commonly used medication against preterm delivery. Several reports of fetal ductal constriction have been described after indomethacin use in the literature; however, there are no previously documented reports describing an association between Twin-Twin Transfusion syndrome and a constrictor effect of indomethacin on the ductus arteriosus. Two patients were referred to our department for Twin-Twin Transfusion syndrome and each underwent placental laser surgery. Constriction of the ductus arteriosus occurred as early as 20 and 24 weeks' gestation following maternal use of indomethacin after laser surgery. Spontaneous amelioration was observed after discontinuation of the drug. The constrictor effect of indomethacin on the ductus arteriosus can be observed even after a single dose and as early as 20 weeks of gestation in complicated monochorionic twin pregnancies. We emphasize meticulous use of indomethacin in complicated monochorionic twin pregnancies because the constrictive effect seems to be independent of gestational age.

Keywords: Constriction, ductus arteriosus, indomethacin, preterm labor, Twin-Twin Transfusion syndrome

Öz

İndometazin preterm eylem durumunda sıklıkla kullanılan bir ilaçtır. Literatürde indometazin ve duktus arteriozus konstriksiyonu ile ilgili olgular rapor edilmişse de ikizden ikize transfüzyon sendromu ile ilişkisini vurgulayan bir çalışma yoktur. Hastanemize İkizden İkize Transfüzyon sendromu tanısı ile iki olgu refere edilmiştir ve bu olgulara plasental lazer cerrahisi uygulanmıştır. Cerrahi sonrası uterin kontraksiyonları engellemek amacıyla indometazin tedavisi verilmiştir ve 20 ve 24. gebelik haftasında olan bu olgularda duktus konstriksiyonu gelişmiştir. Tedavi kesildikten sonra klinik tablo kendiliğinden düzelmiştir. Komplike olan monokoryonik ikiz gebeliklerde indometazinin duktus arteriozus üzerindeki konstriktor etkisi tek doz sonrası bile 20. gebelik haftası gibi erken bir gebelik haftasında gözlenebilir. İndometazinin duktus üzerine olan etkisi gebelik haftasından bağımsız olduğundan komplike monokoryonik ikiz gebeliklerde indometazin dikkatli kullanılmalıdır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Konstriksiyon, duktus arteriozus, indometazin, preterm doğum, İkizden İkize Tansfüzyon sendromu

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Hakan Erenel, MD,

İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Perinatal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 506 309 29 95 E-mail: hakanerenel@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7583-5385 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 19.03.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 05.06.2018

[©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

Introduction

Monochorionic (MC) twins are a subtype of monozygotic (MZ) pregnancies and are seen in 0.3% of all pregnancies. MC diamniotic pregnancies are the most common subtype of MZ pregnancies and account for 70-75% of all MZ pregnancies⁽¹⁾. Twin-Twin Transfusion syndrome (TTTS) is a complication of MC twin pregnancies and foetoscopic laser photocoagulation is one of the treatment options; however, laser surgery increases the risk of abortion/preterm delivery. Indomethacin is a commonly used medication against preterm delivery. Several reports of fetal ductal constriction have been described after indomethacin use in the literature. Here, we present two cases of antenatally diagnosed foetal ductal constriction in the donor co-twin after indomethacin use.

Case Reports

Case 1

A 24-year-old gravida-3-para-2 at 24 weeks' gestation was referred to our department for TTTS. Her physical and gynecologic examinations were usual. Fetal examination revealed a diamniotic MC twin pregnancy. The recipient twin was diagnosed as having polyhydramnios and the donor twin had oligohydramnios. The diagnosis of stage 3 TTTS was made on the basis of Quintero Staging system. A negative ductus venosus A-wave was observed in the recipient twin. The deepest vertical pocket was 140 mm for the recipient and 5 mm for the donor twin. The complications and prognosis of TTTS and risks of placental laser surgery were discussed with the family and the patient opted for placental laser surgery. The patient underwent placental laser surgery under local anaesthesia in operating room. On the day of the operation, 100 mg indomethacin was administered due to regular uterine contractions as rectal suppository once a day. Indomethacin administration was continued until postoperative day 2 and the contractions disappeared. On postoperative day 3, an ultrasound examination revealed pleural effusion, ascites, increased nuchal thickness, oligohydramnios, tricuspid regurgitation, and negative ductus venosus A-wave in the donor twin and normal Doppler findings in the recipient twin. A detailed examination of the ductus arteriosus showed ductal narrowing with a transverse diameter of 1.49 mm $(<5^{th} percentile)$ (Figure 1)⁽²⁾. There was no turbulent flow or aliasing in the ductus arteriosus region and systolic and diastolic velocities were 69 and 6 cm/s, respectively. Although Doppler criteria of ductal constriction were not observed, hydrops was prominent. The indomethacin treatment was stopped. The direction of ductus venosus flow turned to positive on the next day and further examination revealed a 50% increase in the transverse diameter of the ductus arteriosus, and the ductal arch returned to its normal shape (Figure 2). The tricuspid regurgitation and ascites, and pleural effusion disappeared completely on postoperative



Figure 1. Narrowing in the ductus arteriosus (Case 1)



Figure 2. Transverse diameter of ductus arteriosus after resolution of the constriction (Case 1)

days 5 and day 7, respectively. The patient was discharged on tenth day postoperatively. Her antenatal visits were uneventful until delivery. The patient underwent a cesarean section for breech-vertex presentation at 35 weeks' gestation. Male infants weighing 2200 and 2100 g were delivered.

Case 2

A 25-year-old gravida-2-para-1 at 20 weeks' gestation was referred to our department for TTTs. The patient reported abdominal bloating. The diagnosis of TTTs stage 2 was made on the basis of Quintero staging. The deepest vertical pocket was 154 mm for the recipient and 10 mm for the donor twin. The estimated foetal weight (EFW) was less than 10th centile for donor twin. Placental laser surgery was performed after preoperative counselling. Postoperatively, a single-dose 100 mg indomethacin suppository was inserted into the rectum to prevent uterine contractions. On the next day (postoperative

day 1), constriction of the ductus arteriosus and tricuspid regurgitation were observed in the donor twin. There was a marked ductal narrowing (Figure 3). The peak systolic velocity was 149 cm/s (Figure 4). On postoperative day 3, the transverse diameter of the ductus arteriosus and peak systolic velocity returned to normal (Figure 5). On postoperative day 5, the tricuspid regurgitation had disappeared and the patient was discharged. On the next day, the patient was admitted to the hospital due to regular contractions and cervical opening and she delivered at 21 weeks and 3 days' gestation.

Discussion

Preterm delivery is a major cause of perinatal morbidity and mortality. Indomethacin is relatively old and the most commonly used prostaglandin synthetase inhibitor, it has been used in preterm delivery since the 1970s. Maternal use of indomethacin is the most common cause of foetal ductus arteriosus constriction; however, idiopathic constriction of the fetal ductus arteriosus has also been described in the



Figure 3. Narrowing in the ductus arteriosus (Case 2)



Figure 4. Elevated peak systolic velocity in the ductus arteriosus (Case 2)

literature⁽³⁾. The diagnostic criteria of ductal constriction are as follows: a) presence of turbulent flow with a continuous pattern in the ductus arteriosus region (systolic and diastolic) in colour Doppler; b) systolic velocity ≥ 1.4 m/s; and c) diastolic velocity ≥ 0.3 m/s⁽⁴⁾. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of prenatal diagnosis of constriction of ductus arteriosus in as early as 20 and 24 weeks' gestation following maternal use of indomethacin in complicated MC twins after laser surgery. Prostaglandin inhibitors such as indomethacin are tocolytic agents, which act by decreasing prostaglandin activity in the uterine myometrium. However, decreased prostaglandin synthesis in the foetal circulation may have adverse effects on the ductus arteriosus because prostaglandins mainstay ductal patency. Fetal ductal constriction is a distinct entity caused by different drugs (non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, fluoxetine or abuse of some drugs); however, idiopathic/spontaneous constriction of foetal ductus arteriosus has also been described in the literature⁽⁵⁾. Tricuspid regurgitation, right ventricular dilatation, oligohydramnios, ascites, hydrops, and increased nuchal translucency are common foetal findings in such cases. A case series reported 45 cases of fetal ductus arteriosus constriction and closure, including 8 idiopathic forms. The most common finding of ductal constriction was tricuspid regurgitation, present in 86.6% of patients⁽⁵⁾. Although indomethacin was administered as a single dose at 20 weeks' gestation and once a day for 2 days at 24 week's gestation, our cases presented with constriction of the ductus arteriosus. As we know from previous reports, constriction of the ductus arteriosus is not dependent on serum indomethacin levels⁽⁶⁾. Vermillion et al.⁽⁷⁾ analysed the effect of indomethacin tocolysis on fetal ductus arteriosus constriction of 72 fetuses and reported that the greatest incidence of ductal constriction occurred at 31 weeks' gestation. The earliest gestational age for ductal constriction was reported at 24.7



Figure 5. Transverse diameter of the ductus arteriosus after resolution of the constriction (Case 2)

weeks' gestation⁽⁷⁾. Therefore, it could be argued that the ductal effect of indomethacin is unpredictable for the foetus at any gestational age. Complete and irreversible closure of the ductus arteriosus can be observed even after a single dose of indomethacin, whereas ductus arteriosus can remain unaffected despite repeated doses. In our cases, constriction of the ductus arteriosus was seen only in the donor twin. In our opinion, this effect was observed only in the donor twins because of the relatively hypoxic conditions of donor foetuses. A selective constrictive effect of indomethacin on MC twins has been shown previously in some pathologically proven reports⁽⁸⁾. Furthermore, indomethacin can decrease fetal urine output and lead to deterioration in amniotic fluid levels in the donor foetus. Thus, it seems reasonable to use tocolytics other than indomethacin in TTTS. Just a few cases of hydrops and constriction of ductus arteriosus following indomethacin use have been described in the literature and none presented as early as 24 weeks' gestation. As in our case, hydrops resolved after discontinuation of indomethacin⁽⁹⁾. Indomethacin use is associated with a risk of constriction of the ductus arteriosus at any gestational age; however, this condition and its effects can present in the absence of Doppler criteria. In case 1, the absence of Doppler criteria can be explained by the relatively early gestational age and severe tricuspid regurgitation. Tricuspid regurgitation allows the right ventricle to empty and may prevent turbulent flow in the ductus arteriosus. In conclusion, these are the first reported cases of foetal ductal constriction in complicated MC twin pregnancy presenting as early as 20 weeks' of gestation. Therefore, we emphasize meticulous use of indomethacin in complicated MC twin pregnancies because the constrictive effect seems to be independent of gestational age. In the event of indomethacin use, Doppler indices of the ductus arteriosus should be closely monitored.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Was taken. Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: C.Ş., H.E., Concept: C.Ş., M.E.K., Design: C.Ş., H.E., M.F.K., Data Collection or Processing: M.F.K., S.Ö.K., Analysis or Interpretation: H.E., S.Ö.K., Literature Search: M.F.K., S.Ö.K., Writing: H.E., C.Ş. **Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Hall JG. Twinning. Lancet 2003;362:735-43.
- 2. Mielke G, Benda N. Reference ranges for two-dimensional echocardiographic examination of the fetal ductus arteriosus. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2000;15:219-25.
- 3. Enzensberger C, Wenhard J, Weichert J, Kawecki A, Degenhardt J, Vogel M, et al. Idiopathic constriction of the fetal ductus arteriosus: three cases and review of the literature. J Ultrasound Med 2012;31:1285-91.
- 4. Huhta JC, Moise KJ, Fisher DJ, Sharif DS, Wasserstrum N, Martin C. Detection and quantitation of constriction of the fetal ductus arteriosus by Doppler echocardiography. Circulation 1987;75:406-12.
- Lopes LM, Carrilho MC, Francisco RP, Lopes MA, Krebs VL, Zugaib M. Fetal ductus arteriosus constriction and closure: analysis of the causes and perinatal outcome related to 45 consecutive cases. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016;29:638-45.
- Van den Veyver IB, Moise KJ Jr, Ou CN, Carpenter RJ Jr. The effect of gestational age and fetal indomethacin levels on the incidence of constriction of the fetal ductus arteriosus. Obstet Gynecol 1993;82:500-3.
- Vermillion ST, Scardo JA, Lashus AG, Wiles HB. The effect of indomethacin tocolysis on fetal ductus arteriosus constriction with advancing gestational age. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1997;177:256-9.
- Shehata BM, Bare JB, Denton TD, Habib MN, Black JO. Premature closure of the ductus arteriosus: variable response among monozygotic twins after in utero exposure to indomethacin. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2006;25:151-7.
- 9. Pratt L, Digiosia J, Swenson JN, Trampe B, Martin CB Jr. Reversible fetal hydrops associated with indomethacin use. Obstet Gynecol 1997;90:676-8.



Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of genital tract in hysterectomized patient: A case report

Histerektomize bir kadında genital primitif nöroektodermal tümör: Olgu sunumu ve literatür derlemesi

Betül Yakıştıran¹, Salih Taşkın¹, Cevriye Cansız Ersöz¹, Fırat Ortaç¹

¹Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

²Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Ankara, Turkey

Abstract

Primitive neuroectodermal tumors are high-grade malignant neoplasms. These are uncommon entities for the female genital tract. The treatment, management and follow-up period of Ewing's tumors are not well-defined because of their rarity in the genital tract. Surgical debulking is the mainstay treatment in all cases. After debulking surgery, patients receive chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy and there is a relation between disease stage and survival. Herein, we present a case of ovarian primitive neuroectodermal tumor with a review of previously reported cases.

Keywords: Ovary tumor, primitive neuroectodermal tumor, Ewing's tumor

Öz

Primitif nöroektodermal tümörler yüksek dereceli malign kanserlerdir. Kadın genital sisteminde nadir görülür. Ewing tümörleri, genital sistemde nadir görüldüğü için, tedavi, yönetim ve takip periyodu iyi tanımlanmamıştır. Debulking cerrahi bütün olguların tedavisinde temeldir, cerrahi sonrası hastalar kemoterapi ve/veya radyoterapi alabilirler. Hastalığın derecesi ve sağkalım arasında ilişki vardır. Bu yazıda, ovaryan primitif nöroektodermal tümör olgusu sunup, literatürdeki diğer olguları da kapsayan bir derleme hazırladık.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Yumurtalık tümörü, primitif nöroektodermal tümör, Ewing tümörü

Introduction

Primitive neuroectodermal tumors (PNETs), which are known as Ewing's sarcoma (ES), are high-grade malignant neoplasms that develop from a group of neuroectodermal small round cells⁽¹⁾. The typical locations of PNETs are around the skeletal system, but they can arise from any soft tissue⁽²⁾. ES is an uncommon condition in the female genital tract;⁽³⁾ ovarian tumors with primitive neuroectodermal components for postmenopausal women are extremely rare and only a few cases have been reported. Herein, we present a case of ovarian PNET with review of previously reported cases.

Case Report

A 64-year-old woman, gravida 2, para 2, presented with pelvic pain, which she had had for approximately four months. She underwent a ventro-suspension 25 years ago for

uterine prolapse. However, a re-operation for uterine prolapse consisting of laparoscopy-assisted vaginal hysterectomy was performed 3 years ago. During this procedure, the uterus was separated from bilateral cornual regions and adnexae were left. The result of a pathologic evaluation was reported as benign for the uterus corpus material but wide cervical intraepithelial grade 3 neoplasia signs for the cervix were reported. A physical examination revealed a pelvic mass fixed to the left anterolateral abdominal wall. Abdominal magnetic resonance imaging revealed a huge mass in the pelvic cavity backward the bladder with irregular borders. The tumor markers were carbohydrate antigen (CA)-125; 269.7 kU/L (reference value; 0-35 kU/L). She underwent a debulking operation with bilateral salpingoopherectomy and total omentectomy, bilateral pelvic and paraaortic lymph node dissection, appendectomy, and aspiration for cytologic evaluation. The left ovarian mass had invaded

Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Betül Yakıştıran, MD,

Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 546 429 63 21 E-mail: btlengin@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3993-4017 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 25.03.2018 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 26.05.2018

©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Turkish Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology published by Galenos Publishing House.

the abdominal wall and resection of the fascia and part of the rectus abdominis muscle was needed; a polypropylene mesh was used to close the abdominal wall. There was no visible tumor after surgery. The tumor was characterized by a proliferation of small, round, primitive cells with a diffuse growth pattern. The cells had scant cytoplasm, irregularlyshaped and hyper-chromatic nuclei with coarse chromatin and a brisk mitotic rate. In some areas there were perivascular pseudorosette-like structures. The histology showed round cells with hyper chromatic nuclei and pleomorphisms, eosinophilic cytoplasm, very frequent mitosis, apoptosis, and focal necrosis. The tumor showed diffuse, strong, cytoplasmic and membranous CD56, nuclear Fli-1 positivity. Multifocal staining for neuron specific enolase (NSE) and mesothelin and focal high molecular weight (HMW)+low molecular weight cytokeratin (CK), epithelial membrane antigen (EMA), synaptophysin (SYNP), WT1 positivity was detected (Figure 1, 2). The tumor cells were also positive for p53. CD99, chromogranin A, CD45, inhibin, calretinin, CA-125, ER, PR, CK7, CK20, Moc31, Tag72, myogenin, S100, and destine were negative. The surgical specimens of one ovary, appendix, and omentum were interpreted as Ewing sarcoma/ PNET after immunohistologic and histologic studies. The patient was referred to the medical oncology department and chemotherapy consisting of vincristine, cyclophosphamide, and cisplatin was started. Radiotherapy was not applied. The CA-125 value was 84.4 U/mL before her first chemotherapy. The patient completed six chemotherapies after surgery. There was no evidence of disease after 7 months of follow-up.



Figure 1. A) Strong membranous and cytoplasmic CD56 positivity (CD56*10), B) Nuclear Fli1 positivity (Fli1*10), C) Focal cytoplasmic SYNP staining (SYNP*10), D) Focal HMW+LMW CK positivity*10

Discussion

PNETs are uncommon entities especially for the female genital tract and the ovaries are the most common location⁽¹⁻¹⁵⁾. It seems that the exact age for non-skeletal ES is not clear, but cases in the literature were seen between the second and third decades of the life. The first postmenopausal patient with ovarian PNET was reported by Fischer et al.⁽¹⁶⁾. According to our knowledge, this case is the second ovarian Ewing's tumor to be diagnosed in the postmenopausal period. For our patient, invasion to the anterolateral abdominal wall may have been due to suspension to this region of the round ligament and adnexa during the operation for uterine prolapse many years ago. To date, nearly 30 ovarian ES cases have been reported and some of these are summarized in Table 1.^(6-11,17-22) PNETs have poor prognosis and due to the fact that tumors have an aggressive potential, survival periods are short. Two reported cases in literature had six years' survival. Age at diagnosis is meaningful for five-year overall survival ranges. As reported in the case of Fischer et al.⁽¹⁶⁾ the patient was alive for six months. Therefore, our patient is one of the rare cases to be diagnosed in postmenopausal period and has the longest survival period. The treatment, management, and follow-up periods for Ewing's tumors in the genital tract are not well-defined because of their rarity. Until recently, 18 cases of uterus corpus, 5 cases of cervix uteri, 3 cases of vulvar, and 4 cases of vaginal location have been reported⁽²³⁾. Uterine abnormal bleeding and enlargement of the uterus size were the main symptoms reported for uterine corpus and cervix uteri ES-PNETs, and painless, nodular vulvar masses were typical for the vulvar or vaginal tumors. Among these cases, tumor markers had increased values in nearly all patients. Surgical debulking was the mainstay of treatment in all cases. After debulking



Figure 2. E) Neuron spesific enolase staining (*10), F) Epithelial membrane antigen staining (*10), G, H) Hematoxyline-eosin staining (*10)

Table 1. Clinicopathological features of primary ovarian Ewing's sarcoma-primitive neuroectodermal tumor

Winkler et al.Central PNET37AdvancedSupracervical mystercetomys-BSO-enemet clossy-bytometal constraints of the subsortination of the subsortinatio	Reference	Pathology	Ag e	Stage	Treatment	Follow up	Recurrence	
Yousefi et al.PNET43AdvancedDebulking surgeryPulmoner metastase diedLim et al.PNET, mature cystic teratom27Early stageFertility preserving surgery+chemotherapy30 nonths-Muhlstein et al.VLLL6 years6 years6 years6 years6 yearsMuhlstein et al.Neuroblastoma L'argety stage surgery + chemotherapyNeuroblastoma13AdvancedSurgery + chemotherapy18 months-Lawlor et al.PNET28AdvancedSurgery + chemotherapy18 months+Block et al.INITINITINITInitInitInit	Winkler et al. ⁽⁶⁾	Central PNET	37	Advanced	Supracervical hysterectomy+BSO+omente ctomy+lymph node diss+suboptimal debulking+chemotherapy	2 months	Acid, bulky lymph nodes, peritoneal disease	
Lim et al. (8)PNET, mature cystic teratom27Early stage surgery+chemotherapy30 months-Muhlstein et al. (9) Neuroblastoma 17 Early stage surgery + chemotherapy-6 years6 years6 years-Lawlor et al. (10)Neuroblastoma13Advanced (3c)Surgery + chemotherapy18 months-Ateşer et al. (11)PNET28AdvancedSurgery + chemotherapy13 months+Block et al. (17)Recurrent metastatic ovarian neuroblastoma25E hole6 over al. and the state2	Yousefi et al. ⁽⁷⁾	PNET	43	Advanced	Debulking surgery	Pulmoner metastase died		
Muhlstein et al.6 years6 years-Neuroblastoma17Surgery + chemotherapy6 years-Lawlor et al.Neuroblastoma13Advanced (3c)Surgery + chemotherapy18 months-Ateşer et al.PNET28AdvancedSurgery + chemotherapy13 months+Block et al.Recurrent metastatic ovarian neuroblastoma25E chemotherapy1 a months-	Lim et al. ⁽⁸⁾	PNET, mature cystic teratom	27	Early stage	Fertility preserving surgery+chemotherapy	30 months	-	
Lawlor et al.Neuroblastoma13Advanced (3c)Surgery + chemotherapy18 monthsAteser et al.PNET28AdvancedSurgery + chemotherapy13 months+Block et al.Recurrent metastatic ovarian neuroblastomaChemoradiotherapy18 months+	Muhlstein et al. ⁽⁹⁾ Neuroblastoma 17 Early stage Surgery + chemotherapy					6 years	-	
Ateser et al. ⁽¹¹⁾ PNET 28 Advanced Surgery + chemotherapy 13 months + Block et al. ⁽¹⁷⁾ Recurrent metastatic ovarian neuroblastoma Chemoradiotherapy 18 months Delite et al. ⁽¹⁸⁾ DNET 25 Endation 26 and and and and and and and and and and	Lawlor et al. ⁽¹⁰⁾	Neuroblastoma	13	Advanced (3c)	Surgery + chemotherapy	18 months	-	
Block et al. ⁽¹⁷⁾ Recurrent metastatic ovarian neuroblastoma Chemoradiotherapy 18 months	Ateşer et al. ⁽¹¹⁾	PNET	28	Advanced	Surgery + chemotherapy	13 months	+	
	Block et al. ⁽¹⁷⁾	Recurrent metastatic ovarian neuroblastoma			Chemoradiotherapy	18 months		
Demirtaş et al. ⁽¹⁰⁾ PNET 25 Early stage Surgery + chemotherapy 3 years +	Demirtaş et al. ⁽¹⁸⁾	PNET	25	Early stage	Surgery + chemotherapy	3 years	+	
Clinkard et al. ⁽¹⁹⁾ Medulloblasto ma 23 Advanced Surgery + chemotherapy 6 years -	Clinkard et al. ⁽¹⁹⁾	Medulloblasto ma	23	Advanced	Surgery + chemotherapy	6 years	-	
Ostwal et al. ⁽²⁰⁾ PNET 28 Advanced Surgery + chemotherapy 18 months +, pelvis	Ostwal et al. ⁽²⁰⁾	PNET	28	Advanced	Surgery + chemotherapy	18 months	+, pelvis	
Kim et al. ⁽²¹⁾ PNET 18 Advanced Surgery + chemoradiotherapy 10 LN+, femur months, death LN+ LN+ LN+ LN+ LN+	Kim et al. ⁽²¹⁾	PNET	18	Advanced	Surgery + chemoradiotherapy	10 months, death	LN+, femur	
Kleinman et al. (22)PNET (25)6-6 9Early to advancedSurgery + chemotherapy?/ radiotherapyMax 9 years	Kleinman et al. ⁽²²⁾	PNET (25)	6-6 9	Early to advanced	Surgery + chemotherapy?/ radiotherapy	Max 9 years		
-Differential 2/6 stage 1 4-5 years (6) 1/6 stage 3 years 2A 5 years 1/6 stage 3 ? 1/6 stage?		-Differential (6)		2/6 stage 1 1/6 stage 2A 1/6 stage 3 1/6 stage?		4-5 years 3 years 5 years ?	ý years rears rears	
-Primitive (12) 3/12 stage 1 3y/9y -Primitive (12) 6/12 stage 3 2-20 y 4 months 1/7 stage 1 5 years 1/7 stage 2 2A 2A		-Primitive (12) -Anaplastic (7)		3/12 stage 1 6/12 stage 3 1/7 stage 1 1/7 stage 2A		7 months/ 3y/9y 2-20 y 4 months 5 years ?		
Our study PNET 64 Advanced Surgery + chemoradiotherapy 7 months	Our study	PNET	64	Advanced	Surgery + chemoradiotherapy	7 months		

PNET: Primitive neuroectodermal tumors, LN: Lymph node, BSO: Bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy

	CD-99	SYNP	NSE	VIM	S100	GFAP	DESM	NF	CD-5 6	CD-3	CROMOGR	CYTOKE
Winkler et al. ⁽⁶⁾	+/-	+	+	ND	+	+	ND	ND	ND	ND	-	ND
Yousefi et al. ⁽⁷⁾	+	ND	-	+	ND	ND	-	ND	ND	ND	- (ND
Lim et al.(8)	-	+	ND	ND	ND	ND	-	ND	ND	+	ND	ND
Muhlstei n e al. ⁽⁹⁾	-	+	+	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	+	-	ND	+
Lawlor et al. ⁽¹⁰⁾	ND	+	+	ND	ND	ND	-	+	ND	ND	ND	ND
Ateşer et al. ⁽¹¹⁾	+	-	ND	ND	-	ND	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Hirose et al. ⁽¹²⁾	-	+	ND	ND	+	+	ND	ND	ND	+	ND	ND
Kuk et al. ⁽¹³⁾	+	+	ND	+	+	+	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
Chu et al. ⁽¹⁴⁾	-	+	ND	ND	+	+	ND	ND	+	ND	+	-
Lin et al. ⁽¹⁵⁾	ND	ND	+	+	-	+	ND	+	ND	ND	ND	ND
Ostwal et al. ⁽²⁰⁾	+	-	ND	+	ND	ND	-	+	ND	ND	ND	ND
Our study	-	+	+	ND		ND	ND	-	ND	+	-	+
Xiao ⁽²⁴⁾	+	+	+	+	ND	ND	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND

Table 2. Immunohystochemical staining for ovarian primitive neuroectodermal tumors

PNET: Primitive neuroectodermal tumors, SYNP: Synaptophysin, NSE: Neuron spesific enolase, VIM: Vimentin, S100: Serum S100 protein, GFAP: Glial fibrillary acidic protein, DESM: Desmin, NF: Neurofilament protein, CD-56: Neural cell adhesion molecule, CROMOGR: Cromogranine, CYTOKE: Cytokeratin, ND: Not defined

surgery, patients received chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy. Although different chemotherapy agents were used for each patient in literature, generally therapies were designed platinum-based^(2,6,10,11,15,23). as Additionally ifosfamide, bleomycin, vincristine and doxorubicin, alternatively dacarbazine,⁽⁶⁾ and adriamycin⁽⁵⁾ were administered in some cases. The effect of radiotherapy has not been proved so there is need for more studies of cases of primary ovarian ES treatment. In the pathophysiologic pathway, the immature precursors of neural and glial cells from the embryonic period may proliferate and implant on the peritoneum and behave as malignant cells. However, other germ cells may persist and continue forming neural tube-like rosettes and medullary structures. All these stem from precursors in the neuroectoderm, and they are all called neuroectodermal tumors of the ovary. The translocation between chromosomes 11 and 22-t(11;22) (q24;q12)-is the same genetic problem for the PNETs group⁽⁸⁻¹⁰⁾. The differential diagnoses of

PNETs of the ovary include several primary and metastatic ovarian neoplasms such as juvenile granulosa cell tumors, lymphoblastic lymphoma (LBL), extrauterine endometrial stroll sarcoma, and serous ovarian carcinomas. The distinction between ES of the ovary and other tumors is made through immunohistochemistry studies. As seen in Table 2,(12-15,24) on immunohistochemistry, diffuse membranous positivity for MIC2 (CD99), CD56 (neural cell adhesion molecule), HMW CK and FL1 led to the consideration of PNETs. Negativity for epithelial markers such as CK, EMA, desmin, and WT-1 led to the consideration of desmoplastic small round cell tumors (SRCTs). Positive staining of CD10, actin, and vimentin is considered as extrauterine stromal sarcoma, and negative staining is for PNET. Also, granulosa cell tumors are frequently reactive for CK and inhibit, although PNETs are non-reactive⁽²⁵⁾. In immunohistochemistry, these tumors usually exhibit positivity for CD99, vimentin, and FLI-1. However, expression of many other markers can be found

including NSE, SYNP, chromogranin, CD56, CD57, S-100, and neurofilament protein. In addition, some tumors have focal positivity for CK. CD99 is a sensitive marker for PNETs, but also positive for some other SRCTs such as lymphomas, rhabdomyosarcomas. Accordingly, these findings limit the specificity of this antibody. As in our case, CD99 may be negative in 10% of tumors⁽²⁶⁾. The differential diagnosis is broad and includes neoplasms composed of "small blue round" cells, which can be encountered in the ovary; small cell carcinoma of hypercalcemic type; extrauterine endometrial stromal sarcoma; rhabdomyosarcoma; melanoma; desmoplastic round cell tumor; and lymphoma/ leukemia. Small cell carcinoma of hypercalcemic type affects adolescents and young adults, typically between the ages of 9 and 43 years and is associated with hypercalcemia⁽²⁷⁾. Extrauterine endometrial stromal sarcomas are typically positive for vimentin and smooth muscle actin, and most tumors stain for CD10. Our tumor was negative for CD10. Embryonal rhabdomyosarcomas may be CD99 and FLI-1-positive⁽²⁸⁾. It is characterized by alternating hyper and hypocellular myxoid areas and shows small cells admixed with spindle cells that may contain cross striations. There were no areas like those described above in our tumor and also myogenin was negative in our tumor⁽²⁹⁾. Melanoma may be composed of small cells but it often arises in association with ovarian cystic teratomas. It may show melamine pigment and more conventional areas. The characteristic histologic appearance of desmoplastic round cell tumors is peripheral palisading of basaloid cells, forming irregular islands that may show central necrosis, surrounded by a desmoplastic stroma. Expression of keratins and destine may be helpful in the differential diagnosis. Expression of FLI-1 by LBL might potentially lead to a misdiagnosis of LBL as ES/PNET because we found diffuse FLI-1 positivity; but even when growing in a diffuse pattern, lymphomas still may show admixture of lymphoid and myeloid cells in different stages of maturation⁽²⁸⁾. Also CD45 was negative in our case. There was a relation between disease stage and survival as shown in Table 1. However, one reported case in which the patient was young and had advanced stage at diagnosis had 6 years' disease-free survival after debulking surgery and adjuvant chemotherapy. Our patient had advanced stage disease and 7 months' disease-free survival after completing the therapy. In conclusion, preoperative findings and survival results of ovarian ES may be similar to epithelial ovarian cancer. However, treatment of these tumors is not standardized due to their rarity.

Ethics

Informed consent: Consent form was filled out by the patient. **Peer-review**: External and internal peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: F.O., S.T., Concept: F.O., S.T.,

B.Y., Design: S.T., B.Y., F.O. Data Collection or Processing: B.Y., C.C.E Analyses or Interpretation: B.Y., C.C.E, S.T, Literature Search: B.Y., C.C.E Writing: B.Y., S.T., C.C.E., F.O.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Dizon AM, Kilgore LC, Grindstaff A, Winkler M, Kimball KJ. High grade primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the uterus: A case report. Gynecol Oncol Case Rep 2013;7:10-2.
- Niwa Y, Yamamuro O, Kato N, Tsuzuki T. Two cases of primary ovarian neuroblastoma arising from mature cystic teratomas. Gynecol Oncol Case Rep 2013;5:58-60.
- 3. Blattner JM, Gable P, Quigley MM, McHale MT. Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the uterus. Gynecol Oncol 2007;106:419-22.
- Snijders-Keilholz A, Ewing P, Seynaeve C, Burger CW. Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the cervix uteri: a case report-changing concepts in therapy. Gynecol Oncol 2005;98:516-9.
- Boldorini R, Riboni F, Cristina S, Allegrini S, Valentini S, Muscarà M, et al. Primary vulvar Ewing's sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumor in a post-menopausal woman: a case report. Pathol Res Pract 2010;206:476-9.
- 5. Winkler SS, Malpica A, Soliman PT. Novel treatment of a central type, primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the ovary with postoperative pediatric medulloblastoma chemotherapy regimen: A case report and review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol Rep 2015;26;13:57-9.
- Yousefi Z, Sharifhi N, Hasanzadeh M, Mottaghi M, Bolandy S. Peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the pelvis. Iran J Med Sci 2014;39:71-4.
- Lim YK, Ku CW, Teo GC, Lim SL, Tee CS. Central primary primitive neuroectodermal tumor (cPNET) arising from an ovarian mature cystic teratoma in pregnancy: A case report and review of medical literature. Gynecol Oncol Case Rep 2013;4:56-9.
- 9. Muhlstein J, Rodriguez-Dahloff S, Marie B, Fouyssac F. Primary ovarian neuroblastoma J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2010;23:263-6.
- Lawlor ER, Murphy JI, Sorensen PH, Fryer CJ. Metastatic primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the ovary: successful treatment with mega-dose chemotherapy followed by peripheral blood progenitor cell rescue. Med Pediatr Oncol 1997;29:308-12.
- 11. Ateser G, Yildiz O, Leblebici C, Mandel NM, Unal F, Turna H, et al. Metastatic primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the ovary in pregnancy. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2007;17:266-9.
- Hirose T, Nobusawa S, Kusanishi H. Ovarian primitive-type neuroectodermal tumor composed of desmoplastic/nodular medulloblastoma-like and atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor components. Histopathology 2015;68:939-42.
- Kuk JY, Yoon SY, Kim MJ, Lee JW, Kim BG, Bae DS. A case of primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the ovary. Korean J Obstet Gynecol 2012;55:777-81.
- Chu LH, Chang WC, Kuo KT, Sheu BC. Primary primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the ovary. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol 2014;53:409-12.
- Lin CH, Lin YC, Yu MH, Su HY. Primary pure large cell neuroectodermal carcinoma of the ovary. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol 2014;53:413-6.
- Fischer G, Odunsi K, Lele S, Mhawech P. Ovarian primary primitive neuroectodermal tumor coexisting with endometrioid adenocarcinoma: a case report. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2006;25:151-4.

- 17. Block M, Gilbert E, Davis C. Metastatic neuroblastoma arising in an ovarian teratoma with long-term survival. Case report and review of the literature. Cancer 1984;54:590-5.
- Demirtaş E, Güven S, Güven ES, Baykal C, Ayhan A. Two successful spontenous pregnancies in a patient with a primary primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the ovary. Fertil Steril 2004;81:679-81.
- 19. Clinkard DJ, Khalifa M, Osborned RJ, Bouffet E. Successful management of medulloblastoma arising in an immature ovarian teratoma in pregnancy. Gynecol Oncol 2011;120:311-2.
- 20. Ostwal V, Rekhi B, Noronha V, Basak R, Desai SB, Maheshwari A, et al. Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of ovary in a young lady, confirmed with molecular and cytogenetic results--a rare case report with a diagnostic and therapeutic challenge. Pathol Oncol Res 2013;18:1101-6.
- 21. Kim KJ, Jang BW, Lee SK, Kim Bk, Nam SL. A case of peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the ovary. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2004;14:370-2.
- 22. Kleinman GM, Young RH, Scully RE. Primary neuroectodermal tumors of the ovary. A report of 25 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 1993;17:764-78.
- 23. Park JY, Lee S, Kang HJ, Kim Hs, Park SY. Primary Ewing's sarcomaprimitive neuroectodermal tumor of the uterus: a case report and literature review. Gynecol Oncol 2007;106:427-32.

- 24. Xiao C, Zhao J, Guo P, Wang D, Zhao D, Ren T, et al. Clinical analyses of primary primitive neuroectodermal tumors in the female genital tract. Int J Gynecol Cncer 2014;24:404-9.
- 25. Jain S, Xu R, Prieto VG, Lee P. Molecular classification of soft tissue sarcomas and its clinical applications. Int J Cain Exp Pathol 2010;23;3:416-28.
- 26. Llombart-Bosch A, Machado I, Navarro S, Bertoni F, Bacchini P, Alberghini M, et al. Histological heterogeneity of Ewing's sarcoma/ PNET: an immunohistochemical analysis of 415 genetically confirmed cases with clinical support. Virchows Arch 2009;455:397-411.
- 27. Young RH, Oliva E, Scully RE. Small cell carcinoma of the ovary, hypercalcemic type. A clinicopathological analysis of 150 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 1994;18:1102-16.
- 28. Folpe AL, Hill CE, Parham DM, O'Shea PA, Weiss SW. Immunohistochemical detection of FLI-1 protein expression: a study of 132 round cell tumors with emphasis on CD99-positive mimics of Ewing's sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumor. Am J Surg Pathol 2000;24:1657-62.
- 29. Ferguson SE, Gerald W, Barakat RR, Chi DS, Soslow RA. Clinicopathologic features of rhabdomyosarcoma of gynecologic origin in adults. Am J Surg Pathol 2007;31:382-9.